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“The vet’ran soldier, kindly bade to stay,
8at by his fire and talked the night away ;
Wept o’er the wounds and tales of sorrow done,
Shoulder’d his crutch and show'd how fields were won.”

GOLDSMITH,
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THE WARS

OF

THE NINETEENTH CENTURY.

1807.

1. NAVAL WAR— ADMIRAL SIR JOHN DUCKWORTH AT CONSTANTI-
NOPLE.—2, BRITISH EXPEDITION T0 EGYPT.——3. CAPTURE OF CU-
RACOA.—4. BRITISH EXPEDITION TO MONTE VIDEO.—5. RUSSIAN
AND TURKISH FLEETS IN THE MEDITERRANEAN.—6. AFFAIRS IN
THE BALTIC.— 7. WAR IN POLAND. — 8. BATTLE OF PREUSSISCH-
EYLAU — AFFAIR AT OSTROLENKA.— 9. SIEGE OF DANTZIG. —
10. SIEGE OF STRALSUND.—11, CONVENTION OF BARTENSTEIN.—
12, RESUMPTION OF HOSTILITIES.—13. BATTLE OF HEILSBERG.—
14. BATTLE OF FRIEDLAND.—15. THE RAFT AT TILSIT.—16, RE-
VOLUTIONS AT CONSTANTINOPLE.—17. WAR IN THE BALTIC.—
18. BRITISH CONJUNCT EXPEDITION SENT AGAINST COPENHAGEN—-
DANISH FLEET CAPTURED. — 19. CAPTURE OF HELIGOLAND. ~—
20, NAPOLEON RETURNS TO FRANCE—SENDS AN ARMY INTO THE
PENINSULA, = 21, A FRENCH AKMY, UNDER JUNOT, TAKES POS-
SESSION OF PORTUGAL—THE ROYAL FAMILY EMIGRATE TO RIO
DE JANEIRO.—22, WAR IN ITALY.——~NAPOLEON REPAIRS THITHER
ON A VISIT. — 23. COLONIAL WAR.—24. NAVAL WAR-— RUSSIAN
FLEET.~—25. BRITISH SINGLE SHIP AND BOAT ACTIONS.— 26,
NAVAL WAR IN THE INDIAN OCEAN.—27. SPAIN.

1. NAvAL WAR—ApMIRAL SiR JoHN DUCKWORTH AT
CONSTANTINOPLE.

In anticipation of a rupture of the negotiations which had been
going on with the Porte, the British Admiralty had directed Vice-
Admiral Lord Collingwood, who commanded in the Mediterranean,
to despztch a force to the Dardanelles, under the orders of Vice-Ad-
miral Sir John Duckworth. Lord Collingwood was not pleased
with the positive nomination from home of a junior officer to this
service ; nevertheless, with his characteristic patriotism, he deter-
mined to contribute, by every means in his power, to its success.
Accordingly, on the 15th of January, Sir John parted company with
the fleet in the “ Royal George,” 100, Captain Dalling Dunn, bear-
ing his flag, having under him the “ Windsor Castle,” 98, Captain
Boyles; “ Repuise,” 74, Captain Hon. Arthur Legge; “ Ajax,” 74,
Captain Hon. Henry Blackwood : * Pompée,” 74, Captain Dacres,
VOL. 1L B




2 AFFAIRS AT CONSTANTINOPLE. [A.D.

with the flag of the Rear-Admiral, Sir Sidney Smith; and on the
10th of February these ships joined Rear-Admiral Sir Thomas
Louis’s squadron off Tenedos, thus forming a force consisting of 8
sail of the line, 2 frigates, and 2 bomb vessels. The Russian Ad-
miral, Seniavin, had been at the same time directed tc send 4 of his
line-of-battle ships to serve under Sir John Duckworth in the expe-
dition, but they had not yet joined the fleet. On the 14th a melan-
choly accident befel the “ Ajax ” while on this station. At9 at
night. just after the captain had retired to rest, the ship took fire,
and, in defiance of every attempt to stifle it by the officers and men,
it burned the whole night, and blew up with an awful explosion at
5 in the evening of the 15th. It is feared that 250 souls perished
on board.

Mr. Arbuthnot, the British Ambassador, found himself in so eri-
tical a situation at the Turkish capital after the departure of his
Russian colleague, that, with the Seven Towers in his sight, he
thought it best to quit his post, and seek greater safety by embark-
ing secretly on board the “ Endymion,” on the 29th of January, with
all his embassy and the principal British merchants at Constanti-
nople. No opposition was offered to the departure of the British
frigate, which passed under the very stern of the Capudan-Pacha’s
flag-ship, and carried Mr. Arbuthnot to Tenedos, where he joined
the British fieet. -From this island he proposed to the Ministers of
the Porte to continue negotiations, and Feyzi-Effendi was commis-
sioned with full powers to proceed with the Capudan-Pacha to treat
with the British Ambassador. While, however, the civilians were
thus engaged, the British Vice-Admiral, with his fleet, having
weighed on the 19th, steered for the entrance of the Dardanelles;
but when the leading ship, the « Canopus,” 80, bearing the flag of
Sir T. Louis, arrived abreast of the outer castles, both of them
opened fire. None of the British ships, howerver, returned a shot,
until, reaching the inner castles, they opened fire at point blank with
good effect. The fire was then continued by the ships of the fleet
as they passed up in succession. A new missile was at this time em.
ployved against the shipping, viz. immense blocks of marble, 800 Ibs.
weight, which were fired from cavities hewn into the native rocks,
and made such breaches in the ship’s sides that, had they hit between
wind and water, they must have sunk them. As it was, very little
injury was effected, and the vessels passed on into the Sea of Mar-
mora, and, singularly enough, in the midst of these hostilities, Mr.
Arbuthnot, the British negotiator, and Italinski, the Russian, were
on board the flag-ship of the British Admiral; the Capudan-Pacha
was in Sestos, the castle of Kurope; and Feyzi-Effendi was in
Abydos, the castle of Asia. General Sebastiani, the French Ambas-
sador.lmore advantageously for his interests, resided in the Turkish
capital.

A little above the castle of Abydos the Turkish fleet, consisting
of 1 64-gun ship with a Rear-Admiral's flag, 1 40-gun frigate
with the flag of the Capudan-Pacha, and 3 other frigates, with 4
corvettes, became visible, and Duckworth sailed forward to attack
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it.  On observing the approach of the British, one of the corvettes
was seen to cut her cables and make instant sail for Constantinople
with the intelligence. The British van, consisting of « Canopus,”
“ Repulse,” “ Royal George,” and * Windsor Castle,” stood on and
anchored 3 miles forward, between the Castles and Point Pesquies
or Nagara-Burun, on which stood a formidable battery of 30 guns,
but too distant to do them injury. Rear-Admiral Sir Sidney Smith,
with “ Pompée,” “ Thunderer,” “ Standard,” and frigates, dashed
into the midst of the Turkish squadron, and at once opened fire
upon them with such effect that, after half-an-hour’s cannonading,
the 64 ran on shore on the Asiatic side of the straits, and in abont
four hours the rest of the ships were driven off the coast and blown
up, with the exception of one small corvette and a gun-boat, which
it was thought proper to preserve. As the redoubt on Nagara still
maintained its fire on the van, and a considerable body ot Asiatic
troops, both horse and foot, now appeared upon the hills, the Roya!
Marines and boats’ crews were landed, who immediately assailed
the battery, set fire to the gabions, and spiked the guns; while
another portion advanced against and dispersed the troops, from
whom Lieutenant Oates, of the Marines, captured their great
green standard. The Admiral, having thus cleared the bay of every
obstacle, weighed, and entering the Sea of Marmora with his whole
fleet, anchored off the Prince’s islands at 10 at night of the 20th.
At noon of the 20th Ysak Bey, a minister of the Porte, came off
to the flag-ship to see the British Ambassador; but the consterna-
tion in the city had, during the day, arisen to such a height that the
Capudan-Pacha and Feyzi-Effendi were both sacrificed; anda high
officer was sent to General Sebastiani to apprise him that the capital
was defenceless against such a force as had been brought against it,
and that the Porte had no alternative but to concede all the demands
addressed by the English Ambassador and Admiral. The French
General received the officer in full state, surrounded by all his em-
bassy, and, with great dignity and courage, returned for answer :
“ Je ne quitterai point Constantinople, et jattends avec confiance
une décision plus digne de Sultan Selim et de la nation Turqae;
dites 4 votre puissant monarque qu'il ne voudra pas descendre du
haut-rang ot I'ont placé ses glorieux ancétres en livrant a quelques
vaisseaux Anglais une ville de 900,000 dmes, qui a des armes, des
munitions, et des vivres qui peut les foudroyer.” The Divan assem-
bled at night in the Seraglio was electrified by this energetic reply,
and, taking courage from despair, sent a new message to invite
Sebastiani to their conference. The Ambassador offered his own
services and those of all the officers of his nation to render the city
defensible, if Selim would reject the propositions of England, and
the Turkish monarch accepted them. In the early morning the
whole city was already in motion, and every exertion made to ren-
der the immense resources of the capital available for its defence.
The Sultan himself, on foot, enconraged the Mussulmans with bis
presence ; his ministers scattered money and rewards amongst
them. Latour-Mauburg, Lablanche,and Pontecoulant, of the French
B2




4 PREPARATIONS TO RESIST THE ENGLISH, [ap.

Embassy, exerted themselves with their hands and with their
counsel ; and even the Spanish Ambassador, Almenara, gave his
countenance to the work.

The British Admiral had openly threatened violence against the
eity, and Mr. Arbuthnot, as a last act of vigour, had sent in a de-
mand, which was to be replied to in half-an-hour ; bat, falling sick,
he could attend to no more business, and left all to be carried out
by Sir John Duckworth. Thus, this singular state of things had
arisen —that to a French General and a British Admiral were com-
mitted the independence or fall of the Turkish Empire. Duckworth
was no match with the Frenchman in diplomacy, for Sebastiani
dictated a reply to the summons, cleverly prolonging the discussion,
while he urged forward the preparations for defence. The officers
on board the fleet could see with their glasses that the Turks were
warping ships of war towards the city, and constracting batterics
along the coast ; and the Admiral accordingly put new terms to his
pen, but waiting as he writes for “ a commanding breeze,” he still
delayed to open his guns, which would have blown up all the French
Ambassador’s schemes, and sent him to the Seven Towers. On the
24th a proposul was made from the Turks that the Admiral should
land at Kadekoi, in Asia, and proceed with the negotiation there.
On the 27th it was discovered that the Turks were actually raising
a battery on Proti, one of the Prince’s islands, and the nearest
to the anchorage of the British squadron; then the Marines of the
squadron were landed under Captain Kent, and had some sharp
fighting with the Turks, in which they lost 2 officers and 5 men
killed, and 2 officers and 17 men wounded ; but while they were
aston:’shed at the vigour of the opposition made to their attack, they
were not at the moment aware that General Sebastiani himself was
on the island, directing its defence, with the Chief Aga of the
Janissaries at his side.

To the apathy of the modern Mussulman all the excitement of the
Mahometan of former times had succeeded, so that, in four days,
upwards of 400 pieces were taken from the well-supplied arsenals
of Constantinople, and placed in battery. The Tower of Leander
was armed with artillery of great calibre, and prepared for throwing
hot shot. A hundred gun-boats defended the Golden Horn between
Pera and the Seraglio. Ismail Pacha, a former vizier, was sent to
the Dardanelles, to see to the condition of the castles, in case the
British fleet should endeavour to retreat; umny of the new forts
had been completed, and many were in a forward state; and the
whole line of the coast now presented a linked chain of batteries,
Twelve Turkish line-of-battle ships, two of them 3-deckers, now
appeared on the scene with their sails bent, and filled with troops.
The astonished British Admiral, waiting for the *“commanding
wind ” to bombard the town, all of a sudden awoke to the danger of
his own situation and of the squadron under his command, and re-
solved to lose no more precious time in getting clear of the Darda-
nelles. On the 1st of March he weighed anchor with his whole flet,
but, with that rather hectoring spirit which somewhat foolishly influ-
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ences brave commandersoften when they had better be more discreet,
hestood on and off during the day to afford the Turks an opportunity
of attacking him. The wily diplomatist chuckled at this wanton
defiance of the British tar, but made such use of the twelve additional
hours thus afforded him, as should make the Admiral stagger in his
retreat. It now appeared that the presence of the fleet in the
Turkish waters had ceased to influence the submission of the Porte,
and, since it was necessary to abandon the hope of making an ami-
cable arrangement, it was deemed useless to make any further hostile
demonstrations ; therefore the Admiral ordered all sai) to be made,
but that the ships should maintain the order of battle, and clear for
action. The fleet reached Nagara towards the evening of the 2nd,
and, deeming daylight preferable for passing the castles, anchored
there for the night. On the 3rd, in the morning, the fleet weighed
again, but, somewhat absurdly, thinking to propitiate the Turks,
whom he had first bullied and was now flying from, Sir John Duck-
worth fired a salute of 13 guns. This produced an immediate return
fire of a very different kind from all the castles and batteries, which,
with one accord, poured marble, granite, iron, balls, and shell on the
devoted squadron, The ships smartly returned the fire, and with a
rapidity and precision that astonished and disconcerted the Turkish
bombadiers. But the stone shot crushed the shipping: one struck
the “ Repulse,” on which it caused a loss of 20 men to one shot, and
also wounded the main-mast, broke the wheel, and did other serious
damage. Another struck the “Canopus,” carried away her wheel, and
wounded 3 men. The “ Royal George” had one of these missiles
stuck fast in her cutwater. A stone shot weighing 800 1bs. struck
the main-mast of the “ Windsor Castle,” and cut it nearly through ;
another, measuring 6 feet 8 inches in circumference, entered the
lower deck of the * Standard,” and set on fire the salt boxes, causing
an expiosion that badly wounded more than 50 persons; the
“ Active ” received a granite shot through her side, which lodged
close to the magazine, but did not injure a man ; the ¢ Meteor”
bomb-vessel, being cast off by her tow-ship, was exposed for a long
time to the fire of the batteries, and everyone expected to see her
blown into the air, because her magazines were situated above water;
but, aithough the stone shot flew about her in all directions, and
often struck her hull, she got past the castles with the loss of 1
officer and 7 men wounded. The total loss sustained by the fleet
in its passage through the Dardanelles was 46 killed and 235
wounded, and it was about noon when the British fleet anchored
off Cape Janizary, out of the reach of further molestation ; here

. Sir John Duckworth was joined by Admiral Siniavin with 8 Rus-
sian sail of the line.

After the departure of the English fleet the influence of General
Sebastiani with the Divan became unbounded; and Napoleon was
so delighted at his chivalrous conduct, by means of which he had
escaped from a very serious political dilemma, that he despatched
without delay orders to Marmont, in Illyria, to accede to any de-
mands made upon him for assistance by Sebastiani, even to the

B3




6 BRITISH EXPEDITION TO EGYPT. [an.

extent of 5000 men; and Prince Eugéne was at the same time
directed to send Colonels Haxo and Foy, with Engineers and Ar-
tillery, to render the Turkish capital secure from future insults from
the British and Russians.

In the month of June this year the unfortunate Sultan fell a sacri-
fice to popular fury in his own capital, as will be after related, and
was succeeded by Mustapha, who, however, adhered to the cause of
Napoleon.

2. Bririsa ExpepiTION TO EGYPT.

The attack by the British on the capital of Turkey was imme-
diately followed by an expedition against her distant possessions.
Egypt was thought to be an easy acquisition from the feeble
sceptre of the Porte, and, could the statesmen of that day have
looked half a century a-head, it would have been well worth the
conquest. At the time, it was considered more as a blow against
Napoleon, who still warmly coveted it, than as an operation that
would injure Turkey, or a gain that would compensate an expendi-
ture of blood and treasure on the part of Great Britain. However,
the Government had already collected troops for this purpose at
Sieily, contemporaneously with the attack on the Turkish capital.
On the 6th of March, the *“Tigre,” 74, Captain Benjamin
Hallowell, accompanied by the “ Apollo,” 38, Captain Fellowes,
and the « Wizard,” 16, Captain Palmer, with 33 sail of transports,
having 5000 troops on board, under Major-General Fraser, set sail
from Messina, and on the 15th the “ Tigre,” keeping the rest of
the expedition out of sight, reached the offing of Alexandria, and
summoned the governor. This having been refused, Captain
Hallowell waited till the 20th, when the whole of the armament
anchored in Aboukir Bay ; the troops, to the number of 1000 men,
were, amidst many difficulties, got on shore, with five field pieces
and a detachment of blue jackets, under Lieutenant Boxer, who
moved forward the following day, and took possession of the castle.
The Governor, as soon as he perceived the accession of strength,
accepted terms of capitulation, and on the 21st, the anniversary of
the battle of Alexandria, the city was taken possession of. On
the 22nd, Vice-Admiral Dackworth arrived on the coast, and
Captain Hallowell landed and joined Major-General Fraser, who,
having all his troops on shore, detached 500 to effect the reduction
of Rosetta and Rahmandéeh, the possession of which was deemed
essential to supply, not only the troops, but the inhabitants of
Alexandria with food, who otherwise might run a risk of being
starved. These men, cousisting of the 31st regiment and chasseurs
Britauniques, were placed under the command of General Wauchope,
who, without any loss, obtained possession of the heights of Aboo
Mandoor, which command the former town; but, instead of keep-
ing post there, he led his whole force into Rosetta, where such a
fire was poured upon them from the windows and tops of the
houses, that, aft:r a lass of 300 men, they withdrew, and were
recalled to Alexandria. Another detachment, 2,500 strong, under
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the command of Brigadiers Stewart and Oswald, appearcd before
the Alexandrian gate of Rosetta, on the 9th of April, and sum-
moned the town to surrender. This being received with defiance.
batteries were forthwith prepared; but, as there was reason to
expect that a large body of Mamelukes were about to join the
British army, Lieut.-Colonel Macleod, with 700 men, were sent to
El Hammed, in order to facilitate a junction with the expected
succour; several days of suspense passed by, however, until at
length, on the morning of the 22nd, 60 or 70 vessels were seen
descending the Nile, when it was discovered that this was a rein-
forcement sent down from Cairo to the enemy! Orders were at
once transmitted to Colonel Macleod to come with all expedition to
the main body, but these orders were intercepted, and the detach-
ment at El Hlammed was surrounded by an overwhelming force of
Turkish horse, and after a gallant resistance, in which the whole of
their ammunition was expended, they found themselveshopelessly cut
off, and obliged to lay down their arms. Brigadier Stewart hastily
collected the remainder of his force, and made good his retreat,
but had to fight the whole way to Alexandria, losing 1000 kitled,
wounded, and missing, in the march. From whatever cause arising,
the little army was now left wholly isolated, nor, as might have
been expected, did any reinforcements arrive from the Mediterra-
nean garrisons of Malta and Gibraltar. The fortifications of Alex-
andria certainly enabled the British to bid defiance to the enemy,
and it was soon discovered that all apprehensions of famine were
groundless. Rice enough for a year’s consumption, and wheat
sufficient to supply the army, navy, and inhabitants, for many
months, were found in the magazines, and, indeed, provisions of all
kinds were readily brought in by the inhabitants, during the whole
period of the stay of the British. Nevertheless, there was great
animosity in the surrounding country against the intrusion of an
European force, which, through the indiscretions of Fraser and
Wauchope, had obtained no respect among them for prowess; and
now a formidable force of infantry and cavalry appeared from the
side of Cairo, under Mehemet-Ali. General Fraser, who had been
abandoned by Duckworth, and deprived of the aid of Admiral
Louis by death, on board the * Canopus,” now saw himself with-
out any hopes of relief, or even, as it would appear, of instructions
from home, and, losing all heart, sent a flag of truce to the Pacha,
announcing that, on the delivery of the British prisoners in his
hands, the army under his command would evacuate Egypt. This
condition was accepted without hesitation, and on the 23rd the
troops re-embarked ou board their ships and returned to Sieily.
The government of the day had taken an impolitie step in this
affair, and furnished an illustration of Wellington’s famous saying.
“ that a great country should never make a little war.” An expe-
dition should never be sent out without reserves being sent in
succession after it, which are as essential in the plan of an enter-
prise as in the hour of battle.
B 4
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3. CAPTURE oF CURACOA.

A squadron of frigates was despatched by Vice- Admiral Dacres,
Commanding-in-Chief on the West India station, to reconnoitre the
island of Curagoa, and ascertain the disposition of the population to
ally themselves with Great Britain. Accordingly, the ¢ Arethusa,”
38, Captain Charles Brisbane, the “ Latona,” 38, Captain Wood,
the “ Anson,” 44, Captain Lydiard, and “ Fisgard,” 38, Captain
Bolton, were placed under the command of Brisbane for this object.
This gallant officer, however, having more taste and abilities for
fighting than for negotiating, thought that the most ready mode of
carrying out his orders was to dash right into the harbours, and, by
pointing the muzzles of his guns into the windows and doors of the
burghers, at once command their ready acquiescence to the transfer
of their allegiance. At one in the morning of the 1st of January;
the high land of Curagoa was sighted, and the frigates having hove
to hoisted out their boats and took them in tow. At daylight the
squadron entered the port, and was received by the Dutch forts and
shipping with a smart though ineffective fire. The frigates. how-
ever, held on until they took up a position for opening their broad-
sides, when Captain Brisbane sent off to the Governor the following
summons : “ The British squadron under my command are here to
protect and mnot to conguer yous; to preserve to you your lives,
liberty, and property. If a shot is fired after receipt of this sum-
mons at any one of my squadron, I shall immediately storm your
batteries. You have five minutes to accede to this determination.”
No notice being taken of this mission, all the frigates opened their
broadsides, and, after three had been given, Brisbane, at the head of
a portion of his crew, boarded and carried the Dutch frigate
 Halstaar,” 36, Captain Cornelius Evertz, while Captain Lydiard,
with a party from the “ Anson,” did the same with the “ Surinam,”
20, Captain Van Ness. This done, Brisbane and Lydiard pulled
straight for the shore, and landing together proceeded to assault
Fort Amsterdam, mounting 60 guns in two tiers, which stood on
the right hand of the port. The vigour of the assault was such,
that, though garrisoned by 275 soldiers, the fort was carried in
about ten minutes. A chain of forts on Misselburgh heights and
the citadel were next assaulted and speedily secured, and 300 sea-
men and marines were landed to attack Fort République, an almost
impregnable fortress upon a high hill, on which the British flag
was seen to wave by 10 o’clock, when the whole island submitted
with no greater loss to the squadron than 3 killed and 14 wounded.
The Dutch are represented to have lost in killed and wounded about
200 men, including the Dutch Commodore, who was killed, and
the Captain of the “ Surinam” severely wounded. The Dutch
resisted bravely ; and, but for the suddenness of the attack, and the
immediate occupation of the harbour, would have assembled a con-
siderable reinforcement against the assailants. Perhaps a valu-
able colony, so protected and so defended, never before feil to a
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squadron of four frigates and three ships’ companies without a single
soldier, on any better negotiation than pluck, energy, and rapidity.

4. Brrrism ExpepITION To MoONTE VIDEoO.

The British Government, displeased at theunauthorised proceed-
ings of Sir Home Popham in the capture of Buenos Ayres, ordered
him to England to be tried by a court-martial ; but the subsequent
events in the river La Plate, which had brought disgrace on the
British arms, required to be wiped out, and accordingly a reinforce-
ment of 3000 men was sent there, under the command of Brigadier-
General Sir Samuel Auchmuty, which, on arriving in the river on
the 5th of January, under convoy of the * Ardent,” 64, Captain
Ross Donelly, bearing the flag of Rear-Admiral Sterling, found the
remnant of the former expedition cooped up in Maldonado, with a
scanty supply of provisions, and exposed to the daring insults of
the adventurous horsemen of the Pampas. On the 13th, Maldonado
was relieved and evacuated, and Sir Samuel and the Admiral re-
solved to turn their arms against Monte Video, a fortified seaport
admirably situated for a depot and base of operations, but respect-
ably garrisoned, and mounting 160 pieces of cannon on its ramparts.
The squadron assembled for the purpose consisted of the “ Diadem,”
64, Captain Warren, to which vessel the Admiral shifted his flag,
the “ Raisonable,” 64, Captain Josias Rowley, the ¢ Ardent,” 64,
Captain Donelly, the * Lancaster,” 64, Captain Fothergill ; with the
following frigates—* Leda,” 38, Captain Honeyman, ¢ Unicorn,” 32,
Captain Hardyman, ¢ Medusa,” 32, Captain Hon. Philip Dun-
combe, besides sloops and gun-brigs. The conjunct expedition
assembled off the island of Flores, and on the 16th effected a
landing about 8 miles to the westward of the town, then onthe 19th
the army advanced and encamped 6 miles nearer Monte Video.
The enemy came out of the town and attacked Auchmuty with
their whole force, consisting of 6000 men and several guns. They
advanced in two columns: the right one, consisting entirely of
cavalry, attempted to turn his left flank, while the left one, con-
sisting exclusively of infantry, made a front attack. The British
force of 400 being somewhat pressed, Colonel Browne, in command
of that wing, sent up three companies of the 40th, under Major Camp-~
bell, who fell with such impetuosity on the head of the attack-
ing column that it gave way. An attack from some light troops
completed the rout, and the Spaniards escaped into the town with
the loss of a gun, The Spanish cavalry, seeing this, rapidly retired
without coming into action. On the 25th, the General opened his
breaching batteries, and the lighter vessels of the squadron, which
could get near enough, maintained a distant cannonade. The siege
continued with various results until the 2nd of February, but the
defences of the place were found stronger than had been expected :
the powder in the fleet was almost all blown away, and intrenching
tools were, as usual, bad and insufficient. To add to these anxieties,
4000 troops, with 20 guns, were reported to be approaching to raise
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|
the siege. Under such critical eircumstances, the General resolved |
to hazard an assault, thongh the breach which had been effected
could scarcely be called practicable, and orders were issued for the
attack an hour before daybreak on the 3rd. A summons was sent
in to the Governor, which received noanswer. Accordingly, the troops
destined for the assanlt moved forward — the light infantry and
rifles under Lieut.-Colonel Brownrigg, in advance, were followed by |
the grenadiers under Majors Campbell and Tucker, and the 58th |
under Lieut.-Colonel Vassall. These were supported by the 40th |
under Major Dalrymple, and 87th under Lieut.-Colonel Butler; the
whole commanded by Colonel Browne. The reserve was under the
command of Brigadier Lumley, and consisted of the 17th Light
Dragoons, and 3 squadrons of the 20th and 21st, under Lieut.-
Colonel Lloyd, the 47th, one company of the 71st, and 700 marines
and seamen. The assailing party had nearly arrived at the breach
i before they were discovered, and a heavy fire was opened upon
i them; but when they reached it they found it barricaded with fresh
hides, and so shut up that it was mistaken for the untouched wall.
Under these circumstances, the troops halted, exposed to a heavy
fire, until the breach was discovered by Captain Renny, of the 40th,
who led the way, and fell, but was followed by the advance, who
soon pressed into the town ; cannon had also been placed at the
head of all the streets, but the troops, nevertheless, rushed forward
in all directions, clearing the way and overturning the guns. The
87th moved to the north gate, which they expected their friends to
open for them, but, too impatient to wait, they followed their Colonel
up the walls, and the town, except the citadel, was secured before day-
light. Inthese affairs, from the landing of the troops to this glorious
storm, the loss of the British was about 140 killed and 350 wounded,
of whom Lieut.-Colonels Vassell and Brownrigg died of their
wounds, and the Brigadier Auchmuty had a horse killed under
him. The casualties in the navy were few, but they captured
in the harbour about 70 rigged vessels and some row gun-boats.
The ships of war taken were of little value, and a sloop of war,
with a vast quantity of treasure on board, was blown up during
the storm.

The honour of the British flag was thus far completely avenged ;
| but, in the anxiety of the nation to wipe out the disgrace attending
~ Sir Home Popham and General Beresford’s failure, the govern-
| ment, at the same time that they sent off Sir Samuel Auchmuty’s
expedition, directed a force of 4200 men, under General Crau-
furd, which had been intended for another service, to proceed to
the Plata, and these two detachments effected a junction at Monte
Video on the 2nd of June, and on the 15th Major-General White-
locke arrived to assume the command of the entire force, now
amounting to upwards of 7972 men, with 18 pieces of artillery.
With this force it was deemed advisable to make an attack upon
Buenos Ayres. The command of the squadron was at the same
time assumed by Rear- Admiral George Murray, whose flag was on
board the ¢ Polyphemus,” 64, Captain P. Heywood. Under his
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direction, the troops were embarked, and on the 28th a landing was
effected, without any opposition, about 10 miles to the eastward
of the town. The army was then put in motion, and rcached
Reduction, when the General determined to cross to the opporite
bank of Rio Chuelo, on which the enemy had constructed a for-
midable line of defence. General Whitelocke determined to turn
this position, leaving directions to Colonel Mahon with two regi-
ments to remain with the heavy artillery at the village of Reduction.
In this attempt, Major-General Leveson Gower, in command of the
right column, fell in with a corps of the enemy, near the ford
called Passe Chies, which he gallantly attacked and defeated,
and on the 30th the army was united, and on the morning of
the 5th of July, Buenos Ayres was completely invested. A
summons was forthwith sent in to Governor Liniers, who still
remained in authority, and the amount of the force now brought
against the place would, it is said, have induced that officer to sur-
render, but that General Elio, the last Governor of Monte Video,
who was in the garrison, opposed it. Brigadier Sir Samuel Auch-
muty, with the 38th and 87th Regiments, possessed himself of the
strong post of the Residentia and Plaza del Toros, where he cap-
tured 600 prisoners and 32 guns, with a quantity of ammunition,
and he placed the 5th in possession of the church and eonvent
of St. Catalina. Brigadier Lumley, leading the 36th and 88th
into the town, was so exposed to a heavy and continued mus-
ketry, and to a fire of grape from behind deep ditches which
had been cut across the streets, that he could hardly get forward.
The 36th, led by the General, overcame these obstacles, but the
88th were decimated, overpowered, and taken prisoners. The 36th
found, in consequence, their flank compromised, but, nevertheless,
the grenadier company, under Lieut.-Colonel Browne, gallantly
charged and captured 2 guns, which they spiked, and then united
themselves with Auchmuty at the Plaza de Toros. The carbinijers,
led on by Lieut.-Colonel Kingston, failed in their charge, and fell
back with most of their officers wounded. The division of Colonel
Pack was yet more unfortunate, for, having failed to obtain ; osses-
1 sion of the Jesuits’ College, they were surrounded and taken pri-
soners ; and General Cranfurd was, in like manner, foiled in the
' attempt to possess himseif of the convent of San Domingo, and,
being cut off from all communication with any of the other columns,
found himself obliged, at 4 in the afternoon, to lay down his arms,
as was also Lieut.-Colonel Duff, who was obliged to surrender with
a detachment under his command. At the end of the day General
1 Whitelocke found himself reduced 2500 men by these casualties,
| and no part of the town in his possession but the Plaza de Toros.
i Under these circumstances, he listened to the proposals of Colonel
|

Liniers, the commandant of the town, to return all the prisoners in
his possession, both from the affair of the morning and those that
remained from Beresford’s failure six months since, if he desisted
from any further attack,and withdrew from the l.a Plata. These
terms were immediately submitted to by General Whitelocke and
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Admiral Murray, and a capitulation was signed on the 7th, by which
the whole of the British troops were withdrawn from the Rio dela
Plata, and Monte Video was restored, in the course of two months,
to the state in which it existed.

The publie indignation in England at this disgraceful termination
of a campaign, begun under such very different hopes, and the
gallant capture of Monte Video, obliged the Government to bring
General Whitelocke to a court-martial, which sentenced him to be
dismissed from His Majesty’s service. It was clear that Whitelocke
was utterly inefficient and inexperienced in the command to which
he had been appointed, more by favour than for any merit of previous
service, or he would not have hampered his attack by dividing
his force and locking them up in the streets of an unknown city,
in ignorance of its powers of defence, or of the impossibility of
contending in streets, without fire-arms. He ought to have known
that the city was prepared and barricaded for a desperate struggle,
which, from the character of Colonel Liniers, and the failure
of Beresford in the previous year, might have been foreseen, and
the General should also have availed himself of the powerful train
of artillery which Auchmuty had taken in Monte Video, and which
was left idle in the rear, under Colonel Mahon, at Reduction. A
previous bombardment would soon have overcome any attempts
on the part of such a population as defended Buenos Ayres of the
remotest chance of success.

5. THE Russian Axp Turkism FLEETS IN THE
MEDITERRANEAN.

Emboldened by their success over the British, the Tarks hastened

to equip a fleet that might raise the blockade of the Dardanelles, i

which not only prevented their communications with the Greek
islands, from whence they exclusively derived their sailors, but
created serious symptoms of a coming scarcity in Constantinople,
where commotions had, in consequence, already occurred. On the
19th of May, 8 sail of the line, 6 frigates, and some corvettes,
with about 50 gunboats, passed the Dardanelles, and, finding
nothing to oppose them, steered for Tenedos, in which was a
Russian garrison, Here the Capudan-Pacha endeavoured to land
a body of troops, but they were repulsed by the Russians, and he
stood over with his fleet to the coast of Natolia. On the 22nd the
Turks came across a Russian squadron under the command of Rear-
Admiral Greig. It consisted of  Rafael,” 80, « Tverday,” 74, flag-
ship, ¢ Motchnoy,” 74, « St. Cafael,” 74,  St. Helene,” 74, « Yar-
rowflaul,” 74, « Moscow,” 74, ¢ Rawrigan,” 66, « §t. Petro,” 66,
« Skoroy,” 60, “ Kilduya,” 26, and “ Venus,” 26. The Turks
immediately crowded sail to escape to the Straits, but they were
come up with by the enemy, and, after a running fight of two hours,
they barely succeeded in sheltering their ships under the protec-
tion of the castles. In this hasty retreat, however, three of the
vessels stranded upon Cape Janissary. Oun the 22nd of June, the
Turkish fleet again sallied into the Archipelago, with 10 sail of
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the line (including one three-decker), 6 frigates, and 5 smaller
vessels, aud, steering now for Tenedos, they disembarked some
troops there, and re-took the island. On the 1st of July, the two
fleets encountered each other off the island of Lemnos, and an
engagement ensued, which lasted the whole day. The ship of the
Capudan-Bey, mounting 80 brass guns, and manned with 774 men,
struck her flag to Admiral Siniavin; two other ships of] the line and
three of the frigates were driven on shore; the rest of the Turkish
fleet saved themselves a second time in the Dardanelles, and
the Russians then recaptured Tenedos. While the British ship
“ Glatton,” Captain Seacombe, lay off this island, a Turkish ship
was seen at anchor in the port of Sigre. The captain called to his
assistance the “ Hirondelle” to cover an attack which he ordered
to be made by the boats, which ran alongside, boarded the vessel,
and took her out, but with the loss of Lieutenant Watson, who
commanded them, and 4 seamen killed, and 9 wounded.

6. AFFAIRS IN THE BaLTIC.

Although our attention has been thus drawn to the naval affairs
of the several Powers in the Mediterranean, England was at the
same time keeping a watchful eye upon the Baltic Sea, on the shores
of which the Emperor Napoleon was now warring with Russia,
Prussia, and Sweden. Stralsund and Dantzic were already, at the
beginning of the year, invested by Marshal Mortier with the 8th
corps-d'armée.  Several encounters by land had taken place during
the winter, in one of which General Victor and his aide-de-camp
had been taken prisoners near Stettin; but no seriows blockade
was established at Stralsund by Mottier, or at Dantzig by Marshal
Lefebvre, till towards the end of January. On the 1st of February
General Essen, the governor of Swedish Pomerania, embarked a
force of 3000 men in gun-boats, and incessantly disturbed the
French invading force at Stralsund; and on the 14th of March a
rather considerable affair there ended to the disadvantage of the
Swedes, On the 29th, however, Mortier was directed to place
the blockading force under General Granjan, and to bring the
rest of his corps to Wollin, to invest or restrain the garrison of
Colberg.

The Baltic having thus become the scene of active operations, a
British naval force was despatched, as soon as the weather permitted,
to assist the Northern powers by sea in their continued conflict
with the French armies; but, before the first division could reach
Riigen, the aspect of affairs had materially changed. Nevertheless, on
the 12th of April a squadron of 16-gun ship-sloops, under Captain
Chetham, arrived off the harbour of Dantzig, and the Commodore
placed himself in communication with General Kalkreuth, the
Prussian governor. In order to prevent the besiegers from obtain-
ing supplies from the sea, Captain Chetham detached the *“ Charles,”
under Captain Clephane, to cruise outside, while he himself anchored
in the “ Sally ” in a basin formed between the two mouths of the
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Vistula, in order to flank the isthmus by which alone the French
could attack the works of the place.

7. WaRr 18 Porano.

The pause of the great French army at Warsaw brought little
rest to Napoleon, It was no easy task to provide subsistence for
multitude amidst the forests and marshes of Poland. Here it was
that the wonderful ability, the admirable mind for organisation, and
the indefatigable activity of the Emperor, shone quite as conspicu-
ously as in the battle field. Innumerable orders are extant to show
how all the resources of Germany were placed under embargo, and
periodically brought up to the sapply of the French army on the
Vistula. Convoys from all quarters, not only of provision, but of
the munitions of war, were transported in many thousand carriages,
even from the distant districts bordering on the Rhine and Dgnube;
and the roads through Prussia appeared never so alive with com-
merce in its most prosperous days. In the labours which attended
the re-organisation, discipline, and supply of 60,000 men and
40,000 horses, the Emperor was ably seconded by his Major-General,
Berthier, and by the intelligence and experience of the Intendant-
General, Count Daru. This latter functionary had a wonderful
capacity for the introduction of order into every branch of adminis-
tration, military or civil. He was employed by the Emperor in the
above office in the campaigns of Austria, Prussia, and Russia, and
administered the military occupation of the country from the Rhine
to the Vistula in 1806. He was also a man of great literary dis-
tinction, agpoet, and a historian ; and he became Minister of War
under Louis XVIIL, who created him a peer of France. Hospitals,
were established for the army at Thorn, Posen, and Warsaw, and
especial attention was paid to what is called the ambulance, for the
conveyance and care of the sick. These were all formed into set
regular brigades, disciplined and commanded by officers of the line.
Perhaps there is no incident in Napoleon's campaigns that is more
deserving of deep study by all military leaders of every country
than the organisation he gave to the civil departments of the service.
It is a great mistake to regard him only as a strategist ; he was
infinitely greater as a military administrator.

But one branch of his duties did not divert his mind from the other.
Formidable entrenchments were now raised as tétes-du-pont at
Praga, Modlin, Thorn, and every point of passage across the Vis-
tnta. The pusillanimous surrenders to the French of Stettin and |
Custrin had been followed by that of Glogau and Breslau, so that |
there was no lack of military stores or siege equipage with which to |
arm these defences. Brieg and Kosel surrendered almost as soon as |
invested on the 7th of January, and Napoleon at this time de-
spatched Vandamme with 12,000 men to besiege Schweidnitz.
Neiss and Glatz were now the only remaining towns in Silesia
which still hoisted the Prussian flag. .He, therefore, made his bro-
ther Jerome governor of the whole of Silesia, and confided to his i

|
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brother Louis the Elcctorate of Ilanover, having Marshal Brune
under him, to watch the mouths of the Elbe and Weser and the
shores of Pomeramia against any hostile descent from the fleets
of Great Britain. .

While the French army was thus, by the superintending care of
its chief, placed in cantonments, and had every material comfort
provided for it, the situation of the Russian army was such that it
could scarcely be said to have had a commander.,

General Kamenskoi, who had quitted it at the battle of Pultusk,
was found, after many days, at Grodno, in a state of hopeless de-
rangement, and the two next in command, Buxhowden and Ben-
ningsen, acting with mutual jealousy, stood apart at the head of
their respective corps-d'armée. Fortunately, at this juncture, the
severity of the weather, the suspension of hostilities, and the sepa-
ration of the hostile armies in their respective quarters, prevented
the cause of the Czar from receiving any serious injury under such
a stateof paralysis in the supreme command. Alexander gave this,
at length, to Benningsen, and ordered his generals to meet him at
Novogorod, to determine on future operations. It was observed that
the two corps of Marshals Bernadotte and Ney, which now formed
the actual left wing of the French Grand Army, had been pushed for-
ward so far as to menace Konigsberg, the second city of the Prussian
dominions ; and it was thought in this council that, by resuming
hostilities at once, the Russian forces might, by a rapid movement,
eut off these detached corps-d’armée, and then, pushing across the
Lower Vistula, raise the blockades of Dantzig, Graudentz, and Col-
berg, and so force back the theatre of war into Western Prussia.

In furtherance of the plan of the campaign here laid dog, the two
_corps of Buxhowden and Benningsen were now united, and crossed

“the Narew on the 14th of January. The division of Essen was left
on the banks of the Narew, where he was joined by two other divi-
sions out of Moldavia, as well to mask the movement as to form a
reserve ; and the seven divisions of Benningsen’s army, numbering
68,000 men, with a numerous artillery, were on the 15th-16th put
in motion with great despatch. The lakes and forests which cover
the country between the Narew and the Alle, and which were nearly
impracticable in winter, conld not be thoroughly watched by the
French outposts. On thel7th, therefore, the Russian army having
advanced 10 or 12 leagues, debouched upon Rhein, in East Prussia,
where the Commander-in-Chiefplaced his head-quarters. Forty squa-
drons under Prince Gallitzin, forming the advanced guard, pushed on
quickly and surprised and overwhelmed on the same day a portion
of Ney's light cavalry, who had advanced as far as Schippenbeil,

! only 10 leagues distant from Konigsberg. Itappears that Ney had,

with his characteristic impetuosity, in contravention of the orders
of Napoleon, advanced his head-quarters from Neidenburg to Alten-
stein, supposing that he should thus better secure the flank of the
corps of the Prince of Ponte-Corvo. The Emperor, on hearing of
this advanced movement of the Marshal, sent him a peremptory
order: “ De rentrer dans les positions qui luiavaient ¢ét¢ indiquées

N
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dans la position générale des quartiers d’hiver, d’en profiter pour
laisser reposer sa cavalerie et réparver la faute qu'il avait faite.”
He received this order on the day that he was attacked (without
Napoleon’s knowledge) by Gallitzin, but he withdrew his corps in
good order, and re-established his head-quarters at Neiberburg
on the 23rd. Marshal Soult, meantime, with his superior intelli-
gence, had penetrated the intentions of the enemy, and his reports
awoke Napoleon to the necessity of raising his winter quarters and
taking the offensive. With so much sagacity, however, had the can-
tonments been taken up, that it had been pre-calculated that the Rus-
sians might fall on Bernadotte, and he therefore had already his orders
to fall back before them on Thorn, where he might serve as a pivot
for the change of front of the whole French army, who would thus
be able to take the enemy in flank, and threaten his line of retreat
on Konigsberg. This, which has been termed by Berthier
¢ limmuable plan de Napoléon ” (which, as I understand i{, is the
changing front on a flank division, in order to bring the whole
force of the front of the line to bear upon the flank and rear of an
advancing enemy), is a fine example of his great ability in the
handling “of troops, his deep reflection on the probable movements
of his adversary, and his capability of moving in any direction an
army of 80,000 men with the same facility that a colonel would
move a single regiment on a field-day.

General Benningsen advanced his head-quarters, on the 24th, to
Heilsburg, on which day his advanced guard had an affair with the
hussars of Bernadotte at Liebstadt, on the Passargo, in which a
French regiment was entirely destroyed, and only a few hussars
with Coll ‘el Barthe, who was wounded, saved themselves. On the
25th, General Markow appeared before Mohrungen at the head of
his Cossacks, who inundated the plain, marching on the road to-
wards Liebstadt. Markow had with him from 16,000 to 17,000
men, under Lieut.-General Ansepp, and with these took up a posi-
tion between Georgenthal and Pfarrensfeld. The Prince of Ponte-
Corvo was taken completely by surprise in this advance of the
Russian army, for he had been directed by Napoleon to extend his
corps as far as Elbing, in order to straiten the garrison of Dantzig,
besieged by Lefebvre,and had, in consequence, removed his head-
quarters to Mlava. Here he was apprised by Marshal Soult and
by his Chief of his Staff, General Maison, whom he had left at
Osterode, of the forward movement of the Russians, and marching
forthwith and uniting, as he went along, the scattered divisions of
Dupont, Drouet, and Rivaud, he repaired rapidly to Mohrungen,
which is on the road to Osterode. The distances whence he had to
collect his corps were, however, so great, that, if the enemy had
pushed at once promptly forward, it would have rendered this con-
centration impossible. The Prince-Marshal, accompanied by a
single battalion of light infantry and a brigade of cavalry, under
General Laplanche, arrived in the very nick of time at Mohrungen,
where he found General Drouet with two regiments of his division,
which he had brought up in haste from Saalfeld ; General Pacthod
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was already there with a regiment of the line and the cavalry which
had fled from Liebstadt, comprising a force altogether of 9 battalions
and 11 squadrons. As Dupont might be hourly expected with his
division from Preusseich-Holland, Bernadotte determined, notwith-
standing the disparity of his foree, to take the offensive and attack
General Markow. He immediately ordered forward a battalion to
threaten the left of the enemy, and opened some guns to protect the
advance of the 9th Light Infantry, who were to storm the village of
Pfarrersfeldchen. A warm engagement ensued, in which this re-
giment lost its eagle, and was forced to retire; but General Werl:
being sent down in support with another battalion, the soldiers were
so enraged at the affront that they fell upon their opponents and
recovered the eagle. At length, after a conflict, in which General
Ansepp fell grievously wounded, the French succeeded in carrying
the village. Markow, however, held his ground behind it, and the
night approached. Notwithstanding this, Bernadotte formed his
troops in line, and advanced boldly against the enemy, for, at
the same moment, Dupont appeared on the field, and attacked with
vigour the Russian right wing. General Markow could not with-
stand this double attack, and, after a stout resistance, withdrew in
good order to Liebstadt, leaving 1000 or 1200 men o1 the ficld.
Markow had indiscreetly advanced to Mohrungen without orders,
and without having apprised Gallitzin of his forward movement,
who was only three leagues distant, at Alt-Reichan. The Prince,
hearing the firing, promptly sent Prince Michel Dolgorucki at the
head of a detachment of cavalry to his support, who, in the middle
of the night, penetrated into the little town of Mohrungen, where
he found the non-combatants committing all kinds of cxcésses. The
Russian Prince, however, occupied the town in the best way he
could, when, after a little whxle, the Prince of Ponte-Corvo, having
settled his troops in their camp, returned with a battalion and some
dragoons. Some fighting ensued, in which the Cossacks were driven
out of the place, when Bernadotte, satisfied with the issue of the
day, withdrew his troops npon Osterode, where, on the 26th, he
joined the division of Rivaud, and took up his position at Liebmhiil.

The only result of this encounter was to stagger the Russian
tactics, for Benningsen had failed to surprise Bernadotte, and that
able and active leader had now collected his troops together, and
was ready for any further encounter. The Russian General,
therefore, gathered in his troops, and marched on Mohrungen, where
he rested inactive till the 2nd of February.

It was only on this same day that the Emperor was correctly in-
formed of the movements of the Russian army. He immediately
sent to remind all his Marshals aud leaders of divisions to act upon
the orders they had already received from him, in case of such an
attack. These orders of Napoleon, dated the 23rd and 26th January,
have been considered a perfect manual of the art of war, and show
how he Iaboured to foresee and to anticipate every possible hostile
movement from an enemy, and with what sound and true judgment
he provided against every possible contingency. Itisa good lesson
© voL. IL c
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to the young theorists and admirers of genius, as evincing the
necessity of severe study to bring down its highest flights to
the level of practice in war. In carrying out the ¢ plan immu-
able,” he had directed Lefebvre, without taking his eye from Dant-
zig, to repair to Thorn: “ Pour mettre ce point important a I’abri de
toute insulte;” and sent orders to Augereau, who was at Posen, to
move up to the right bank of the Vistula, upon the same point;
and, on the very day of the fight of Mohrungen, although in
ignorance of its result, he directed Bernadotte to concentrate his
corps at Osterode, and, in case he should be outflanked on his left,
by the continued advance of the enemy, “ Vous maneuvriez de
maniére & couvrir Thorn et le flanc gauche du Maréchal Ney,”
who was to keep firm hold of* Neidenberg, while Soult was to
occupy Willenberg in force. Pultusk was watched by Marshal
Davoust, and General Savary, with the corps of Lannes, was de-
tached along the Bug, to watch the division under General Von
Essen. Lannes and Murat were both on the sick list, but the latter,
nevertheless, mounted his horse, and assembled his cavalry at
Miava, and Massena was now sent for out of Italy to succeed
Marshal Lannes. Bessiéres, with the Guard, moved up to form a
reserve to Soult, and Prince Jerome and Marshal Mortier were
ordered to be on the alert for anything that might be required
of them, while to Marshal Duroc it was given to guard Warsaw
from every insult. The grand fault of the Russian General-in-Chief
was to have permitted Makrow to have been defeated at Mohrungen,
which he could have so readily prevented, and to have lost so much
valuable time in remaining there. Napoleon had, in consequence,
attained the means of resuming the offensive —always a great ad-
vantage in war, and had got his line into the new position, so as to
be enabled to fall with force upon the left flanks of the enemy. It
was not till the 30th that the Emperor removed his head-quarters from
Warsaw; on the 31st, he had placed them at Willenberg ; and now,
on the 3rd of February, he yet further advanced them to Allenstein.
Napoleon, in his general desire to inspire his Lieutenants with his
whole mind in his plans, now addressed a new despatch to Berna-
dotte, in which he explained every thing. It would appear that up
to this period he had not availed himself of the use of cipher in his
correspondence, and, unfortunately for his plans, the messenger,
with this despatch, was intercepted by the Cossacks, and had not
the address to destroy the valuable missive with which he was
intrusted. Accordingly, it not only apprised the enemy of his
movements, but deprived the Prince of Poate-Corvo of his instruc-
tions. '

So long as the Russian General-in-Chief remained at Mohrungen,
Gallitzin, with the left wing of the advance, ocenpied Mondtken,
Ostermann was placed opposite to Allenstein, and Barclay de Tolly
to Osterode. The right wing, under Prince Bagration, was at
Deutsch-Eylau (which was occupied by Count Pahlen), and at
Langont under General Bagovout. The army was divided into
three corps, each composed of three divisions: the first, commanded
by Lieutenant-General Tutschacow, was at Somerot; the second,
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at Gotteswalden, under Baron de Sacken; and, the third, at Gutt-
stadt, under General Somow. The Prussians, under Lieutenant-
General Lestocq, were at Freistadt. This brave and active officer
had succeeded in raising the blockade of Gaudentz, the key to the
Lower Vistula, and in placiag it in a situation to hold out through
the campaign. The corps of General Essen was on the Narew,

. with head-quarters at Ostrolenka. On the 2nd, General Benning-

sen collected his army in position on the heights of Jonkowo,
extending from the Alle to the Parsage, which flanked it on either
hand ; the left by the Lake of Allenstein, and the right towards
Liebemiihl; and Lestoeq was directed to move towards Osterode, on
the right of the army.

The object of the Russian General was to pass the Alle, at
Allenstein, and to force back Napoleon to the Vistula, but the
latter was on the alert, and master of the passage. Murat, indeed,
was already with his cavalry, on the 2nd, at Allenstein, and Ney
was now in full march thither from Hohenstein, followed by
Augereau. Napoleon was, in fact, prepared to strike the blow,
and he accordingly made his dispositions to give it with effect.
Marshal Davoust was ordered to leave a strong rear-guard to keep
watch upon Essen, and fo march the remainder upon Wartenberg.
Soult was directed to defile along the Alle, and possess himself of
the bridge at Bergfried, towards which Davoust was desired to
expedite the division of General Friant, in order to turn the enemy’s
right, which would bring matters to an effectual issne. The
Russians were well aware of the importance of this post, and had
occupied it with 12 battalions and 15 guns, under General Kamen-
skoi. It was already 3:30 in the afternoon when the French
opened their attack, by a violent cannonade, which General Du-
lauloy directed against the Russian artillery. General Leval sent
down General Schinner to force the bridge, while General Viviez
attempted to ford the river above the village; but the bridge was so
well barred, and so well defended, that the French were obliged to
withdraw these troops. In the ardour of this contest, however, in
the defile, the Russians had neglected the heights that commanded the
left banks, and General Viviez immediately crowned these with his
brigade. General Leval, observing this, took advantage of the
movement to renew the assault, and, at the head of his troops, and
in spite of the fire of Dululoup’s guns, he carried the bridge. If
it had not been for the approach of night, the consequences to the
enemy would have been more serious ; as it was, the Russians lost
1200 men and 6 guns. Napoleon, expecting a general engagement
on the following day, established the Imperial bivouac at Getken-
dorff, and thence despatched his orders to his Marshals for the
MOrrow,

8. BATTLE oF PREUSSISCR-EYLAU — AFFAIR AT OSTROLENKA.

At break of day of the 4th, the whole French army was in
motion. General Lasalle, with the light cavalry, found himself in
c?2
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presence of a horde of Cossacks, who appeared as though they were
prepared to stop his advance. Napoleon was early on horseback,
and, with the Grand-Duke of Berg, reconnoitred the enemy with a
division of cavalry, while Ney debouched from the woods of
Jonkovo, which he had won from the enemy the previous day.
Soult, filing over the Alle, by the bridge of Bergfried, carried the
village from the enemy, who lost, in its defence, 1200 men. A
fierce cannonade ensued, which gradually weakened, when it was
discovered that Benningsen had broken up from his position in the
middle of the night, and was in full retreat, in three columns, each
covered in its march by a strong rear-guard. On the 4th, Benning-
sen halted, at Wolfersdorf, to give time for Lestoeq to march with
his Prussian division, which had only reached Mohrungen the same
day. Seeing, however, that the French were close upon him, the
Russian Commander-in-Chief determined to let the Prussian shift
for himself, and, abandoning Guttstadt, in which were some maga-
zines, he continued hisretreat to Frauendorff, whence, in the night of
the 5th-6th, he proceeded to Landsberg, having in view to cross the
Pregel, and secure his communications with the Russian frontier.
Napoleon, anticipating this object, persevered in thfeatening his left
flank, and sent forward Soult, Davoust, Murat, and Ney, to press the
enemy’s retreat, while he merely kept Augerean and Bessi¢res, with
the Imperial Guard, about his person. But, while the columns
defiled under the very eye of the Emperor, he received information
bat a strong corps of the enemy was at Liebstadt, seeking to cross
the river Passargo. This was Lestocq, marching with all his
speed after Benningsen's army. Ney was immediately sent after the
Prussians, but Murat had already come up with their rear-guard,
under General Kluchzner, near Wallendorff, Lestocq now treated
the main Russian army as he had been treated by them, and left
them to take care of themselves, while he saved himself by taking
the direction of Schlodein, whence he marched to Husschnen, near
Preussisch-Eylau, which he reached on the 7th. Kluchzper was
nearly surrounded, but escaped with the loss of 2000 men and
16 guns. Had the Prince of Ponte-Corvo received the orders trans-
mitted to him by Napoleon, the whole of the Prussian corps must
have been destroyed ; but he did not hear of the movements of the
grand army till the 4th, when he hastily followed it, but had only
reached Osterode on the 6th, three days’ march in arrear. The
Russian army, havirg reached Landsberg, seemed disposed to halt
for a day, and placed a strong rear-guard, with a numerous cavalry,
in a position at Hoff, having the village to the right, and a wood to
the left, under General Barclay de Tolly; but Napoleon, with
Murat, Soult, and Augereau, had already reached Freymarcht, and
marched forward in a single column, while Murat at once fell upon
them. Two of the Russian regiments were cut to pieces, and
an immense number of prisoners, including Prince Gallitzin, wére
made in the mélce. Benningsen sent forward several brigades
of fresh troops to support his rear-guard, but they could not regain
their position at Hof, for Soult, with the division of Legrand, and
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Murat, with General D'Hautpoul’s cuirassiers, held it against every
attempt until nightfall, when Benningsen, not being able to hold his
ground at Landsberg, retired on Eylau, where he established his
head-quarters on the 7th.

Benningsen, by continually making his marches by night, and
taking up a position by day, as if he were offering battle, had given
time to his heavy artillery to retire, and had kept his army well
in hand ; but, now that he was arrived within seven or eight leagnes
of Konigsberg, he thought it his duty to try to check the enemy,
and not deliver up the last Prussian city, filled with all kind of
stores, without a struggle. He therefore formed up his army,
about 58,000 strong, behind Kylau, leaving four brigades of
infantry, with cavalry, under Prince Bagration, to occupy the
plateau of Ziegelhoff, and hold the road from Landsberg, while to
General Barclay de Tolly was left the defence of the town. The
rest of the army formed wp in two lines, infantry and cavalry
mixed. General Tutschow commanded the right wing, General
Ostermann Tolstoy the left, General Sacken was in the centre, and
General Doctorow in reserve. The Prussian division, under
Lestocq, though hard pressed by Ney’s corps, attained the right
of the position at Althof. A numerous artillery, said to-count 400
pieces, garnished the whole front of the Russian position. The
country was covered with woods and lakes, but, under the operation
of the frost, the ground was everywhere practicable, and the snow,
falling heavily, covered hill and valley, land and water, and so
effectually concealed the nature of the surface, that the cavalry of
both armies charged across frozen lakes, without knowing it. The
town stands upon a height, commanding the roads from Landsberg,
as they debouched from the woods on the plain and open ground
about Teuknillen and Ziegelhof. Bagration was directed to defend
the ground inch by inch, in order to gain time for the artillery and
Prussians to get into line.

It was 2 in the afternoon of the 7th when the French appeared,
entering the village of Griinhofchen,on the high road from Lands-
berg. Marshal Soult at once reconnoitred the position, and ordered
the brigade of Lavasseur to advance against the front, and that of
Viviez to make a détour on his right, to turn its left flank. The
front attack was met by General Markow, who drove back the
enemy, and the dragooms of St. Petersburg, coming upon the
French left flank, cat to pieces the 18th Regiment, and captured its
eagle. They were met, however, by a division of cavalry, under
General Klein, who restored the fight, and drove the Russian
dragoons back to the very town. Markow resisted stoutly, but the
arrival of Viviez on his flank forced him to withdraw to Eylan,
into which he was so closely followed by the enemy, that they
entered it pell-mell with his division. Here Barclay de Tolly
occupied the churchyard, which he had prepared for a vigorous
defence. Napoleon and Benningsen both saw the importance of
this post, and the contest for its possession was fearful. It was 10at
nightbefore the chances of war gave possession of it to the brigade of
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Viviez, aftera fierce contest, in which De Tolly wasseriously wounded.
This was one of the most bloody affairs of outpost that had occurred,
and Soult’s loss was such that his troops were quite disorganised ;
they seized on Eylau in search of food and drink, and spared, in
their fury, neither carnage nor pillage. The division of Legrand,
being least undisciplined, were brought back out of the town, and
bivouacked on the outside. The divisions St. Hilaire and Leval
were halted to the right, and formed in two lines, having the
cavalry of Milhaud in the adjoining village of Rothenen. Urgent
orders were transmitted to hasten Marshal Davoust, who was
advancing down the Alle on Bartenstein, and who replied that
he would be sure to be in line by daybreak, and it was hoped that
Ney, who was on the left, near Kreutzburg, might also be up
as soon as Lestocq, whom he was following. Davoust was on
the right, facing Klein Sausgarten and Serpalten; Soult, imme-
diately in front of his bloody acquisition of Eylau, had re-
organised his corps to form the centre; Murat's cavalry and
Augerean were in reserve behind this point. Napoleon was per-
suaded by Murat (whose sanguine temperament assured him the
enemy were in full retreat) to lay himself down for rest in the post-
house of the town, and here, after a hard day’s work of some twenty
hours, he placed himself on a three-legged stool, and slept soundly ;
but he was no sluggard at any time, and, before daybreak, he was
on horseback, and at the outposts, where a furious cannonade raged
already.

Benningsen had prepared a strong force to retake the town of
Eylau, and his heavy guns were at once brought forward to cover
the advance. Napoleon, who occupied the churchyard with the
Guard, ordered 40 guns to reply thence to the Russian fire. The
effect of all this artillery fire is described as awful, but the French
bombardiers, working with more precision than their enemy, caused
him great destruction, while, on other hands, the Russians’ shells
set fire to the town. During the continuance of the cannonade,
Napoleon arranged his intended attack, which was to be made
on the Russian left, on which he had already setin motion the corps
of Davoust. The divisions of Heudelet and Desjardins of Auge-
reau’s corps were moved more to the flank, and ordered forward;
but, at the moment of their advance, a heavy fall of snow, driven
by the wind right into the face of the soldiers, disordered the march,
and Augereau, as well as his two generals of division, were
wounded, in endeavouring to lead their men in the right direction.
The troops accordingly leaned away too much to the right, and
a,considerable gap was occasioned opposite the enemy’s centre,
which it was the design of Napoleon to pierce. With amarvellous
quickness of eye and decision, the blot was seen, and orders were
immediately sent to the Grand-Duke of Berg to place himself at
the head of all the cavalry, and penetrate the Russian centre.
Marshal Bessiéres was, in like manner, ordered by the Emperor to
carry forward all the horse of the Guard, to assist this operation.
The Russian horse, inferior in number, came forward to receive
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the charge, but were overturned at the first shock, and the Russian
infantry, being thus exposed to Murat’s attack, suffered dreadfully
under their sabres. The carnage at this period of the fight that befel
the French, was horrible. De Hautpoul fell dead, and Generals Cor-
binean and Dahimar were stretched wounded on the ground. The
Russian battalions, though driven back and scattered, rallied
behind their third line, and Benningsen, perceiving the extent
of the danger, despatched orders to the whole of his reserve to
advance in support. The French cuirassiers, which had penetrated
through Essen’s division, now encountered the Cossacks of the
Don, under Platoff, who broke through, and scattered them.
These children of the desert curiously displayed their love of
plunder on this occasion, when half of them reappeared out of the
conflict cased in the shining armour which they had stripped from
their oppounents. Murat was obliged to fall back, and take up his
old ground near Eylau.

While these things were proceeding on the French right, a
Russian division, 5000 or 6000 strong, under Doctorow, forced their
way between the division of Legrand and the corps of Augereau,
and actually reached the churchyard in which Napoleon had taken
post. He instantly directed his Guard to charge, and ordered his
escort to join in the attack. Murat, seeing the occurrence, sent up
General Bruyére with some chasseurs, who in a short time cleared
the village under the eye of Napoleon, but the divisions Desjardins
and D’Heudelet were cruelly treated; and, indced, Augereau’s
entire corps suffered so severely, that it was altogether disbanded
after the battle, and the divisions composing it transferred to other
corps-d’armée.

The Emperor was naturally impatient for the arrival of Davoust
on the field, but it was 1 o’clock before that Marshal was seen
near Sausgarten. General Friant, commanding the advance, passed
through the forest, and feli on the division of Bagavout, and drove
them back to Kutschitten, where Ostermann Tolstoy, with 8000 or
10,000 men, encountered the French, and endeavoured to get round
their right flank, but was forced to yield the ground, after a severe
and bloody fight. Friant was successively supported with the
divisions of Morand and Gudin, and Benningsen strengthened
Ostermann  with the division of Kamenskoi, and opened a
plunging fire from 30 heavy guns upon their advance; but the
Russian chief could not prevent their occupation of Auklappen.
The ground so fiercely contested was abandoned by the Russians,
and the French went forward through the wood of Auklappen,
almost to Kutschiitten. The Russian left wing, under Sacken,
was completely destroyed at this period of the day, and Benningsen
had now employed all the reserves, while Napoleon, according to
his established rule, had his reserves untouched. The Imperial
Guard bad, up to this moment, scarcely fired a shot.

It was 4 o’clock when the Prussians, under Lestocq, arrived upon
the road from Altdolt to Schoditten. e had answered the call
of his superior more effectively than Ney, who, in his desire to out-

c4







1807.] NAPOLEON PUTS HIS ARMY INTO QUARTERS. 20

captured in the fight. The one crossed the Pregel; the other fell
hack on the 17th, and withdrew into winter quarters, resting their
left on the river Passargo, their centre behind the Alle, and their
left, comprising Bernadotte’s corps, which now joined the army,
on theshores of the Friche Haff. Napoleon established his Court
at Osterode, whence he could superintend the siege of Dantzig,
which he now determined should occupy his attention, while his
soldiers might recover a little from all the privations of their winter
campaign.

In the new position thus taken up by the French army, the
Prince of Ponte-Corvo retained the bridge of Spandew, which
el to his occupation, while Marshal Soult, on the contrary, caused
that of Mohriingen, which belonged to his lines, to be destroyed.
“ Voyez,” said Napoleon, “ Bernadotte a agi plus militairement, il
a gardé son pont, et Soult, qui aurait dd le garder plutot que
Bernadotte, I'a coupé, par lequel il est mis dans l'impossibilité
d’aller secourir Ney, si les Russes voudraient I'attaquer.”

Before, however, Napoleon himself sought repose in his head-
quarters, he sent General Bertrand to offer terms to the King of
Prussia, if he would withdraw from the Alliance; but Frederick-
William could not be induced, by this tempting offer, to quit the
ranks of the Czar, who bad received him so nobly in his adversity,
and he declined to treat at all.

The French had only just taken up their winter quarters, early
in February, when the Russian General, Essen, received orders to
advance along both banks of the Narew, and attack the French
corps at Ostrolenka. Here was the little corps-d’armée of Lannes,
now forming the extreme right, and commanded, during the Mar-
shal’s illness, by Savary, who was quite prepared to receive his
adversary. When, on the 15th, the Russians, in two columns,
encountered him on the right bank of the river, he forthwith
directed General Gazan to attack, and one column was soon
stopped, and forced to retire towards Nowogrod. The column
that moved on the left bank reached Ostrolenka, where they were
received by Generals Campagna and Ruffin. The latter general,
at the head of a reserve of grenadiers, had been sent to the succour
of Savary by Oudinot, and their presence saved the town, which
was already in the hands of the enemy. On the 16th, Savary col-
lected all his force, and attacked General Essen in his turn, when
he defeated him with the loss of 1200 killed and 7 guns. Young
Suwarrow, the son of the famous old Marshal, was among the slain
on this occasion. On the 17th, Savary pushed his success, and
secured completely the right of the French army, which he had
heen appointed to guard, and covered the communications of the
grand army with Warsaw, until Marshal Massena now arrived from
the army of Italy to supersede him in his command.

Napoleon was no idler at any time — the waste of men and the
exhaustion of his dépots required now all his care.  He ordered a
new couscription of 80,000 men, the third that he had required since
the commencement of the Prussian war. Observing, likewise, the
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superiority of the Russian artillery in the late conflict, he also
ordered from France all the bombardiers that could be spared, and
fresh guns to be cast on the models of those he had captured from
the enemy. Napoleon was tired of this distant campaign, to
which he had become reduced, and sought on every side the means
of bringing it to a speedy conclusion. It was, amongst other
matters, brought to his serious notice, that no less a number of men
than 60,000 were reported as absent from their regiments, who had
fallen out of the ranks during the hardships of the winter campaign,
and had established themselves in villages to the right and left of
the great road behind the Vistula, where they were living in
luxury at the expense of the inhabitants. Monsieur Dara brought
the matter to the Emperor’s notice by discovering that the number
maintained in hospital was not at all equai to those reported to be
there by the regimental returns, and they were immediately
searched out, and restored to their divisions.

9. Siece oF DaNrtzIG,

While both armies thus rested to recover their fatigues,
Prince Jerome, having General Vandamme under him, was busy
besieging and occupying the fortified places of Silesia. On the
10th of January, the fortress of Schweidnitz was invested by the
Wiirtembergers. 1t was gallantly defended by the Prussian
governor, who employed the system of mines with good effect;
but, nevertheless, it fell, after nine days of open trenches. The
Prince of Anhalt Dessau covered with his corps all the approaches
to Glatz ; and, though driven under the walls by General Lefebvre-
Desnouettes, he prevented the enemy from undertaking the siege
of that town. With a corps of Bavarians and Wiirtembergers,
Brieg was invested towards the end of January, and capitulated on
the 8th of February. Neiss, the strongest fortress of Upper Silesia,
was invested on the 24th of February, but General Kleist, from
Glatz, disturbed the siege, by moving up against the besiegers, and
it did not surrender till the 16th of June. From the moment that
the Emperor withdrew behind the Passargo into winter quarters,
he authorised Marshal Lefebvre to collect from all quarters a force
amounting to 18,000 men, in order to undertake the siege of
Dantzig, and on the 1lst of April that place was effectually in-
vested,

The capture of a strong fortress at the mouth of the Vistula
was, not only strategically but politically, a.result of the greatest
moment. It was at this time garrisoned by 12,000 Prussians and
three Russian battalions, commanded by Field-Marshal Kalkreuth,
having the celebrated engineer, Bousmard, under him. It wasat
first resolved to blockade it, but it was impossible to close the
harbour against the British, except by the occupation of the islands
which defended the approach from the Baltic. Dantzig was a place
of great importance in every point of view, but it had been regarded
rather as a commercial entrepot than as a fortress, until General
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Manstein, the Governor in charge of the place at the period of the
misfortunes which threatened Prussia, after the battles of Jena and
Auerstidt, exerted himself with immense activity to repair the
walls and the palisades, and to complete the enceinte. The
besieging corps consisted of two Polish divisions under General
Doubrouski, and the contingents of Baden and Saxony under
General Ménaud, together with some Italians under General
Teulié¢; but, while these troops were employed in the investment of
the town, two French divisions and a brigade of French cavalry
under General Kirgener formed the actual besieging force, which was
directed by Generals Chasseloupe, of the engineers, and Laribrissiére
of the artillery. In the interval between the 1st of February and the
1st of April, the garrison had been successively driven from Dirschan
and the isle of Nogath, and on the 12th of March Lefebvre esta-
blished the head-quarters of the siege at Rosenberg and the grand
park of siege artillery at Langenau. On the 18th, the land invest-
ment was only open on the side of the Isle of Nehrung or Holme, a
vast extent of sand lying between the shores of the Baltic and the
Salt lake called the Fische-Haff, and dividing the Vistula into two
branches. Along these sands a communication, onfy closed by a
ferry at Pillau, existed with the city of Konigsburg, by which, at
the eleventh hour, Marshal Kalkreuth had been enabled to’enter the
fortress, and assume the command. On the opposite side of the
Vistula, the fortress of Weichselmunde required to be reduced
before undertaking the siege. On the 26th, Kalkreuth tried two
sorties—one directed through the suburb of Schidnitz, with a view
of burning it, and the other, commanded by a distingnished outpost
officer, Colonel Krakow, was to make an attempt upon the artillery
park, at Langenfurth. 'The suburb was burned, but Krakow was in-
tercepted in his march by the French chasseurs, and taken prisoner.

A council of war was now held, at which the plan of the siege
was determined. On the side of the faubourgs of Schihlitz and
Stoltzenberg there is a valley, between the enceinte and the opposing
ground, which is elevated, and two forts, called Bischofsberg and
Hagelsberg, connected by a line of earthworks, occupied this height,
forming a double wall. This side was resolved upon for the prin-
cipal attack ; but strong demonstrations were to be, at the same
time, addressed towards the entrenched camp of Neufahrwasser, at
the actual embouchure of the river, and General Schramm, from
the side of Nehrung, was to intercept all communication of this
camp and the fort of Weichselmunde with the town, by way of the
isle of Holm, These agrangements having been made, the trenches
were opened at 800 paces, on the night of the 1st and 2nd of April,
and, when the morning of the 2nd broke, the besieged were sur-
prised to find the crest of the Zigaukenberg crowned with a long
line of earthwork, and Prince Radzivill, with a division of Poles,
in possession of the village of Aller, between that river and the
Vistula. It was against the Hagelsberg that the most serious
advance was to be made, for the redoubt of Bischofsberg was found
to be more complete in its formation, and was better flanked by the
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ramparts of the place. The zigzags, therefore, from the first pa-

rallel were, accordingly, so directed as to open a flank fire upon the
Hagelsberg, rather than a breaching power upon the Bischofsberg.
The besieged, as soon as they were aware of this intention, worked
by the sap to counteract it, and had very nearly established them-
selves on the height to which the second parallel was directed.
However, on the night of the 10th, an attempt was made by the
engineer, Roguint, at the head of 500 men, to counteract this step,
and he succeeded, notwithstanding a fire of grape from the works, in
getting into the sap, and began the work of its destruction ; but the
assailants could not live under the fire to which they were exposed,
and they yielded possession to the besieged; but, at 1 in the morning
of the 11th, they returned to the attack, and succeeded in destrdying
the whole of the work. The besieged, nevertheless, again repaired
it, and succeeded in surrounding it with chevaux-de-frise, so that it
was resolved to make a more resolute attempt on the 12th, and
Geuneral Pacthod proceeded to attack it, in front and flank, with a
battaiion of Saxons. The Prussians defended it stoutly, and it was
taken and retaken three times, until, at length, it remained to the
besiegers. On the 13th, in the morning, however, it was again
attacked.and taken by the besieged, so that Marshal Lefebvre saw
the necessity of putting an end to these conflicts, by taking foreible
possession of the ground. On the 14th, the batterics having been
armed, were in full fire. On the 16th, a sortie was directed by the
besieged from the fort of Weichselmunde upon General Gardanne,
who had occupied the earthwork, thrown up for the surveillance of
the canal which formed the island of Holm. The attack was so
serious that the Marshal was obliged to send down strong reinforce-
ments ; nevertheless, it was not till after seven hours’ hard fighting
that the besiegers remained masters of the ground. The second
parallel was now complete, and the plateau was crowned and armed
oh the night of the 16th-17th. The fire from the place was, how-
ever, so severe, that sharpshooters were placed in trous de loup, to
pick off the gunners at their guns on the ramparts. On the 17th,
the British ship-sloop “ Sally,” 16, Captain Chetham, finding that
the island of Holm was now cut off from the sea by the possession
of the canal of Laach, resolved upon making an attempt to open it,
and, on the 17th, by great exertions, and by lightening his ship of
all her heavy stores, he succeeded in getting through the shallow
water. At about sunset, he commenced a close action with the be-
siegers, in number about 2000, at the Great Hollands, in the Nch-
rung. Captain Chetham tried in vain, owipg to the strength of the
current, to bring his broadside of 24-pounder cannonades to bear
upon the ruined houses occupied by the French, who had 3 guns
with them, which were served so well that they succeeded in
bringing down the sloop’s mizen mast. At the same time, the
incessant fire of musketry was such that upwards of 1000 bullets
lodged in the hull of the ship, and nearly half of her crew
were wounded. The “Sally,” accordingly, at nightfall, hauled
down the stream, and resumed her position outside the harbour,
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The rain and snow came down in such abundance on the 19th,
20th, and 21st, that the works of the besiegers made little progress;
but, on the night of the 22nd-23rd, the trenches were again opened,
and it was resolved to commence the bombardment of the town from
56 pieces of heavy cannon. The besiegers had now in battery 18
24-pounders and 28 12-pounders, besides mortars and howitzers.
They had also batteries of light guns, 6-pounders and 3-pounders,
sufficient to play upon the head of the sap, which was the more
difficult to work in from the brightness of the moonlight. 'The
bombardment continued during the 23rd and 24th, when, as the fire
of the besieged had attained a marked superiority over that of the
besiegers, the Marshal summoned the Governor, but, of course, with
no tesult. Kalkreuth, nevertheless, found the effect of this can-
nonade so insupportabie, that he determined upon a sortie at 10 in
the evening of the 26th, but the French were prepared for it, and,
under General Ménard, made such a resistance as cost the garrison
150 killed, a great number wounded, and 700 prisoners. On the
2§th, another sortie of 2000 men reached the third parallel, but was
driven back, after much hard fighting, by General Michaud. An
attempt to relieve the city was made by a British sloop of war,
under Captain Strachey, who, having, as he thought, a favourable
wind, ran up the river, carrying 600 barrels of gunpowdeér for the
garrison ; but the breeze fell, and he ran on shore in the Holm,
when the “ Dauntless,” with her valuable cargo, became a prize to
the besiegers, in sight of the mortified and disappointed garrison.
On the 2nd of May, the sap had reached the saillant of the demi-
lune, and another sortie was made on that night, and one again on
the 4th. The veteran Marshal, impatient at the length of the
siege, and of these continual and harassing petty engagements, was
desirous of ending it by an assault, and sent to the Emperor to
demand his permission ; but, seeing there was yet no breach of any
kind, the reply was a reprimand: ‘ La poitrine de vos grenadiers,
que vous voulez mettre partout ne renversera pas des murailles. Il
faut laisser faire vos ingénieurs et écouter les avis du Général
Chanteloup, qui est un savant homme, et auquel vous ne devez pas
Oter votre confiance, sur le dire du premier petit critiqueur se mélant
de juger ce qu'il est incapable de comprendre. Reservez le courage
de vos grenadiers pour le moment ou le science dira qu'on peut
I'employer utilement, et en attendant, sachez avoir de la patience.
Quelques jours perdus ne méritent pas que vous fassiez tuer quelque
mille hommes, dont il est possible d’¢économiser la vie. Montrez
le calme, la suite, 'apJomb qui conviennent & votre ige. Votre
gloire est dans la prise de Dantzig; preuez cette place, et vous serez
content de moi.” Napoleon has been charged with recklessness
of the lives of his soldiers; this reply, at least, may be adduced
in his favour. The isle of Holm, occupied by the besieged, was
a continual trouble to the left flank of the trenches, which were
annoyed by the fire from a redoubt upon it, called Kalke-Schanze.
Marshal Lefebvre thought it now high time to take possession of it,
and, on the night of the 6-7th, combined a double attack, one from




P

30 AN ATTEMPT TO RAISE THE SIEGE, fap. |

the side of theVistula, by General Drouet, and the other from that of
the Canal de Laach, by General Gardanne. Both attacks sue-
ceeded, the isle was completely cleared, and the Kalke-Schanze taken
by assault wich a garrison of 180 men. On the 8th, the besiegers
were established on the crest of the covered way, but, on the
following day, found out that it was mined, under which circum-
stances, the descent into the ditch could not be, for the present,
attempted. i

The Sovereigns of Russia and Prussia, satisfied with the bold
defence of Dantzig by Kalkreuth, wished to take some measures for
its relief. Benningsen, however, could not venture to attempt to
force back Napoleon from his camp on the Passargo and, therefore,
an expedition from the sea was determined on. This was confided
to General Kamenskoi, who collected a fleet of 66 transports and 3
frigates, in which he embarked at the port of Pillau from 12,000 to
15,000 men, who arrived, on the 12th, at the fort of Weichselmunde,
under the guns of which the disembarkation was safely effected.
The co-operation of a corps of Prussians, under Colonel Bulow,
was also planned to move at the same time along the sandy isle of
Nehrung, while the grand army was to be disquieted and hindered
from sending up succour to the garrison by a feigned attack upon
the corps of Marshal Massena on its farthest flank, between the Bug
and the Narew. !

Napoleon was in no uneasiness about Massena’s ability to defend |
himself, and did notthink him in want of any succours from the army
under his immediate command, in this emergency, and Marshal Mor-
tier, having concluded an armistice with the Swedes, was moreover
now at liberty, and already on his march from Pomerania. Oudinot
was only distant two or three marches from Dantzig, on the side of
Marienberg, and was forthwith ordered to march up to Fiirsten-
werden, and to throw a bridge across the branch of the Vistula
which separated the isles of the Nogat and Nehrung, while Marshal
Lannes, now sufficiently recovered, was to bring up his renowned
grenadiers to this flank. Early on the morning of the 15th, Kamenskoi
commenced his march to the attack of the besiegers, in 4 columns.
He was ignorant, until the moment of his advance, that the isle
of Holm was in the hands of the enemy; nevertheless, at 5 in
the morning, he fell upon the column of General Schram, com-
posed of Poles and Saxons, whom he speedily overthrew ; Lefebvre,
from his post on the side of the Hagelsberg, saw this discomfiture,
and hastened down reinforcements, but Kamenskoi brought up his
reserve, and would have carried the day, when Lannes came up, at
the head of Oudinot's grenadiers; and, although both French
Generals were unhorsed in the action, the Russians were forced to
give way before the energy of the attack, and fell back under the
protection of the guns of Weichselmunde. A detachment, also,
which had been sent along the Nehrung, to stop Bulow's column,
came up with it, at break of day, upon the Nehrung, and effectually
dispersed it, with the loss of 1100 men and 4 guns. Though the
Russians lost 2500 men in this encounter, it was so bloody that all
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the officers of the French staff were struck down by their fire.
Kalkreuth, from the garrison, only seconded this brave attempt to
relieve him by a cannonade ; indeed, it is possible that he was now so
hemmed in by the besiegers that he could no longer have recourse
to a sortie.

The defence now depended solely on the mines, which consider-
ably impeded the descent into the ditch, and did much mischief to
the besieging force, On the 20th a final attempt was made to stop
or retard the works of the besiegers by a sortie, which had the effect
of destroying a portion of their works; but, on the 21st, it became
known that Marshal Mortier had arrived in the French camp, which
nearly doubled their effective strength, and that now there could be
no question of an effective assault, for which everything was ready.
Lefebvre, however, determined to first try to move the resolute old
governor by the offer of an honourable capitulation. To Colonel
Lacoste, of the Engineers, was intrusted the negotiations with Kal-
kreuth, who could not at once accept the terms offered him, but re-
ferred it to the Czar. In the interval between that day and the 24th,
the Emperor relaxed in his demands, terms were agreed upon, and the
gallant old Field-Marshal marched out on the 27th, with all the
konours of war, and was conducted to the Prussian outposts at Pil-
lau with a force which had been gallantly diminished in the defence
of Dantzig from 16,000 to 9000 men. They left in the fortress
plenty of guns, but scarcely any gunpowder. Marshal Lefebvre
entered Dantzig the same day at the head of his corps, his gallant
brother-marshals, Lannes and Mortier, declining to share the triumph
which he had so justly merited, and which gained for him the title
of Duke of Dantzig.

As soon as the Emperor heard that the city had surrendered, he
repaired thither to inspect the defences, and brought with him the
Persian Ambassador, who had come to him at his head-quarters at
Finkenstein, and to whom, having already shown the might of his
arms, he now gave audience of leave in the captured fortress.

10. SIEGE OF STRALSUND.

The last strong place that now remained to the Allies on the
western side of the Vistula was Stralsund.

Marshal Mortier had been sent, towards the middle of February,
to lay siege to the capital of Swedish Pomerania. Early in March,
Napoleon, who saw that he had to deal with a erack-brained oppo-
nent in the King of Sweden, thought that he might, by a show of
consideration, detach him from the Alliance, and, accordingly,
desired Mortier to offer an armistice to the Governor of Stralsund.
The Marshal, accordingly, drew off 7000 men from the investing
forces, and proceeded with them to the blockade of Colberg, leaving
the troops before Stralsund, under the command of General Gran-
jean, as above stated. In the beginning of April, Napoleon, already
anticipating the stubborn defence of Dantzig by Marshal Kalkreuth,
directed the investment of Stralsund to be altogether raised, and the
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blockading troops marched away to the Lower Vistula. The Swedish {
Governor-General, Van Essen, as soon as he perceived the with- ‘
drawal of the French, assembled his forces, and marching at the f
head of one column, while Lieut.-General Baron Arnfeldt headed |
another, came up with the French at Lussow, and completely over- ;
|
\
|
!

* threw them, driving them to Vogelshagen, where they entrenched

themselves on the heights. Van Essen again attacked them, and
drove them as far ag Anclam, where he captured considerable
magazines, together with the military chest containing 2000 Frede-
ricks-d’or and 3000 crowns. During the progress of the French in
the retreat, 20 officers and 1000 men wege made prisoners. Against
this advance of the Swedes, Marshal Mortier turned back, and on
the 16th, at break of day, drove out the troops from Anclam, and f
made himself master of the bridge over the Peine, where a Swedish
column, commanded by General Cardell, was cut off on the 17th.
General Arnfeldt was wounded by a grape shot in this encounter, and,
as soon as he found himself hors de combat, sent off to apprise Van
Essen of his misfortune, who then despatched a flag of truce to the
French Marshal to ask for time to remove the sick and wounded
from the hospitals. Mortier, who knew how much his Emperor
wished to detach the Swedes from the Alliance, readily granted the
armistice. When the King heard of it, early in May, he repaired
to Stralsund, and highly rewarded Van Essen, but disgraced Arn~
feldt. The armistice was, by a supplementary convention, extended
to the 29th, but on the 17th of June the King signed a treaty of
alliance with England, and wrote to the King of Prussia that he
still desired to abide by the Confederacy, which he also repeated in
a conversation with Marshal Brane, who had succeeded Mortier.

11. THE CONVENTION OF BARTENSTEIN.

The Emperor Alexander quitted St. Petersburg on the 28th of
March to repair to his army, but, in the first instance, paid a visit
to the King of Prussia, who resided with his family and a small
court at Memel. The two Sovereigns afterwards established their
head-quarters together at Bartenstein. At this place, in the month of
April, Austriainterposed its good offices to effect a peace, but Great
Britain, under the influence of Mr. Canning, Foreign Secretary, in-
stead of furthering this object, reverted in the most decided manner
to the former policy of England, urging uncompromising hostility to
the ambition of France. A treaty was accordingly signed at Barten-
stein between Great Britain, Russia, and Prussia, by which the
former bound herself to furnish succoursin arms, ammunition, and
money to the troops of the Allies, and, at the same time, undertook
to disembark a strong auxiliary force at the mouth of the Elbe, to
co-operate with the Swedes in Pomerania, while the combined Rus-
sian and Prussian armies should attack the French Emperor in
their front. The bulk of the allied army was at this time cantoned
round Heilsburg, where a formidable entrenched camp had been
established. The cantonments, with tie great commercial city of
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Konigstein in their rear, abounded in all the usual comforts of mili-
tary quarters, and important accessions to the strength of the army,
by the return of the sick and wounded from the hospitals, were of con-
tinnal recurrence. 'Towards the end of March, 30,000 fresh troops,
including the remainder of the Russian guard, arrived to the army,
under the Grand-Duke Constantine, with several batteries of light *
artillery. A powerful reserve, drawn from the depots in the interior
of the Empire, amounting to another reinforgement of 30,000, was
also advancing under Prince Labanoff, but these were too distant
to be expected to come into line before the end of June. The whole
army under Benmingsen -at this period comprised 118,000 men,
veterans inured to war, and animated by the spirit of the past cam-
paign, and by the presence of the Emperor and King.

Benningsen’s head-quarters were at Arensdorff, where he had
under his immediate cormmand three divisions and the light cavalry.
Two divisions, under Lieutenant-General Doctorow, lay at Neubof';
Gortschakow, with his corps, was at Kaphausen ; and those of Pla-
tow and Knoving were in the vicinity of Bergfried. The guard
under the Grand-Duke Constantine was advanced to Launau; Ka-
menskoi was in reserve; the Prussians were at Nehrung. The
French army is said to have been increased at this juncture, from
various causes, to 170,000 fighting men of all arms, excellently well
supplied and fitted for the field ; but this probably included the im-
mense reinforcements which were in march to join it. DMarshal
Brune was coming up with 15,000 men, drawn from Holland and
t#®Hanse Towns; there were 14,000 Spaniards marching towards
the Eibe from the Pyrenees, and the divisions Boudet and Molitor
had already entered Germany. Had it been necessary, there were,
moreover, about 15,000 Wiirtemberg troops now idle in Silesia, and
10,000 could be well spared out of the German garrisons. The first
corps was in the field, under the command of the Prince Marshal,
at Braunsberg and Spanden, behind the Passargo; Soult’s corps
was in the neighbourhood of Liebstadt; Ney’s corps at Guttstadt,
with an advance beyond the Passargo at Wolfersdorff; Davoust's
corps was at Allenstien ; Lannes at Osterode; and Mortier was on
march from the Lower Vistula to join the army. The head-quarters
of Napoleon, with the Imperial guard, were at Finkenstein. The
cavalry, under the Grand-Duke of Berg, were in cantonments between
the rivers Passargo and Vistula. On the extreme right, upon the
Narew, the corps under Marshal Massena observed General Tut-
schakow, who had succeeded Van Essen, with about an equal force.

12. REsoMPTION oF HOSTILITIES BY THE ARMIES.

It might have been thought extraordinary that Benningsen should
have refrained from any attack on thie French army during the
siege of Dantzig, and should bave advanced for the purpose when
his adversary had no other operation on his hands; but in a Council
of War, held at Bartenstein, it was considered that, as the French
line of cantonments extended considerably from Braunsberg to

VoL. II. D
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Guttstadt, it might be possible to fall with effect upon Ney, who
was the most advanced, and, by driving a strong mass of troops
across the Passargo into his rear, the two extreme wings of the
French army would thus be separated. On the morning of the 5th
of June, accordingly, the whole allied army was set in motion for
the execution of this well-conceived enterprise. The Russian army
was divided into seven divisions, and directed upon the same num-
ber of points of the French line. Thetwo divisions under Doctorow
moved upon Olbersdoff against the outposts of the French on the
right bank of the Passargo. The second column, of three divisions
with cavalry, commanded by Baron Sacken, marched against Ney's
advanced post at Wolfersdorff. The third column, under Prince
Bagration, advanced from Launau, with a view of diverting the
attention of the enemy from the principal attack. The fourth
column, under Prince Gortschakow ; and the fifth, under the Hetman
Platow, were to cross the Alle and fall upon the French troops at
Guttstadt, Bergfried, and Allerstein. The sixth column, under
the Grand-Duke Constantine, was to take up a position in reserve
at Petersdorff, in front of Wolfersdorff; and the seventh, under
General Rembow, was to attack the téte du pont which the Prince of
Ponte-Corvo had established at Spanden. At the extreme right of
the Russian line, General Lestocq, with the Prussian corps, was to
make a false attack on Braunsberg ; and on the extreme left, General
Tutschakow established a chain of Cossacks from Ostrolenka, to
cooperate with Platow’s division in concealing the movementin
advance as much as possible from Dlassena’s observation, and
to cut off bis communications.

Lestocq, from some mistake or other, made his false attack on
Braunsberg on the 3rd of June, before the real attack could be
organised, and alarmed Bernadotte, so as to make him suspect a
forward movement of the enemy. The country between the Vistula
and the Pregel is, however, so covered with forests and lakes, with-
out any high roads, that the movements of hostile troops across
it could not be well watched; but Napoleon, with that wonderful
prescience which accompanied his command everywhere, had so
echeloned his divisions in their cantonments, and had so imperatively
enjoined that every division should protect their approach by
épaulements of earth and by abattis, that the most ordinary vigilance |
was sufficient to protect them from surprise, and they could at any
time be supported from one side or the other before it would be neces- |
sary for them to give way against any attack from the enemy. At 6 |
in the morning of the 5th, therefore, Doctorow, debouching from the
forest of Wormditt, presented himself on the banks of the Passargo, ‘
before Lomitten, and commenced an attack, covered by Cossacks. |
The outposts having retired before the Russian advance, a bloody |
fight ensued with Soult’s corps from behind their works and abattis |
in the forest. The Russians, however, attacked in force, and, during
the fight, made several demonstrations to pass the Passargo. A
strong body of cavalry, indeed, did cross it by a ford below the de-
stroyed bridge of Spartinau. The Russians endeavoured to restore
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the bridge, but it was set on fire by the light infantry under General
Viviez. They then endeavoured to force the bridge of Lomitten,
but without success. Soult now opened 12 guns, which were so well
served under Major Degennes, that they soon obtained a superiority
of fire over the numerous artillery of Doctorow. The Russian
General, knowing that his movement was sccondary to the grand
attack to be made upon Ney, and finding it impossible to force the
bridges, now changed the direction of his offensive by an attack upon
Kalchstein ; but Soult observing his design, ordered General Carra St.
Cry to withdraw his division from behind the abattis in the woods
of Lomitten, and to resist every attempt to cross theriver. The fight,
nevertheless, lasted till near 8 at night, when Doctorow, finding him-
self unable to force a passage at any point, withdrew to Olbersdorff,
sending two divisions to Guttstadt to support the right attack. This
affair at Lomitten cost a great deal of blood on both sides, the aggre-
gate of which was 1000 killed and 3000 wounded.

It was near 9 o'clock when the attack was made upon the bridge
across the Passargo, at Spanden, which General Frere defended.
General Lestoeq commenced with a two hours’ cannonade, and then
ordered the assault.  The Prince Marshal directed General Lapisse
and General Girard to move upon the rear of the enemy, and was in
the act of making his dispositions for the repulse of the Prussians,
when he was struck by a musket-ball, which made him reel in the
saddle and quit the field, but not before he had directed his Chief of
the Staff, General Maison, to advance General Villette to the support
of Frére.  This Russian assault was, therefore, vigorously opposed,
and the movements ordered in flank and rear had the effect expected
from them, for the assailants were obliged to fall back in great con-
fusion, and with some 700 casualties.

But the principal point to which Benningsen directed his move-
ment was upon the corps of Marshal Ney, at Guttstadt. The
Prince Bagration led his column upon Altkirch, where General
Marchand received the attack with bis division, who, however, retired
before the Russian advance; but Baron Sacken’s division, which
was to have supported Bagration on the right, did not come up
for two hours, during which Ney discovered that he was opposed to
very superior numbers, and took advantage of the delay in the con-
centration of his antagonist’s preparations to retire in perfect order
upon Ankersdorff, although, in his retreat, his baggage, with
General Roger, and two guns, fell into the fands of the enemy.
Bagration continued his advance on the 6th, and came up with
the French rear-guard at lHeiligenthal, but Ney, with all his
wonted courage and firmness, so imposed upon his adversary, that
he obtained time for his whole force to defile along the bridge of
Deppen, and took up his position behind it, on the left bank of the
Passargo. The Prince Bagration now occupied the right bank of the
stream, with his own division and that of Gortschakow, and here he
was joined by the two divisions sent to him by Doctorow. Benning-
scn, however, had entirely missed his object ; he had failed either to
eavelope or cat off any portion of the French army, and he now
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delivered over his forces to the command of the Grand-Duke
Constantine, while he fell back on Guttstadt, to take counsel! with
his sovereign. After counsel taken, it was then determined to with-
draw from the Passargo to the heights about Quitz, and the head-
quarters of the army were established on the 7th at Glottau.

Napoleon first heard of the Russian attack at Finkenstein on
the night of the 5th, and on the 6th, brought forward his head-
quarters to Saalfeld; but, on his arrival there, he heard of the
result of the movements, and of the failure of the Russian attack
on every point, and judging that they were in some hesitation as
to their future course, he sent orders to Marshal Soult and to
General Victor, who had succeeded Bernadotte in the command of
the first corps, to push forward strong reconnoissances from Wol-
ferndorf and Spanden while he himself repaired the same day to
Deppen, and now finding, on the morning of the 8th,- that the
Russians were in retveat, he determined to assume the offensive.
Soult advanced General Guyot with the light cavalry, in conjunc-
tion with General Legrand, who marched with his division on
Wolferndorf, to observe the enemy’s movements, but the cavalry
general got involved with the Russians in the village of Kleines-
feld, where his troops were nearly surrounded by Havoiski's horse,
and, in the endeavour to cut his way through, the General himself,
with many officers and men, were killed, and many were made
prisoners. Soult’s advance, however, hastened the Russian retreat
to their old position in the entrenched camp at Heilsberg; but the
column of Gortschakow still occupied in force, with guns, the defile
of Launan, and the Russian Guard took up the ground in front of
Guttstadt, between the roads leading to Altkirk and Neuerdorf.

Napoleon crossed the Passargo at Deppen, with the corps of Ney
and Lannes, and all the cavalry of the Grand-Duke of Berg; and
Davoust the same day crossed at Haaserberg. Benningsen,
seeing that the advancing masses gave the enemy a decided supe-
riority, ordered Gortschakow to fall back on Beverniken, and Platow
with 3000 Cossacks to cover his retreat. Soult and Davoust
were directed to attack the enemy, and General St. Hilaire was
immediately ordered forward with General Legrand’s division on
the second line, and the dragoons under General Latour-Mauberg
were marched on Dietrichsdorff. The troops which St. Hilaive
now found before him, were a detached force under General
Kamenskoi, of abo®t 8000 Russian infantry and 2500 Prussian
cavalry, who had missed their way and were surprised to find
an enemy in their path. They were, accordingly,soon driven back,
and fled to Wormditt, with the loss of 500 or 600 men.

Soult steadily marched forward on Guttstadt, whither Prince
Bagration was moving to cross the Alle, on his march to Heilsberg.
The Prince halted, and showed front at Glottau, until he could get
his corps across the river, over which he had thrown four bridges.
This was successfully accomplished, notwithstanding that Murat,
who was close on Bagrations heels, continued harassing attacks
upon the Russian dragoons, by the brigades of light cavalry of
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Pajol, Bruycres, and Durosnet, under General Lasalle, and the
heavy horse under Nansouty. In these cngagements the Russians
lost many men, but the Grand-Duke of Berg succeeded in esta-
blishing his head-quarters at Guittstadt at 8 on the same night, and
Bagration entered the entrenched camp, where he found Gortscha-
kow had arrived before him. Onthe left, Platow, who had also crossed
the Alle, covering the retreat of the army, with characteristic
coolness dismounted from his horse, and led his Cossacks forward
on foot, inorder to inspire them with confidence ; and he so deceived
his pursuers by the successive marches and countermarches of de-
tachments, that he received no serious molestation,

An anecdote is recorded of a French officer, who was taken
prisoner in this retreat by the Cossacks, having saved his life by
giving the freemason’s sign.  This is known to have happened
very trequently in war, and even, when it has not had an advantage
to that extent, it has often been known to have obtained better
treatment for soldiers in captivity.

13. BATTLE oF HEILSBERG.

Napoleon had now an opportunity of evincing one of his most
characteristic qualities. He knew that Austria was desirous of
turning against bim, and he therefore resolved ta strike sharp and
strong when the chances of the campaign appeared to be turning
in his favour, He had, besides, two objects to attain : first, to drive
the Russians out of their camp at Heilsberg; and secondly, to get
possession of Konigsberg, rich in supplies for his army, the last
shred of the Prussian kingdom, and the only remaining depot of
Prussian commerce. Benningsen had withdrawn his whole army
within their redoubts, on theright bank of the Alle. Napoleon hesi-
tated, however, whether to follow the Russians to their strong camp ;
or, by marching up the right bank of the Alle, to Bishopstein and
Bartenstein, to turn it by its left, and to cast the enemy upon the
shores of the Baltic; or, on the other side, to risk a movement for
turning their right, by marching a strong force of 50,000 men,
between them and the sea, while with his principal force he attacked
the entrenciied camp. In the end he resolved on this latter
expedient, and set his army in motion along the left bank of the
Alle,on the 10th.  The town of Heilsberg is situated in a remark-
able bend of the river, surrounded with heights on both banks, on
which numberless redoubts had heen constructed ; and four bridges,
within range of their fire, effected a ready communication between
the camaps on the two sides of theriver. That on the right bank
was now occupied by the Russian Imperial Guard, and the division
of Bagration, under the command of the Grand-Duke Constantine.
The remainder of the army occupied two lines on the opposite
bank; the first deployed, and the sccond in column, both under
the protection of three strong redoubts, well armed with guns,
205 squadrons of cavalry, as well Russian as Prussian, were
formed en potence, on the extreme right.  Kamenskoi was placed in
Lcomuxund of the right, and Gortschakow in the centre of this
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position. The woods along the entire front and both flanks were
filled with riflemen, and the Cossacks extended their observation
all around. The Russian advanced-guard was called in from
Launau and other villages, and massed in the defile of Bevernicken,
through which the road to Heilsberg leads from the side of the Alle,
on which the French advanced. This post, at the moment of
attack, was strengthened by some troops from the right camp,
accompanied by Prince Bagration, who took the command of the
defile. A strong cavalry force, under General Uwarow, was also
placed under his command.

Upon the first approach of the force under the Grand-Duke of
Berg, at 7 in the evening, the Russian divisions of Barasdin and
Lvow were withdrawn across the defile, and placed in position for its
defence, and a strong battery on a hill running down to the Alle
crushed the French infantry as they debouched to the attack. Soult
immediately ordered General Dulahoy to place 36 guns in battery
on his side of the pass, which soon silenced the Russian battery, and
covered the deployment of the division of General Carra St. Cyr, as it
advanced to the attack. The division of General Legrand was
directed to move on the left, upon the village of Lawden, to favour
this operation. The cavalry of Murat, proceeding in its course to
the village of Langviese, with the same object, came suddenly upon
Uwarow’s horse, and charged them; nevertheless they broke and fled,
until the light brigade of Guyot met them and turned them back.
During this time Soult, with the divisions St. Cyr and St. Hilaire,
drove back Bagration across a small stream which intersected the
road leading to the town, and followed them under the very guns
of the entrenched camp. Tegrand was attacked at Lawden by the
Russian cavalry, but, at the very “ nick of time,” General Savary,
to whom Napoleon had intrusted a brigade of the fusiliers of the
Guard, with 12 guns, arrived to his support, and a serious contest
ensued, in which the General of Brigade, Roussel, was killed. A
reinforcement from St. Hilaire’s division enabled the French, never-
theless, to occupy and hold the wood of Lawden. Bagration retired
in good order, along the high road, before these reiterated attacks
of Soult, covering his retreat by Uwarow’s cavalry, who lost their
General, Koschen, in the conflict; and now crossing the river by
the bridge of Amt-Hielberg, he formed up, and rested his troops
in the Grand-Duke’s camp.

General Legrand, under the cover of the wood on his left, now
assaulted the principal Russian redoubt, and carried it with the |
leading regiment under Colonel Pouget; but Benningsen brought
up the regiment of Kalonga, under General Warnech, and drove
out the French regiment. Another regiment, under Colonel
Perrier, arrived in support, but was also driven back with the loss of
their Colonel, and the two Chefs de Bataillon, Chastener and Ro-
billard, were wounded. The Russian cavalry, in reserve, coming up
however at the moment, fell upon both flanks of the divisions of Le-
grand and St. Hilaire, and drove them back over the open ground,
with the loss of an Eagle. Marshal Soult, now assuming the command,
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ordered the division to form square, checkerwise, and many a saddle
was emptied by the cross fire. The French were thus enabled to hold
their ground till nightfail, when the reserve, under Ney and Lannes,
together with the Emperor himself, arrived on the ficld. A fresh
endeavour to carry the redoubts was now made, but all the attempts
of General Verdier to get into the Russian entrenchments failed,
and the Emperor ordered the troops, at 9 at night, to bivouac on the
heights behind the village of Lawden.

The contest had been sternly disputed, and the loss, on both
sides, was very considerable, not only in rank and file, but in
officers and generals. Fifteen generals, French and Russian, were
among the killed and wounded, and no less than 250 inferior
officers were among the former, in Marshal Soult’s corps alone.
The night was passed by both armies on the field, and the next
morning was occupied, on each side, by the sad duties required by
the killed and wounded, which are said to have amounted to 18,000
men. General Benningsen bivouacked in his cloak in the camp, for
he had received information of a movement of the ememy on
Landsberg and Eylau. A vigorous general would, probably, have
immediately marched against this rather rash operation of Napo-
leon’s, and erushed the columns in the corner, between the Lower
Pregel and the sea, but Benningsen had the especial infirmity of
trembling for his communications, and, as soon as he was informed
that Marshal Davoust was marching on his right flank towards Ko-
nigsherg, he, notwithstanding his success, commenced preparations
for a retreat, on the afternoon of the 11th. Accordingly, sending his
eavalry forward to disturb the enemy, and opening his batteries on
the division of St. Cyr, which was immediately within reach, he
quietly withdrew the troops, under the Grand-Duke Constantine, from
the town of Heilsberg, and ordered them to march away along the
right bank of the river on Friedland, by Bartenstein. So that by
nightfall, the entrenched camp was entirely evacuated, all the divi-
sions were brought across theriver, the bridges were set on fire, and
by daybreak on the 12th, the whole Russian army was in full march
by the same road. As soon as Napoleon discovered this, he moved
his entire army along the left bank of the river towards Landsberg
and Preuss-Eylau, while he himself entered and took possession of the
camp at leilsberg, where he found considerable magazines. The
Imperial head-quarters were established on the battle-field of Preuss-
Eylaa. The allied sovereigns rested at Tilsit during the action of
the 10th, and, as soon as the battle terminated, the Grand-Duke
repaired there to report the issue to the Czar.

General Vietor, immediately he heard of the battle, debouched
across the hridge of Spanden upon Mohlsach, and Lestoeq fell back
along the Frisch-1laft into the capital of East Prussia.  Xamenskoi
was also directed by Benningsen to march upon Konigsberg, but.
on reaching Muhlhausen, he tound the troops of Davoust there before
him; he, nevertheless, succeeded in reaching the objeet of his
destination by making a détour.  When, on the 13th, the Russian
army reached Schippenbeil, Benningsen heard that some of the
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French troops were already approaching Domnau, and, therefore,
between the Russian army and Konigsberg.

14. BATTLE oF FRIEDLAND.

On the night of the 13th, therefore, he hastened to place his head-
quarters at Friedland. General Kollogribow was already ir position
there with 33 squadrons and 18 guns, and, having secured the bridges
over the Alle, had pushed forward to the occupation of Posthenen
and Heinrichsdorf, on the high roads to Konigsberg and Domnau.
A regiment of French cavalry, expedited by Marshal Lannes, ven-
turing to reconnoitre this force, were instantly charged and driven
back, so that they only gained the village of Georgenan with
difficulty. The Russian army arrived during the night of the 13th-
14th in successive detachments, which, crossing the Alle, took up
their position on the high ground above the river, which here flows
between steep and narrow banks. When it was reported to Ben-
ningsen that the French troops had been driven back by his outposts,
from the side of Domnau, he conceived the idea that there could
not be on that road more of the enemy than the single corps of
Marshal Lannes ; and, therefore, quickly resolved to attack it, in
the hopes of thus destroying, in detail, the scattered troops of
Napoleon, and forcing his way to Konigsberg.

During the midsummer months there is scarcely any night in
these northern latitudes, and, accordingly, the arrival of the Rus-
sians in position, in the midst of the night, and their readiness to
go forward at once to an attack, without resting (which would
appear scarcely credible without this consideration), may, in some
measure, account for the vigour of Benningsen’s resolve, and the
execution of his scheme at 2 in the morning of the 14th. No
sooner, however, was the Russian advance descried by the vi-
dettes of Lannes’ corps, than his entire force of 12,000 infantry
and 3000 horse were formed up to receive the attack. The single
Russian division, which had, at first, been passed over, being,
therefore, found insufficient against such numbers, other troops
were sent across the Alle, and three pontoon bridges were hastily
constructed to facilitate their passage, so that the attack be-
came threatening. Napoleon was at Domnau, ten miles dis-
tant from Friedland, but, immediately he heard from Lannes
that he was attacked, he came to the front, and, observing the
continual passing of troops across the bridges, he forthwith
ordered up Mortier to the support of Lannes, and directed his
guard, and all the troops within reach, to march in the direction of
Friedland. The experienced Captain saw with astonishing quick-
ness the advantage which he thought he could derive from the
indiscretion of his adversary, in quitting the ridge position above
the Alle, to give battle with the river in his rear, and immediately
sat down to write a remarkable letter to the Grand-Duke of Berg,
to the effect that his troops having, as the Emperor hoped, already
taken possession of Konigsberg, he was to leave Soult and Davoust
for the defence of that town, and hasten with all his cavalry up the
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banks of the Alle towards Friedland, where he looked to sece him
arrive within 24 hours; and that, if the battle in which he was
about to engage should last so long, he would, if possible, resolve it
into a cannonade, in order to await his arrival.

Napoleon remarked to those around him, when he saw that a
battle was inevitable —¢ Tant mieux, ¢’est un jour de bonheur, ¢’est
Panniversaire de Marengo.” The Russian batteries opened a heavy
fire upon Oudinot’s division as it deployed into line, and Lannes
appeared to be in a perilous position, contending, with about 27,000
men, against almost the entire army of Benningsen. The Cossacks
were in force at Heinrichsdorf, covering, as with a cloud, the
advance of both infantry and cannon. It was 7 in the morning
when the Marshal sent Grouchy, with the grenadiers of Albert, to
check this advance; and, happily, at the same moment, the cuiras-
siers of Nansouty, and the division of Dupas (the advance of
Mortier) arrived between Heinrichsdorf and Porthenen. A severe
action ensued, in which 4 guns were taken. Lannes, now
strengthened on his left, advanced Oudinot towards the wood of
Sortlack on his right, and showed fight. Benningsen drew up his
whole army, as the divisions successively arrived, across the high
roads leading from Porthenen and Heinrichsdorf, about half a mile
in front of the town of Friedland. A mill-stream, flowing in a
perpendicular direction, nearly cut it into two equal parts. After
reconnoitring the ground, Napoleon determined on a dashing but
hazardous manceuvre. From the heights above Heinrichsdorf he
could see right into the town of Friedland, which is placed upon an
elbow of the Alle, of which the re-entering angle faced the French
position, the space enclosed by the river being subdivided and nar-
rowed by the aforesaid mill-stream, of which the road of entrance
from Domnan ran across the head. He therefore thought it possible
to force his way into this small peninsula, and hold it by this narrow
access against the entire Russian line, the portion of which that
faced Heinrichsdorf having no power of retreating from where they
stood, except by passing over this mill-pond head, and through
the town to the bridges. In order the more effectually to attain his
object, he determined to employ Ney to conductthis operation, whose
lion-like character best suited his purpose, while the rest of the troops
made every demonstration of attack, but without compromising them-
selves in any way, in order that Benningsen mightbe kept from send-
ing down reinforcements to the town, for he ealculated much upon
their holding a good countenance against the Russian main line.
The scheme was, like the mind that engendered it, simple and
daring, but, probably, according to no rule of strategy. However,
in war everything depends on the readiest mode of rendering avail-
able the peculiar character of the ground which forms the position
of the enemy. During the first partial combat, the several corps of
the French army had come and taken up their ground, according
to the Emperor’s disposition; and, at 5 in the afternoon, he re-
iterated his orders that the left should rest firm, but that the right
wing should be ready to move forward to the attack on the firing of
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20 guns from the battery in the place where he stood, but this was to
be governed entirely by the progress of Ney. Napoleon had previ-
ously sent for the Marshal to receive his instructions in person, and
had, with much familiarity, said to him: “ Pénétrez en Friedland
quoiqu’il puisse vous en coiiter, prenez les ponts et ne vous inquictez
pas de ce qui pourra se passer a droite, & gauche, ou sur vos derricres.
L’armée et moi, nous sommes 13 pour y veiller.” Marshal Victor, on
hearing the signal, sent forward immediately the divisions of
Marchand and Bisson, who were soon engaged in deadly conflict with
the enemy, and when the Russians perceived that they were debouch-
ing from the wood of Sortlack, they launched several regiments of
cavalry upon them, accompanied by a horde of Cossacks. The Rus-
sian cavalry charged the head of Marchand’s division as it came en
echelon out of the wood. Ney left to Latour-Maubourg to restrain
this Russian charge, while he pushed on, téte baissée, at the head of
his corps-d’armée, to enter Friedland by the road. The Russians fled
before him like chaff before the wind, and some militia, who hap-
pened to be stationed in the way, broke their ranks at sight of his
glittering steel, and, spreading confusion and alarm, ran towards the
bridges. The Russian guns thundered upon Ney’s column from the
opposite bank of the Alle, levelling entire files of the division Bisson,
and, presently, the Russian horse-guards, commanded by Genera!
Kollogribow, fell on the head of the column, and drove it back ; but
General Dupont was soon up with his division in support, and,
resting his left on the mill-pond, stood firm, and gave time to
Bisson to rally his men. Ney opened the few guns he had with
him upon the batteries that so plagued him, and Napoleon sent
down, with all speed, General Senarmont with all the guns he counld
collect, and these, by their number and precision, soon silenced the
enemy’s batteries. Friend and foe were now huddled in the narrow
orge at the town gates in fearful strife, and Senarmont energetically
shelled the enemy as they fled through the town and across the bridges.
The orders of Napoleon to his centre and left wing not to engage
the enemy on that side, kept the whole of the Russian right wing
unengaged in their position, and prevented any succour being
despatched, until the object was discovered, when Prince Bagration
was, at length, sent down, and a terrible contest was carried on in the
streets, where 60,000 men fought with the energy of despair. The
Prince animated by his presence the exertions of his troops, while he
shared all their danger ; but, being at length overborne by Ney, he
passed the bridges, and ordered them to be burned, in order to restrain
the French pursuit. Prince Gortschakow, who was on the hills oppo-
site to Heinrichsdorf, under the pressure of a dreadful cannonade,
which had occupiedall his attention, now saw the flames rising out of
Friedland, and immediately, judging the consequences, placed him-
self at the head of his troops, and, rushing down into the town,
turned the tide for a moment against Ney, until Dupont came up to
his assistance. The carnage was then renewed, and became most
bloody, for the destraction of the bridges rendered all passage out
of the town impossible, and the only remaining ingress or egress
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was by the narrow head of the mill-pond. Many of the Russian troops,
rather than surrender their arms, threw themselves into the water,
and perished. Benningsen does not appear to have been aware of
the danger of the occupation of the town by the enemy until too
late ; but, suddenly discovering that his army was left without any
line of retreat, he sent officers, in great haste, to search for a ford
across the Alle, by which he at once crossed his artillery, and sent
down two divisions of Gortschakow’s corps to hold the high ground
commanding Friedland. At the same time, General Korsakow,
with the right wing of the army, was ordered to attack the division
of Qudinot and Vervier, but Marshal Mortier had already advanced
against the Russian right, who now had sufficient difficulty to keep
back the French attack. The General, nevertheless, hastened the
march of the Russian infantry, who retired with a good countenance,
and 22 squadrons were formed on the right to cover the retreat.
Nothing could equal the coolness and discipline of the Russian army
as they made their escape from this ill-starred ficld. With heroic
courage they held their ground, no single battalion dreaming of sur-
render. In the midst of prodigious slaughter, they plunged into
the stream breast high, and, though many missed the fords and were
drowned, few prisoners fell into the hands of the enemy.

As soon as Napoleon saw Friedland in the possession of his

troops, and the bridges across the Alle destroyed, he ordered his
| left to advance against the Russian right, and Lannes and Mortier,
1 having fulfilled their task of keeping the enemy inactive, now fell
upon it, in its hasty retreat, with all their might. The unhappy
Benningsen himself conducted his army on the road to Allenberg,
but left behind him 80 guns and 10,000 prisoners, with 15,000 killed
or wounded on the field of battle. The remainder fled in hot haste to
Wehlau, where they crossed the Pregel on the 15th, and made the best
of their way to Tilsit. As soon as the troops under Kamenskoi
and Lestocq heard the result of the battle of Friedland, they
ahandoned Konigsberg to its fate, and also marched on Tilsit, so that
Soult entered Konigsberg on the 16th without further opposition.

The battle was not terminated till 10-30 at night, and Napoleon,
in all his long career of glory, had never been more completely sue-
cessful. The French army rested on the ficld of battle, and the Em-
peror also bivouacked there in the midst of his guard. His loss was
estimated at 7000 or 8000 killed and wounded, among whom were 7
general officers. Immediate orders were given for the repair of the
bridges across the Alle, and next morning the whole French army
followed the flying enemy in every direction. The Imperial head-
quarters were transferred to Wehlan. Napoleon, however, never
quitted a field without riding over it to learn the condition of the
wounded, and to order that proper care should be taken of them, while,
with all the bounty of victory, he lavished upon them every species
of recompense that pensions or decorations could bestow. It was a
proud moment for a victorious general; for, as he surveyed the
battle-field, he could retlect how effectually he had maneuvred
to cut oft the Russians from Kinigsberg, and how fortunate had
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been his fate to find the enemy’s army so indiscreetly posted, with
the Alle in their rear; while the glorious success of the bold rush
that he had made to occupy the town and bridges must have filled
his heart with a delight that is scarcely conceivable. In effect, the
Emperor Napoleon had at this present moment attained the culmi-
nating point of his wonderful career of glory.

On the 19th, Murat, with the light cavalry, coming up rapidly,
in obedience to the Emperor’s despatch, penetrated to the banks of
the Niemen, where he heard that another Russian army was already
prepared to resist all further progress ; but, about mid-day, a flag of
truce presented itself at the outposts, and delivered to the Grand-
Dukeof Berg a proposition, on the part of General Benningsen, for an
armistice between the contending armies, which Murat immediately
transmitted to the Emperor, who, in the course of a few hours,
arrived himself at Tilsit. Napoleon was too well aware of the
dangers which accrued to his power, even in the midst of victory,
at such a distance from his capital, not to feel joy at this oppor-
tunity of concluding a campaign, of such duration and so many pri-
vations, with so much honour and glory; he therefore replied
that he consented to an armistice with the view to a sure and per-
manent peace. The Prince Labanow crossed the Niemen the same
afternoon, and had an audience with the Prince de Neufchitel on
the terms of an armistice, which was agreed upon and signed
on the 21st, and was ratified on the 22nd, when Napoleon addressed
a proclamation to his army, * That, having celebrated at Austerlitz
the day of his coronation, they had now celebraged the anniversary
of Marengo by a victory which terminated the war.” While the
troops rested in the cantonments designated by the armistice,
Napoleon proposed to the Emperor Alexander to have a personal
meeting, without the intervention of plenipotentiaries, in order to
fletermine for themselves the conditions of a treaty of peace.

15. THE RaFT AT TiLSIT.

This interview did, in fact, take place on the 25th; and the Raft
of Tilsit will be ever memorable, both for what was derived from
it and for its many shortcomings. There was, it must be confessed,
something inexpressibly grand in the interview, reminding one of
a play in Shakspeare, where kings meet and talk together on high
affairs of state in friendly chat or angry rating, and one wonders
whether such deliberations are always carried on in blank verse.
By order of Napoleon, a long raft had been constructed and moored
in the middle of the Niemen, by the chief of artillery, General
Lariboissiere. Upon its surface stood a considerable wooden
building of three apartments. 'Two waiting-rooms, or porches
of entrance, conducted to a considerable saloon, well covered
from the weather, and decorated with all the taste that might have
been expected from Paris workmen. Tt was surmounted by the two
eagles of the Emperors of France and Russia. The Imperial guards
of both sovereigns werc drawn up, each on its respective river bank.
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At 1 o'clock the French Emperor, accompanied by the Grand-Duke
“of Berg, the Prince of Neufchatel, Bessi¢res, Duroe, and Caulincourt,
stepped into his boat, which was rowed by the marines of his Guard ;
and, at the same moment, the Czar, attended by the Grand-Duke
Constantine and Generals Benningsen, Labanow, Uwarow, and
Count Lieven, entered his boat, so that both sovereigns arrived at
the raft nearly at the same instant. Napoleon first opened the door
into the saloon, and advanced with open hand to meet and embrace
Alexander. It was, perhaps, not unreasonable that, under the mor-
tification of recent defeat, the humbled Czar did really feel the
grudge against Great Britain that he at once gave vent to; or he
may have volunteered the expression of it to please the conqueror.
Napoleon, however, immediately rejoined : * Dans ce cas la paix
est faite : pourquoi nous faisons nous la guerre?” Although a cele-
brated French historian has undertaken to give in detail an account
of what passed between the two Emperors at this celebrated inter-
view, it is not necessary to believe that any very great political
wisdom was enunciated between two men who were both of them
mere soldiers, just arrived from a bloody contest, and neither of
them very weighty statesmen. It was nataral enough that the ap-
petite of a great success should have to be satisfied on the one hand,
and the conviction of the hopelessness of all further contest in the
battle-field be soothed on the other : the one to demand whatever
he chose, and the other to concede all that, in moderation, might be
demanded of him. The young Russian was, doubtless, flattered by
the courtesies of the wily Corsican; and the imaginary empires which
they were to obtain over a prostrate world by their firm union was a
sugar plam to the fallen Czar, while the conqueror only insisted, as a
necessity to both, that England should be the common enemy.
Looking back, at the distance of half a century, to the celebrated
Congress of Sovereigns which followed this interview, for the King
and Queen of Prussia assisted at its later meetings, it is impossible
not to question whether Napoleon had ever really conceived any very
high or sound political views —whether military success was to him
the be-all and end-all of war; or whether he had the ability to form
or entertain any grand idea for the regeneration of Europe ? Political
economy, or the wealth of nations, had, probably, never been the
serious study of a man to whom the art of war was the one engross-
ing subject. Tobe a conqueror like Nimrod or Nebuchadnezzar, or,
like Alexander the Great, to overrun the world, “ sighing for new
worlds to conquer,” is, after all, but a very valgar ambition, which
the experience of ages has shown to be entirely without root or per-
manence. Nothing had hitherto been able to stay the triumphs of
Napoleon, for he had fought his way from Montenotte to Friedland
without a check. What, then, did he further require to make himself
more than the greatest military congueror in history ; or what ad-
vantage did he wish that France should gain under his hand for the
benefit of herself, more than she had long since obtained? Let any-
one read all that M. Thiers vouches to have passed upon the raft at
Tilsit, and adduce, if he can, the slightest evidence that the conver-
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sation of the two mightiest sovereigns of Europe touched upon any
topic of which it might be justly and reasonably asserted that it was
worthy of the occasion, of the meeting of monarchs ruling over mil-
lions, or that evinced they had any other object than power and ag-
grandisement for themselves, After a fortnight of conferences, two
treaties were concluded — the one between France and Russia on the
7th of July, and the other between France and Prussia on the 9th.
By these, Poland was partially resuscitated into the Grand-Duchy of
‘Warsaw, but not rendered an independent state; while the whole
of Northern Germany, to be called the Kingdom of Westphalia,
was assigned to Jerome Bonaparte ; nevertheless, both one and the
other were to remain fiefs of Napoleon’s Empire, so that the world
benefited nothing by the arrangement. The kingdom of Prussia
was also restored to Frederick William, but this from no higher
motive than as a mark of the French Emperor’s regard for the Em-
peror of Russia. The Czar kept his dominions intact, but was called
upon to withdraw his troops from Wallachia and Moldavia, and to
conclude his differences with Turkey, although he was flattered by
the hope,always nearest the Muscovite heart,  that the high contract-
ing parties would unite their efforts to wrest from the vexatious and
oppressive government of the Turks all its provinces in Europe.”
There was something like a Christian principle involved in the
covenant, to drive the Moslem out of Europe; and there was some-
thing like a principle of freedom promulgated in the further stipula-
tion, that a peace with England should only be concluded by united
Europe, *“ on condition that the flags of every Power should enjoy a
perfect and entire equality on every sea;” but the motive of either
clause may be suspected.

‘What wonderful results might not have emanated from the Raft
of Tilsit! Perhaps, in the whole history of the world, there had
never existed such an opportunity for an exercise of absolute power
for the benefit of mankind. All the foundations of the great deep,
social and political, had been broken up by the outburst of the
French Revolution; the territories of Princes and Potentates lay
prostrate in every direction ; and their peoples had toc much suffered
by wars and contributions to be induced to raise a finger for or
against any result.  After three of the most decisive victories
ever gained by one man within four months, Napoleon saw the
European Continent at his disposal, and, if he had possessed as much
talent for the re-construction of kingdoms as he evinced at all times
for the re-assembling of armies, he might at this juncture have called
into existence as many empires as there wcre nationalities and
languages, or have re-meodelled the map of Europe in a manner that
might have promised some permanence. His word might have
constituted a new State, from the Baltic to the Black Sea, of all the
(so called) Sclavonic provinces, and Austria might have obtained
in exchange for her German dominions a much more extensive and
compact Empire, by being placed at the head of these hereditary
possessions, Germany might have been reconstituted, from Copen-
hagen to the Alps, with Dresden for her capital, and a Saxon or
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some other of her Princes might have been found to govern it. Italy
might have been united with ail the islands of the Mediterranean
into one grand mercantile community ; and Rome was at this time
free enough from her Papal Lord to be made her capital. Scandi-
navia and Greece might have been formed into kingdoms. The ab-
sorption of small and isolated governments, which have no strength in
themselves, would have offered the only real security for the repose
of the world. These in their isolation always necessarily form ob-
juets of desire to the powerful, and their existence as states depends
on the favour of the mighty. Had Naples and Portugal been real
sovereignties, not even Napoleon would have dared to decree that
the houses of Bourbon and Bragan¢a had ceased to reign ; and had
Denmark been a real Power, with corresponding military means, it
would not have been possible for Great Britain to fit out an expedi- !
tion against her for the mere purpose of securing her fleet against
France ; she would have been rather forced into negotiations for that
i object. At this moment, Prussia could gainsay nothing, and Britain
f would have readily agreed to any arrangements that might have
" given reasonable hopes of terminating a state of war of which she
!

|

was weary, nor would she have opposed herself to the perfect free-
dom of every flag in every sea ; while, as Protector of the new Con-
federation of Europe, Napoleon Bonaparte would have established
his throne, and escaped the subsequent mortification of his decline.

16. REVOLUTIONS AT CONSTANTINOPLE.

We must now retrace our steps a little to relate that the !
Russian Emperor, after the doubtful and well-contested fields of |
Golymin and Pultusk, had become fully sensible of the necessity of
increasing the force opposed to Napoleon in the north, so that early
in February he had ordered four divisions of the army in Moldavia
to he marched up to strengthen the corps of General Essen, then
posted near Ostrolenka. But the Turks were, at the same time, so
crippled by Sultan Selim’s military reforms, and by the revolts of
the Pacha of Widdin and Czerny Georges, that they had retreated
before the invading army of Michelson, and cressing the Danube
abandoned entirely the Principalities, and prepared to defend the
line of fortresses on that river, which were supposed to be in a good
state of defence. On the 17th of March the Russian army laid
siege to Giurgevo, but the desperate defence of the Turkish garri-
son prolonged the sicge for some months, and checked the further
advance of Michelson towards the Balkan. The progress of the |
Servian revolt was now become a source of great anxiety, amidst
the complicated difficulties of the Porte at this juncture. Muchtan
Pacha, the son of the Pacha of Janina, had been ordered to march
i aguinst the rebels at the head of 8000 Albanians, and to devote the
f whole nation of the Servians to death or slavery, without distinc-
[

tion of age or sex ; and, in order to carry out this savage decree, |
the Grand Vizier, at the head of an immense but most disorderly
army, advanced from Adrianople. On the 8th of May, however,
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when on this nfarch, amutiny broke out among the troops,and Hussein
Effendi, the Commissary-General and Cadi Pacha of Conia, who
was exerting himself to restore some discipline in the army, was
massacred in the affray. A new military force had been instituted
by Sultan Selim, called, from the name of the firman authorising
it, “ The Nizammi Geddid,” which was intended to form a consi-
derable corps, disciplined after the European fashion, for the pur-
pose of checking in some measure the tyranny of the Janissaries
over their sovereign. In a conflict which occurred in 1305, the
Janissaries had been worsted by this corps, and accordingly bore
an irreconcilable animosity against the Nizammi Geddidites. The
Sultan, following up the blow, issued a new hatti scherif establish-
ing the conseription throughout the Empire, the consequence of
which was a fresh outbreak, before which the Nizammi Geddidites
quailed and had been driven out of Adrianople. During the
dangers which threatened the capital from the presence of 1Juck-
worth’s fleet and the invasion of the Russians, the rivalry of these
two armed bodies had, for the moment, ceased ; but an unfounded
rumour had arisen at Constantinople that advantage of the absence
of the main body of the Janissaries, then marching with the army
of the Grand-Vizier against the Servians, was to be taken to place
the forts of the Dardanelles, now strengthened by French engineers,
entirely in the hands of the new soldiery. Accordingly, the Ulemas
and the Janissaries remaiving in the capital had a meeting in the
last days of May, at the place of El-Meidan, when it was resolved
that Sultan Selim should be deposed, and that his nephew Mus-
tapha should rule in his stead; and they grounded this decision
upon a law of Mahomet, that a Sultan loses his right to the throne
if, in the course of seven years after his accession, he has no chil-
dten. Now, not only was this the case with Selim, but it was well
known he could never have any. The Janissaries at Burgahdere,
consequently, rose on the 1st of June, and fell upon Mahomed
Effendi, when he came amongst them to induce them to adopt the
new uniform; and, at the moment of his death, the Janissaries,
amounting to 15,000 men, arriving from the other batteries,
seized the Seraglio, and holding a council of war in presence
of the Grand-Mufti and Caimacan, put the solemn question to the
former, “What punishment did he deserve who had established
the new military force of Nizammi Geddid?” On the reply, that it
was death according to the judgment of the Koran, the Mufti was
ordered to go in and announce to Sultan Selim his deposition. He
was accordingly seized and condueted te prison, and on his way
thither met his nephew Mustapha, who had been released, and was
now brought forward to succeed him in the empire. He em-
braced him in passing, and wished him a happier reign than his
own had been. The news of these events reached Napoleon whilst
in the midst of the negotiations of Tilsit. He did not lose a moment
in endeavouring to turn them to his advantage, and, with that
insatiable appetite for territory which has never yet failed any con-
queror, be at once despatched Count Guilleminot to Sebastiani, at
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Constantinople, to explain to the Porte his policy, that he never
would permit any European Power to possess Byzantinm, but that
he was willing to admit that Russia should obtain Moldavia, Walla-
chia, and all Bulgaria, and that Servia should be allotted to Austria,
but at the same time he required that Bosnia, Albania, Epirus,
Peloponnesus, Attica, Thessalia, Macedonia, Dalmatia, and all the
sea-coast of the Adriatic, as well as the Septinsular Reoublic, should
be added to the dominions of France.

17. WaR IN THE BaLTIC.

The King of Sweden, who had never ratified the armistice con-
cluded between Marshal Mortier and General Essen, not only
permitted his marine to continue hostilities against France, but
concluded a new treaty with England on the 17th of June. Marshal
Mortier, with his corps, having been withdrawn by Napoleon to the
grand army, otlfer troops had been brought up for the defence of
Hanover, and to watch any British expeditions in the Baltic. With
these views, the two divisions of Generals Boudet and Molitor, and
a Spanish division, which, under an engagement from Spain, had
been expedited to the north, under the Marquis de la Romagna,
were now placed as a separate corps of about 3C,000 men, under
Marshal Brune, while Bernadotte, who had gone to Hamburg for
recovery from his wounds at Friedland, now received the supreme
command of all the forces destined to occupy the Hanse Towns and
Hanover. By direction of the Emperor, the armistice with Sweden
was to terminate on the 13th of July, and hostilities were ordered to
be recommenced.

The King had under his command about 15,000 Swedes, 6000
! Prussians under General Bliicher, and about 10,000 British under
Lieut.-General Lord Cathcart; but the Prussians were ordered to
withdraw from the Swedish army after the Peace of Tilsit, and the
British then retired to garrison Stralsund, until the arrival of the Con-
junct Expedition preparing in England. Alison relates an anecdote
of Gustavus IV, in which he sadly resembles many monarchs of
greater sanity, who expose themselves to the contagion of that
royal disease—military renown. He had narrowly escaped a fate not
unlike that of his great ancestor Charles XII., and immediately sent
i 1n a flag of truce to the French Commander- in-Chief, offering a
purse of gold to the gunner who had leveiled the'gun that missed him.
The Swedes retired before Brune’s advance on the 13th; Mohtor,
Boudet, Loison, and Granjean, crossing the river Peene in pursuit in
different columns. On the 14th, however, Molitor found the enemy
formed up at Martenshagen, but after a few shots they retired until
they reached Steinhagens, when they appeared determined to make
a stand, having received reinforcements out of Stralsund. They
here occupied a strong position, having a marshy wood on their
right, and the lake of Zeemuht on their left, and their whole front
was garnished with artillery. 'The battle came off on the 15th
of July, the King commanding the Swedes in person. General
| Boudet, with the advanced guard, first caine upon this position, and
| VOL.IL E
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finding it could not be turned, he resolved to carry it by assault.
General Valory was ordered on this service, at the head of two
regiments, who advanced in close column, covered by all the guns
pouring in grape at a short distance. The Swedes gave way before
the boldness of the attack, and fled, leaving behind them all their
cannon, nor did they stop till they reached Stralsund the same
evening. The next morning Marshal Brune invested that place.
The King sent an aide-de-camp to propose to renew the armis-
tice, but the flag of truce was not received. The few British
troops that remained now withdrew from the fortress into the island
of Rugen, and Stralsund was besieged in form. Trenches were
opened on the night or the 15th of August, and General Chasse-
loup, who had so eminently distinguished himself in directing the
siege of Dantzig, now pushed forward the approaches with such ex-
traordinary vigour that in four days they were within 300 yards of
the covered way, and the batteries were already armed and ready to
commence. Ob the 20th, the King retired from the town, which was
given up to the French in theact of their preparing for the assault.
The besiegers, however, found that all the guns on the ramparts were
already withdrawn from the side of the sea, and that everything
that could float had been carried away. It was necessary, however,
for the besiegers to get possession of the islands of Rugen and Din-
holm ; and accordingly every effort was made to obtain fishing-
boats and vessels of any description from the adjoining waters, so
that by great activity they had already, on the 23rd, collected 200
bateaux. Batteries were now established on the shore to silence
those of Dinholm, and to keep back the enemy’s gun-boats. On
the night of the 24th-25th General Trinion made an assauit upon
Dinholm, and, in conjunction with Captain Montcabrié of the

rench navy, took it, with its governor and garrison of 580 men.

t was next resolved to attack the island of Rugen, which the King
held with about 15,000 men. For this purpose large rafts were
prepared for the transport of heavy artillery, and the means were
collected of disembarking 6000 men, when His Majesty sent Baron
de Toll to conclude a convention for the surrender of one-half of |
the island, to be given up on the 9th of September, the remainder
as soon as the Swedish army should have evacuated it. On the 7th
of October, when this condition was brought to Napoleon to be
ratified, he observed that the plenipotentiaries on both sides acted
in the name of their respective armies instead of their sovereigns.
This convention highly displeased him, though it relieved him from
much anxiety as to the security of the North of Germany; but he
had calculated on capturing the King and all his army. He forth- |
with superseded Marshal Brune by giving the command of the army |
of Pomerania to Marshal Bernadotte : and it was principally owing
to the kindness and rectitude of the marshal’s government of this
Swedish province that he was elected, three years afterwards, suc-
cessor to the crown of Sweden. Brune was never again restored to
favour, but, nevertheless, returned to the service of Napoleon in the
Hundred Days.

—
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18, A BriTisH coNJeNcT EXPEDITION SENT AGAINST
COPENHAGEN.

An expedition had been projected by the British Government to
create a diversion in favour of Russia and Prussia, before the
decisive victory of Friedland had put an end to the campaign; bat,
although the rapidity of Napoleon’s successes was such that it even
anticipated its setting sail, yet enough had transpired of the con-
ferences at Tilsit to make it evident that, having now scattered
to the winds all the enmemies who threatened his power on the
Continent, he was prepared to strain every nerve to make an
impression upon Great Britain. An imaginary statement of the
French Emperor’s designs, at this period, describes his pian to have
been, to embody the whole maritime forces of the Continent against
the British navy. He counted on having 180 ships of war under
his hand : French, Spanish, Russian, Swedish, Dutch, Portuguese,
and Danish. Of this immense naval power, the last division, con-
sisting of 15 sail of the line, reposed at this moment in the waters of
Copenhagen. Under these circumstances, a daring and vigorous
resolution was adopted by the British Government, similar, though
on a grander scale, to what had often been practised in war ; namely,
to deprive the enemy of the prize he thought to be actually in his
grasp, and to convert to their own defence some of the resources
on which he relied for his attack. The project had been likened to
Frederick the Great’s sudden invasion of Saxony, in 1756 ; but the
annals of the French Revolution offered many precedents more
immediately in point.

On the 19th of July, the determination was adopted by the
British Cabinet to get possession, per fas aut nefus, of the Danish
fleets, and it was thought possible, at first, that this might be
obtained by a diplomatic negotiation. Mr. Jackson, who had for
several years resided as British minister at Berlin,and was supposed
to be well acquainted with the general politics of the North of
Europe, was selected as ambassador, to repair to the Court of Den-
mark, to demand that the whole of its naval armament should be
delivered over to Great Britain, as a secure deposit, upon the
solemn stipulation that it should be restored at the conclusion of the
war; and he was instructed to announce to the Prince-Regent or
Denmark the unequivocal resolve of the British Government to
enforce this requisition by the operation of the powerful armament
now on its way to the Baltic. Mr. Jackson arrived at Kiel on the
6th of August, and immediately requested, through the minister,
Count Bernstorff, an audience of the Prince, who received the
overture with great vehemence of expression, inveighing bitterly
against the arrogance of England in making such a demand. Mr.
Jackson, nevertheless, saw the Prince, and was referred by H.R. H,
to the Council at Copenhagen, whither Mr. Jacksoun repaired on the
12th, when he was informed by a brother of Count Bernstorff’s,
that the Prince had left the capital for Sleswic, but that the Ambas-
sador was to make all bis overtures to him od referendum. 'This
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truly Chinese mode of negotiation lost all its effect with a powerful
armament in the offing, and, accordingly, Mr. Jackson at once broke
off the negotiations, and repaired on board the advanced frigate of
the British squadron, on the 13th. The night previously the Dan-
ish frigate * Frederickscoarn,” 32, foreseeing the turn of affairs,
slipped her cable from Elsineur and steered for Norway. The
“Defence,” Captain Ekins, and the ¢ Comus,” 22,Captain Heywood,
weighed in pursuit of her, and the latter came up with her a few
minutes before midnight of the 14th. On the Danish captain refusing
to submit to detention, the “ Comus,” commenced an action within
pistol-shot, and, after 45 minutes, the boarders, under Lieutenants
Watts and Hood, rushed upon her forecastle, and carried her.

On the 26th-27th of July, an expedition had set sail from Yar-
mouth roads, consisting of 17 ships of the line; namely, “ Prince
of Wales,” 98, Captain Sir Home Popham, Captain of the Fleet,
“ Pompde,” 74, Captain Richard Dacres, ¢ Centaur,” 74, Captain
Webley, “ Ganges,” 74, ¢ Captain Halkett, “ Spencer,” 74, Captain
Hon. Robert Stopford, “ Vanguard,” 74, Captain Fraser, “ Maida,”
74, Captain Lenzee, “ Brunswick,” 74, Captain Graves, * Resolu-
tion,” 74, Captain Burlton, ¢ Hercule,” 74, Captain Hon. John
Colville, “ Orion,” 74, Captain Sir Archibald Dickson, * Alfred,” 74,
Captain Bligh, “ Goliath,” 74, Captain Puget, “ Captain,” 74, Cap-
tain Wolley, “ Ruby,” 64, Captain Draper, “ Dictator,” 64, Captain
Donald Campbell, and * Nassau,” 64, Captain Robert Campbell,
bearing the flags of Admiral Gambier, Vice- Admiral Stanhope, and
€ommanders Sir Samuel Hood and Gordon Keats ; accompanied by
between 30 and 40 sails of frigates and other smalier ships of war,
counting 90 pendants, together with 300 transports, having on
board 20,000 troops, under the command of Major-General Sir
Arthur Wellesley.

On the 1st of August the fleet divided, and 4 line-of-battle
ships, 2 frigates, and 10 brigs, under Commander Keats, steered for
the passage of the Great Belt, to cut off all communication between
Zealand and Holstein ; while the rest sailed forward, and on the
8rd, after interchanging salutes with the castle of Cronemberg,
anchored in the road of Elsineur. Here the transports from the island
of Rugen joined, bringing the troops from Stralsund under Lieut.~
General Lord Cathcart, who was to command the land forces in
chief, which now consisted of 27,000 troops. The entire armament
cast anchor in appalling strength, on the 17th, before the island of
Zealand, which was surrounded and blockaded on every side.

The sea defences of Copenhagen consisted at this time of a
battery built upon piles at the entrance of the canal to the arsenal
and harbour, mounting 68 guns, besides mortars; another pile
battery in front of the citadel, mounting 86 guns and 9 mortars ;
and the citadel, which mounted 20 guns and 12 mortars. There
were also blockships and floating batteries, and from 25 to 30 gun-
boats, all ready for action; and in the arsenal lay a fleet consisting
of 16 sail of the line, and 21 frigates and sloops, and, besides three
74’s ou the stocks, one nearly complete for launching.
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Early on the morning of the 15th, the British commanders were
informed that all hope of a friendly accommodation had passed, and
that they were at liberty to proceed in their operations according to
the instructions with which they were provided for that contingency.
On the morning of the 16th, therefore, the transports having weighed
and worked into the Bay, the troops were landed, without resistance,
at Wedbeck, about 12 miles from the capital, towards which they
commenced their march on the following day, but were much in-
commoded by the fire of the Danish gun-boats. Some skirmishing
also took place with the advance on shore, consisting of a battalion
of the 23rd, under Major Pearson, in which 5 or 6 men lost
their lives. On the 18th, the stores and artillery were disembarked,
and all the necessary arrangements were made for a bombardment.
The works were carried on with vigour by labouring parties of 600
men, relieved every four hours; and the batteries increased in
strength and numbers round the devoted city, while the frigates and
gun-brigs took their stations off the entrance of the harbour within
shell range. No works existed on the shore to check these pro-
ceedings, but the Prince-Regent had an army in Holstein, to the
command of which he forthwith repaired, although there was no
enemy in that quarter, but he left the defence of the city to General
Peymann, and directed General Carstenkiold to collect the militia and
introduce them, if it should prove possible, into the town. On the
19th the port of Fredericksberg was surprised by Brigadier Dicken,
and its garrison of 850 men made prisoners. Meanwhile, the Danish
militia were advancing along the isle of Zealand, under Carsten-
kiold, and Lord Cathcart, deeming that this little army, which had
already reached Rosekild, might impede his operations, directed
Wellesley, with a division of 4000 or 5000 men, to march against it
and disperse it. Upon his approach to Kioge, on the 25th, he found
the Danish force on the north side of the town and rivulet, with 3
or 4 batteries in front, which opened upon the British advance.
General Linsingen was ordered to cross at Little Salbye, and turn
the enemy's left, while Wellesley headed the attack in front by an
echelon of battalions, led by the 92nd, and covered by the rifle fire
of the 95th and that of his artillery. The Danish militia were soon
driven back in disorder, but 4 battalions of regulars, under Major-
General Ozhoken, attempted to stand in the village of Hersolge, who
were briskly attacked and compelled to surrender, together with 10
guns. Sir Arthur then advanced into the interior of the island. for
the purpose of overawing all further opposition from the irregular
troops.

King Christian VII., at Gluckstadt, and his General commanding
on the isle of Zealand, had issued proclamations directing all English
vessels and property to be sequestered; and, on the 17th, some
Danish gun-boats had seized and sct fire to an English timher-laden
barque. The Admiral, therefore, as soon as he had anchored in
Copenhagen road, ordered all Danish ships to be detained. Some
interchange of hostilities had also ensued between the British and
Danish gun-boats on the 18th and 21st, on which latter day, the cir-
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cumvallation of the island having been rendered complete, the Ad-
miral declared it in a state of blockade. The last division of troops,
under Lord Roslyn, now also arrived and disembarked. 'To defend
the left of the army from the Danish gun-boats, a battery of 13 guns
had been commenced at a spot called Svane-Moke; but on the
22nd, 3 Danish praams and 3 gun-boats had so placed themselves
as to interrapt its construction and that of others. To oppose
these, a squadron of 7 British bombs and gun-boats now took
up a station, under the command of Captain Puget, and were
attacked on the 23rd by the Danes, assisted by the fire of the
Trekonen and the floating batteries ; and, though this fire was re-
turned with spirit by the British, it was found so severe that the
bombs and gun-boats arew off, with the loss of a lieutenant and 3 sca-
men killed, and an officer and about 12 men wounded. On the 25th,
a division of Danish gun-boats cannonaded the right of the British
line where the Guards were stationed, and much annoyed them;
but, on the following day, the small battery caused one of them, called
the “ Stube-Kiebing,” to blow up, and damaged others so badly,
that, on the 27th, the besiegers were enabled to open a new battery
of four 24-pounders, which made these gun-boats keep their distance. |
Nevertheless, on the 31st, they again made an attack upon the British
shore batteries, but with little success. On the 1st of September,
there being already mounted in battery 48 mortars and howitzers,
and 20 24-pounders ready to open upon the city, Major-General
Peymann was summoned, but returned a direct negative. There was
now no further alternative, and, in consequence, the British batteries
opened on the 2ud, and the town was set on fire by the first flight of
Congreve rockets, which were here employed for the first time. The
inhabitants sustained with heroic resolution the fiery tempest, and all
classes were indefatigable in their endeavours to carry water to the
quarters where the city was in flames. The fire was returned upon
the British batteries from the Danish gun-boats and from the works
and outposts with cannon and musketry, and some men of Major-
General Grosvenor’s* brigade were struck down. On the night of
the 3rd the fire slackened a little, to allow General Peymann an
opportunity to capitulate, but the Danish Governor remaining obsti-

* Among the chargers brought over by General Grnsvenor was a mare, which
proved to be in foal, and, after her safe return to England, produced a colt, which
was named * Copenhagen.” This horse being afterwards sold to Major.General
Sir Charles Stewart was taken by him to the Peninsula, and when that ofticer
quitted the army in 1813, on the death of his. first wife, it was sold and became
the property of the Duke. At Vittoria and other battles his Grace used no other
charger. and it became a great favourite with him, That horse also earried the
Duke of Wellington throughout the glorions day of Waterloo, when it is said
he bore him for eighteen heurs on his back, and when at length released at its
close, gave no sign of fatigue. He was of atull rich chestnut colour, with a
strong dash of the Arab in his appearance, and showed at all times an endurance
of work that was very remarkable. He died in 1835 at the age of twenty.seven,
and was buried at Strathfieldsaye with military honours. His mane and tail
furnished a great many rings, brooches, and bracelets, which were presented by
the great commander to enthusiastic ladies; so that this celebrated charger
obtained a renown which will probably Jong continue, for these memorials will
not cease to he regarded as the heir-looms of many a noble family. ¢ Copenhagen”
was mrdelled for the horse of the Wellington statne upon the arch in Loudon.




k

1807.] OBJECT OF THE EXPEDITION REALISED. 55

nate, the bombardment recommenced in allits fury. In a short time,
the wood in the great-timber yard was set on fire by red-hot shot,
and the steeple of the Fruekirche caught the flames and fell on the
4th. The fiery elements now spread in every direction, and the
engines, which, at first, had rendered some good service, were now
all destroyed, and the firemen killed or wounded. Before the third
night 1800 houses were consumed, and 1500 of the inhabitants had
lost their lives, when the couflagration threatened to extend itself
over the entirecity. At length on the forenoon of the 5th a flag of
truce appeared at the outposts of the British army, to ask an armis-
tice of 24 hours to treat for a capitulation. Lord Cathecart replied
that none could be granted, unless accompanied by the surrender of
the whole Danish fleet. Major-General Peymann having consented
to the unconditional surrender of ships, guns, and naval stores, Sir
Arthur Wellesley, Sir Home Popham, and Lieut.-Colonel George
Murray, were sent in to settle the terms of capitnlation. which were
drawn up on the night of the 6th-7th, and the citadel was given up
on the Sth to the British troops. The loss of the British was —56
killed, and ahout 200 wounded ; that of the Danes about 255 rank
and file killed and wounded, besides prisoners. It has been stated
by the Danes that the Crown-Prince sent Lieutenant Von Sleffen to
General Peymann, from Kiel, with orders to burn the fleet in case
of his being compelled to a surrender, and that the Lientenant
destroyed his despatches on being taken prisoner by some of the
patroles of the British army.

The object of the expedition having been attained, everything of
a tendency to wound the feelings of the Danes, as a nation, was
avoided. The havoc that had been made by the bombardment was
the consequence of what they thought due to their honour; but not
a shot was fired, or a hostile act perpetrated, after the flag of truce
had been displayed.

The alacrity of the British seamen was such, that in nine days’
time 14 sail of the Danish men-of-war were safely towed out of the
harbour into the roads; and, in the space of six weeks, the three
remaining ships, with the entire contents of the arsenal and its store-
houses, masts, spars, timber, and other naval materials, were re-
moved, ready for transportation to England; so that on the 26th of
October three 80-gun ships, fourteen 74, one 64, two 40, six 46, and
two 32-gun frigates, two 20-gun ships, eighteen of 16-guns, and
three gun-brigs, with 25 gun-boats, sailed from Copenhagen roads
in three divisions ; the last division of the British army re-embarked
without a casualty on the 20th, and returned to England. The most
valuable part of the seizure was the naval stores, which were shipped
on board 92 transports, measuring 20,000 tons, The benefit to Eng-
land was not, however, so much what she acquired, as what the
enemylost. There were only 4 of the line-of-battle ships captured that
were found worth the cost of repair: but the artillery taken away
amonnted to 3500 pieces.  No great loss, perhaps, to Napoleon ; bt
the destruction of his fleet and arsenal broke the heart of the Danish
King, who expired shortly afterwards at his castle of Rendsburg.
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The Prince-Royal refused to ratify the capitulation, and declared
war against England, asserting, in his idle rage, that he could con-
tinue hostilities until he had retaken by arms what had been taken
from him by treachery. Napoleon, of course, raised a loud cry
against Great Britain for this mighty blow, saying, “ Blood and fire
have made the English masters of Copenbagen,” and French and
European writers are even yet found to treat it asa “ scélératesse ™
and a “barbarie — terms which, it must be confessed, are quite
applicable to every operation of war, but in no way peculiar to the
siege of Copenhagen. The King of Prussia now united with Den-~
mark and Russiain a new Northern Coalition against Great Britain,
to which Sweden was constrained to accede, after the Prince of Ponte-
Corvo had made preparations to cross the Baltic to enforce it, and
that the Czar had ordered Generai Buxhowden to invade Finland.

19. CAPTURE oF HELIGOLAND.

The British frigate “ Quebee,” 32, Captain the Lord Falkland, was
ordered, at this time, to proceed and obtain possession of the Danish
jsland of Heligoland, situated in the North Sea, and forming a na-
tural defence to the shores of the Elbe, the Weser, the Ems, and the
Eyder. The ¢ Quebec ” arrived off the island on the 30th of August,
and Lord Falkland forthwith summoned the Danish Commandant
and Governor, who at first refused, but, while steps were taken 10
employ force to compel him, yielded up his trust. The ¢ Majestic,”
74, Captain Hart, carrying the flag of Vife-Admiral Macnamara
Russell, had, in effect, anchored close off the town; and on the 5th
the Danish officer, seeing the uselessness of opposition, sent an offer
to capitulate, which was accepted ; the flag of England was raised
over the little rocky island, where it still flies as a beacon in dan-
gerous waters, a guide to and an asylum for the ships of all nations.

20, NAPOLEON RETURNS T0 FRANCE-— SENDS AN ARMY INTO
THE PENINSULA,

On the morning of the 27th of July, the cannon of the Invalides
announced to the citizens that Napoleon, after an absence from
Paris of nearly a year, was amongst them once more. He had
arrived in the night at St. Cloud, and rejoined his family, who
were assembled to meet him at his accustomed summer residence.
He was waited upon there by all the great dignitaries and ministers,
and immediately announced a Session of the Corps Ligislatif,
which he opened in person on his name day, the 15th of August.
It was a glorious day and a grand féte, for he appeared among his
people as the greatest conqueror that had ever reigned in France;
and “ Voila la paix continentale assurée,” he said, “et quant a la
paix maritime nous l'obtiendrons bientt. Je viendrai i bout de
tous les résistances.” In fact, he was at the very summit of his
glory. After the most glorious of his famous campaigns, he had no
enemy capable of resisting his further progress, except the British
nation. The accounts that now arrived of their attempt on Copen-
hagen only added this little bitterness to his cup, that his enemies
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had learned to become as unscrupulous and as energetic as he would
have been himself under similar cricumstances. The success of
this affair, however, deranged his bright scheme for bringing to
bear the whole maritime power of Europe united against the navy
of England. He is described by those who were around him
to have openly lost his temper upon this news; but, as is said
of him by Thiers, “ Sa téte ardente, sans cesse en travail, ne
terminait une euvre que pour en commencer un autre,” and the
completion of his “ Continental System” now appears to have
occupied all his attention.

Having secured, by the Treaty of Tilsit, the concurrence of the
whole of the North of Europe in this system, he now had leisure to
devise how to carry it out in the southern kingdoms of Europe. No
sooner, therefore, was he arrived in Paris than he began to turn
his eyes towards the Peninsula. At a reception of the Corps
Diplomatique, in the first days of August, Napoleon briskly de-
manded of the Count de Lima, Portuguese Ambassador at the
Tuileries, what had been done by his Government to carry into
effect the exclusion of the commerce of Great Britain from the
Tagus; and as he had an old score against the wretched favourite
who mis-governed Spain, he was now in a condition to settle the
quarrel in the way most favourable to his own designs.

The Emperor had previously fomented, through Beauharnais,
his ambassador at Madrid, an intrigue calculated to embroil the
royal family of Spain in such a manner as that he might be called
in to arbitrate between them. These Bourbons were still smarting
under the dethronement of the Neapolitan branch of the house;
nevertheless, they sent the Duke de Frias to Paris, as an extraor-
dinary ambassador, to congratulate the Emperor on his triumph.
At the same time, however, M. Yzquiendo was in that capital as
particular agent for the Prince of the Peace, aud, with true Spanish
ability, was ready to be made available for any intrigues. They
soon bore fruit. Godoy, the minion of the Queen, was set against
her son, the Prince of Asturias, so that, upon a pretended con-
spiracy of the heir-apparent against the King, his father, the
Prince was arrested and confined in the Escurial Palace. The
King was a2 weak man, and easily influenced by his Queen and her
favourite, and permitted, at their instigation, the departure of
Romagna's army. A treaty was soon afterwards concluded at
Fontainebleau, by which French troops were to be admitted into
Spain, to be maintained and subsisted by that state for the ostensible
conquest of Portugal, which was tobedivided into separate kingdoms,
for the benefit of the King of Etruria and the Prince of the Peace ;
and, with some singularity under the circumstances, or some double
purpose, Napoleon named the Prince of Asturias Generalissimo of the
combined French and Spanish armies to be sent on this service. He
had already formed a camp at Bayonne of 23,000 infantry, 2000
cavalry, and 30 guns, of which he had given the command to General
Junot, who was now ordered, without further instructions, to cross the
frontier, and direct his march by way of Valladolid, Salamanca,
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Ciudad Rodrigo, and Aleantara, upon Lisbon. At the same time, he
prepared a second army, consisting of 24,000 men, with 40 guns, |
under General Dupont, the remains of the army of England in the |
camp at Boulogne, to be ready to follow Junot when required. The |
united force was short of cavalry, and there was difficulty, from some
cause or other, of collecting from the stables at Compiégne, Chartres,
Orleans, and Tours, as many as 5000 horses for this expedition.

me,he |

21, A FRrENcH ARMY, UNDER JUNOT, TAKES POSSESSION OF
PortucaL — THE RovaL FaMILY EMIGRATE To Rio DE
JaNEIRO, |

\
|

When the Prince-Regent of Portugal received the despatch
from the Count de Lima, detailing the hostile langunage of Napo-
leon and the propositions from Paris, he had just lost, by death,
his principal Minister, the Count de Villaverde, and was somewhat
bewildered 3s to the course he should pursue by the presence and
advice of Lord Strangford, the British Ambassador, and M. de Ray-
neul, Chargé d’Affaires of France, His first determination was to
yield to the Emperor Napoleon’s demands, and to exclude the com-
merce of Great Britain from Portugal, and he actually did this
by a proclamation dated the 20th of October, but Lord Strangford
demanded his passports in consequence ; but when he heard of the
assembling of a French army to take the field against him, and
reflected how completely his continental possessions in South
America lay at the merey of England, he changed his policy, and
determined to abandon his European kingdom, and take refuge in
Brazil, with the whole of the Portuguese fleet, according to the
proposal of the British Ambassador. This resolve was hastened
by the arrival in the Tagus of 9 sail of the line, under the command
of Rear-Admiral Sir Sidney Smith, which had been sent from
England on the receipt of the Prince Regent’s proclamation early in
the month, and which squadron now came to anchor on the 17th of
November, The British Ambassador forthwith repaired on board,
and the Tagus was declared in a state of blockade by the British
Admiral. Lord Strangford, however, received from England, by
extraordinary despatch, the decree issued by Napoleon on the 13th,
stating that the House of Braganca had ceased to reign, on which
he opened fresh negotiations with the Prince-Regent, who, on the
27th, proclaimed bis intention to retire, with the Queen, his
mother, and all the Royal family, to South America, and to esta-
blish his court in Rio de Janeiro, appointing a Regency to govern
the Kingdom of Portugal in his absence. The bulk of the Portu-
guese fleet was, fortunately for the Sovereign of Portugal, in readi-
ness to put to sea; and, accordingly, on the 29th, in the morning,
Vice-Admiral Don Manuel Sottomayor, having his flag on the
¢ Principe Reale,” 84, with “ Conde Henrique,” 74, ¢ Medusa,” 74,
« Principe de Brazil,” 74, “ Rainha de Portugal,” 74, “ Alfonso,
d’Albnquerque,” 74, “Don Juan de Castro,” 74, « Martino de |
Freitas,” 74, “ Mineron,” 44, “ Golfinho,” 36, “Urania ” 36, and




1807.7 JTNOT LEVIES CONTRIBUTIONS ON THE PORTUGUESE. 59

another frigate of 32 guns, together with 3 20-gun corvettes and 1
12-gun schooner, accompanied by 20 large armed merchant-ships,
set sail from Lishon. ‘The fleet received on board the whole of the
Royal family of Braganca, and many of its most faithful counscllors
and adherents, amounting in number to no less than 18,000 persons;
and they carried away with them cargoes and property to the
amount of many millions’ value. The British and Portuguese
fleets, before leaving the Tagus, ranged alongside each other,
and the junction was reciprocally announced by salutes of 21
uns.

g So desirous was General Junot of fulfilling the Emperor’s wishes
with regard to the Portuguese fleet, that, on receiving information
soon after he had crossed the frontier that the Royal family had
embarked for South America, he pushed forward in all haste
with 1500 men and 1 gun, and entered Lisbon on the morning of
the 29th November. A French emigrant, the Count de Novion, met
him at the gate of Saccavem, and with some Portuguese police they
traversed the town together, rapidly crossing the Pra¢a do Commer-
cio and the Rocio to Belem, whence he was just able to desery the
united fleets in full sail; and it is said that, in his disappointment
at their escape, he discharged at them the sole gun he had with him.
The French army followed the Marshal, and arrived by driblets each
day, until, at length, 21,000 or 22,000 soldiers were assembled under
arms, who immediately took possession of all the forts and barracks of
the capital, where they soon recompensed themselves for the fatigues
of their hurried march, and were amply provided with everything
required to perfect their organisation. Of course, Marshal Junot
had no scruple about treating the people as a conquered nation, and
accordingly he levied contributions, and exercised all the attributes
of sovercignty, disbanding and sending back to their homes the
Portuguese troops whom he found in Portugal, and placing the
administration of the kingdom in the hands of Mounsieur Hermann,
whom Napoleon had nominated to administer the Portuguese
finances, he being at the time attached to the French Legation at
Lisbon. The regency was at once formally dissolved, and the
ancient flag of Portugal was hauled down and the tricolor hoisted
in its place, under a salvo from the Moorish fort.

22, WaR IN ITALY — NAPOLEON REPAIRS THITHER ON A VISIT.

When, early in the year, Marshal Massena was summoned from
Italy to the grand army in the north, General Reynier had assumed
the command in that kingdom. ‘The Marshal had directed General
Verdier with the French troops in Calabria to lay siege to Amantea,
and the trenches were opened before it in the night of the 14th-15th
of January. A practicable breach was soon effected, and an assaalt
attempted and repulsed. On the 20th, General Revnier arrived and
took the direction of the besieging force, when mines were employed
to destroy the walls, so that on the 5th of February another assanit
was attempted, and again failed. On the 6th, however, the supplies
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of the garrison being all exhausted, Mirabelli, the Commandant,
capitulated, on permission to retire to Sicily with the garrison.
The following day the Castle of Fiume Freddo was invested; but
some dissensions took place in the garrison, who rose against
Micheli, the Governor, and gave up the fort. General Lamarque
was then sent to bring Maratea to obedience. This place, perched
upon a rock, was protected by some British frigates, and Mandasini,
the Commandant, held it for 22 days against the French, when he
likewise obtained terms to return to Sicily. On the 9th of May,
the Prince of Hesse Philipstadt, who had so successfully defended
Gaeta, landed at Reggio with 6000 men and 6 guns,and advanced to
Mileto, when he summoned Reynier, who was in the vicinity with
3000 men, to surrender, when the French General, for all answer,
marched out, on the 27th, to attack him. The Sicilian force was
well posted and defended by their guns; but two battalions, under
General Abbé, threatening either flank, while General Camus ad-
vanced with the reserve, the Sicilians were thrown into disorder,
and lost their guns, so that the Prince of Hesse had some difficulty
in reaching Reggio, with 50 cavalry only. Here he was joined by
Corem-Cantone, a celebrated partisan, and took possession of
Cortone, and, notwithstanding all the endeavours of Reynier,
he held his ground in Calabria, and gave the French divisions
so much trouble, that they could not effect an investment of Reggio
and Scylla till the last days of the year.

It does not clearly appear what was the motive of Napoleon’s
visit to Italy at this juncture, whether affairs of peace or war. He
certainly desired to consult his brother Lucien on matters connected
with his Spanish views, and perhaps he had a love for the sunny
land, which returned upon him more strongly after he had passed
a campaign so active and so long amidst the fogs and marshes of
Poland. He could not, however, leave Paris till the 16th of No-
vember, but he most unexpectedly presented himself at the cathedral
of Milan on the 21st, while they were singing a Te Deum on his
account. He had not seen his brother Joseph, nor his step-son,
Prince Eugéne, since their accession to their new honours, and they
were the two persons in the world who nestled most in his affections.
The Italian society pleased him, and wherever he went he was re-
ceived with the greatest respect. He made an excursion to Venice
on the 10th of December, and on his way thither visited Lucien.
The Queen of the Adriatic, though, perhaps, feeling but little real
warmth, was well disposed to receive the conqueror of her ancient
oligarchy with something like the enthusiasm of hope. A grand
marine féte awaited his arrival, in which a fleet of gondolas, bril-
liant with every colour, and with rich music on board, accompanied
the Imperial barge, which carried the Emperor, the Viceroy and
Vice-Queen, the King and Queen of Bavaria, the King of Naples,
the Grand-Duke of Berg, the Prince of Neufchitel, and a host of dis-
tinguished generals, to the venerable palace of the Doge, which now
for the first time received the sovereign of Italy. Amidst the varied
business which engaged his attention in this short Italian tour, Na-
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poleon saw distinetly that he had nothing to fear in that country from
Austria or any other sinister influence, but that the land was tho-
roughly tranquil and attached to his rule. He therefore resolved to
withdraw from the garrisons a considerable amount of troops, which
he directed to be sent across the Alps and Pyrenees, in order to form
a new corps-d’armée at Perpignan, to further his designs on Spain.
On the 15th he returned to Milan, where he received, with the
despatches from France, a copy of the British Orders in Council of
the 11th of November, announcing—* That all the ports and places
of France and her allies, or of any other country from which the
British flag is excluded, shall be deemed to be in a state of block-
ade; and that all trade in articles, the produce or manufacture of
the said countries, shall be deemed unlawful, and the vessels and
merchandize on board them shall be captured and condemned as
prizes to the captors.” This State paper filled him with the greatest
indignation, and he immediately sent off a requisition to his Minis-
ter of Finance and Director of Customs at Paris, to report to him
the effect that these Orders in Council would haveon the commerce
of his Empire. At the same time, too impatient in character and too
fretful under the bold reprisals of his adversary to await any reply, he
set himseif down forthwith to make a rejoinder in his own language.
This celebrated Milan decree is dated the 17th, forty-eight hours after
his return to that city and his reception of the obnoxious measure of
the British Cabinet. It sets forth, « that by these acts the British
Government denationalizes the ships of every nation in Europe- an
act of tyranny which cannot be permitted to be erected into a pre-
cedent.” Accordingly, he thunders back a Decree, which employs
identical machinery, and declares every ship denationalized which
shall have submitted to be searched by British cruisers, and which
he adjudges shall be good and lawful prizes. He then,in a spirit
of retaliation at once puerile and impotent, declares the British
Islands in astate of blockade ; and sumsup a State paper altogether
unworthy of his Chancellerie, by declaring the order in council
“a legislation such as that of Algiers,” which he followed up by
asserting principles of the law of nations which were not principles
of justice and honour. The upshot of the whole was, that while
Napoleon imposed on every conquered nation the obligation to shut
out British commerce from the Continent, Great Britain closed the
commerce of the seas in a reprisal. Tyranny, justice, and honour
had very little to say in the matter on either side. After a short visit
to Turin, where he decreed public works and new roads, he again
quitted Italy, and reached Parisin time to receive the felicitations of
his Court on the 1st of January.

23. CoLoNIAL WAR.

As soon as the British Government received the declaration of
war of those states which had now fallen into the hands of the
enemy, steps were taken to despatch British squadrons for the
seizure of their transmarine possessions, Accordingly, on the 16th
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of December, a conjunct expedition, under the command of Rear-
Admiral Hon. Sir Alexander Cochrane and Major-General Bowyer,
sailed from Barbadoes and anchored off the Danish island of St.
Thomas. Colonel Van Schoelten, the Governor, was forthwith
summoned, and the same day surrendered the colony to Great Bri-
tain; and on the 25th, the island of Santa-Cruz followed the
example. A great many merchant vessels, under the Danish flag,
became prizes to the captors in these two islands, The mode
adopted by the Danish governors to save their honour in surrender-
ing the settlements was singular. They sent officers, on whose
report they conld depend, to inspect the British troops and ascertain
the amount of their force, and, as soon as they found that they could
do nothing to justify force of arms, they consented to enter into ne-
gotiation for terms of capitulation. On the 24th, a British Expe-
dition, under the command of Rear-Admiral Sir Samuel Hood and
Major-General Beresford, anchored in Funchal Bay, and on the
26th terms of capitulation for the island of Madeira were agreed
upon with the Portuguese Governor General, D’Antas e Meneres.

24, NavaL War—RussiaN FLEET.

The Treaty of Tilsit having effected an entire change in the
politics of the Russian Emperor, Vice- Admiral Seniavin concluded
an armistice with the Porte on the 24th of August, and detached
Rear-Admiral Greig with the “ Moscow,” 74, “ St. Petro,” 66, and
some smaller vessels, to take possession of the Ionian Islands ceded to
Russia by France under that treaty, The Vice- Admiral, with the
9 sail of the line remaining to him, then hastened out of the Medi-
terranean before the expected rupture between Russia and Great
Britain might put it beyond his power to do so. In the absence of
Sir Sidney Smith from the Tagus, he ran into that port, and re-
maine‘i blocked up there till the Convention of Cintra.

25. BritisH SixcLE SHIP AND BoaT AcTIONS,

Between Great Britain and the United States there had, fora
long period, existed a spirit of irritation, caused chiefly by the im-
pressment of British seamen found on board American trading
vessels : but the commerce of the young Republic suffered yet more
severely at this juncture from the conflicting Orders in Council and
Decrees of England and France. Jefferson, the President, in con-
sequence, assumed the high language of an injured Power; but, in-
stead of showing any desire to vindicate the rights of neutrals, as he
pretended, he openly evinced, in his language and acts, a settled
hostility against the British side of the question. Since, therefore,
France could no longer trade for herself across the ocean, America
proffered her services, and found it her material interest to carry
out a trade for her, for the gains that thus accrued to American
commerce compensated in a great measure for all it suffered
from Britain in the assertion of her belligerent rights. In the
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month of February, the British store-ship * Chichester,” Captain
Edward Stopford, was alongside the navy wharf at Gosport,
in Virginia, when Captain Saunders, the American Commandant,
demanded to have three men restored to him, whom, be alleged, bad
deserted out of Fort Nelson : the men called deserters were, in con-
sequence, given up by Stopford, although they all proved to be
natives of Great Britain. At the same tine, however, five wen had
i deserted from the * Chichester ;” but, to repeated demands made, that
they should be given up, it was replied that they had been sent away
up the country. The * Bellona,” and otherships lying in the Chesa-
peake, made similar complaints of the desertion of their men, and
could obtain no redress. The U.S. frigate * Chesapeake,” 36, Cap-
tain Charles Gardner, was at this time cruising off the coast of
Virginia, and was known to have some of these men on board. A
representation of the circumstance having been made to the British
Commander-in-Chief on the station, Vice-Admiral Berkeley issued
an order on the 1st of June, that if anyof the Captains and Com-
manders under his command should meet the * Chesapeake ” at sea,
they were to show the American Captain the order, and require to
scarch the ship for deserters from His Majesty’s navy. On the 23rd
the * Leopard,” 52, Captain Salusbury Humphries, observed the
* Chesapeake” off Cape lenry, and bore down to speak her. The
American Captain denicd the deserters and refused to adinit the right
of search. Resolved not to be trifled with, and observing indications
of an intended resistance, Captain Humphries discharged a shot
across the ¢ Chesapeake’s™ fore-port, and a few minntes after-
wards poured in two broadsides. The American frigate returned a
few straggling shots, but, after a third broadside, hauled down her
colours. The deserters were discovered and taken out, when,
without any longer detaining the * Chesapeake,” the * Leopard”
sailed away. The Brilish Government, on receiving notice of the
atfair, disavowed the right claimed by the British officer, and
recalled Admiral Berkeley. ‘The result of this rencounter was the
Non-Intercourse Act on the part of the United States.

Early in the month of January the *Caroline” 36, Captain
Rainier, captured, in the Straits of St. Bernardine, the Spanish
ship “ San Rafael,” 16, having on board a valuable cargo in
copper, and balf a million of dollars in specie. On the 27th of
January the British frigate *“Jason,” 32, Captain Thomas Coch-
| rane, descried and chased a ship and brig, and presently brought
. the former to action and compelied her to strike. She proved to be
" the captured British sloop-of-war ** Favourite,” now having 29 guns

| and 2 complement of 150 men, commanded by Licutenant de Vais-

seau Le Marent-Kerdaniel : the brig escaped. On the 14th of February
the British ship * Baechante,” 20, Captain Dacres, and frigate
“ Mediator,” 32, Captain Wise, cruising off St. Domingo, captured
the French schooner “ Dauphin,” when it was resolved to make an
attack upon the fort of Saurana. Considerable address was employed
in getting near the land undiscovered, when the crew landed and
galluntly stormed and carried the fort, with a loss of 2 killed and
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16 wounded. On the 1st of October the Leeward Island packet
“ Windsor Castle,” Captain Rogers, was chased by a privateer, under
all sail, and, being unable to escape, she was summoned to surrender
and boarded ; but the assailants were driven back by the packet’s
crew, who held her fast locked by the rigging, when Captain Rogers
seized an opportunity, and, followed by five of his little crew, leaped
upon the privateer’s deck, and ultimately captured her, with the
loss of 3 men killed and 10 wounded. A more gallant action than
this was never fought by a ship of war. On the 6th of June the
British gun-brig ¢ Port d’Espagne,” 14, Lieutenant Pattison Stew-
art, detached a prize schooner to captare a Spanish privateer, which
Lieutenant Hall, the commander, effected in a very cool and brave
manner, with the loss of only 2 wounded. On the 23rd of August,
while the gun-brig “ Weasel,” 18, Captain Clavell, was lying be-
calmed in the harbour of Corfu, an officer of the Russian navy came
to him and gave information that a French garrison was in posses-
sion of the island. The “ Weasel * immediately crowded sail to get
away to Malta with the intelligence; but early in the following
morning she observed three trabaculos (a name given in the Mediter-
ranean to the variously rigged small vessels employed on its coasts)
working in along shore, and immediately made sail after them and
captured them, The prizes were found to have on board 251 French
soldiers, under the command of Colonel Devilliers, who were, of
course, made prisoners. On the same afternoon the “ Weasel ” cap-
tured another small vessel with 20 Freunch soldiers on board, all of
whom she carried away into Valetta harbour. After the Peace of
Tilsit, the Russians, as already stated, received Corfu from the
French, but Captain Clavell, meeting with their garrison, who were
sent to take possession, defeated and captured it. On the 3rd of
December the British brig-sloop “ Curieux,” 18, Captain John
Sherriff, came across the French privateer “ Revanche,” 24, and an
action ensued, in which the Captain and 4 or 5 men were killed and
several wounded. The command devolved on Lieutenant Muir, who
prepared to board, but was obliged to relinquish the attempt. The
privateer, after a volley of musketry, then sailed away, and the
“ Curieux ” was too crippled to pursue.

The Boat actions this year were more considerable than for-
merly, for there were scarcely any hostile ships.of-war left for the
British navy to grapple with on the open seas. The love of enter-
prise among her officers, however, always gave them something to
do. On the 6th of January the frigate “ Impérieuse,” 38, Captain
Lord Cochrane, despatched her boats, under the orders of Lieu-
tenant Mapleton, to bring out of the basin of Arcasson, near the Gi-
ronde, whatever vessels might be found there. The first step adopted
by Mapleton was to attack and carry Fort Requette, at the entrance
of the inlet. He spiked the guns, and destroyed all the military
stores in the fort, but could find no vessels in the basin. On the
21st, off the coast of Caraccas, the frigate ¢ Galatea,” 32, Captain
Sayer, discovered from her mast-head asail steering for La Guayra,
which proved to be the French brig-corvette «“ Lynx,” 16, Lieut.
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de Vaissean Fargenel, with despatches; and, finding her shut in
coastwise by the course she was pursuing, the Captain hoped to
obtain possession of her. Accordingly, 6 boats,under the command
of Lieutenant Coombe in the barge, pushed off from the ship, each
of which was directed to make the best of its way separately, but
not to engage before the barge got up. In this way the boats un-
dauntingly advanced, and, as soon as Lieutenant Coombe got within
pistol-shot of the “ Lynx,” he led the boarders, with three cheers, close
alongside her. She opened so heavy a fire, however, thata first and
second attempt failed. At length, the British gained the French-
man’s deck, when a most desperate and bloody conflict ensued, which
terminated in favour of the boarders, They had been seven hours
in the chase under a burning sun, but the whole contest only occu-
pied 15 minutes of darkness. The ¢ Galatea” had, however, made
so much way in the interval, that it was 3 o’clock in the morning
before the “ Lynx,” with her captors astern, regained the frigate.
The French corvette lost 14 killed and 20 wounded, and, amongst
the latter, her Lieutenant ecommanding. The British lost 9 killed,
including one officer, and 22 wounded, including Lieutenant Coombe,
who had already a wooden leg, and was now wounded again in the
same thigh. 'The ship-sloop * Lark,” 18, Captain Nicholas, cruising
off the Spanish main, had captured some Spanish gardacostas, and
now discovered, on the 1st of February, a fleet of market-boats,
under convoy of two gun-boats and an armed schooner. The market-
boats at once ran on shore, but the gun-boats and schooner sheltered
themselves under a 4-gun battery in Zispata bay. The *Lark”
silenced the fort, but could not follow the vessels into the shallows;
Captain Nicholas, therefore, went himself in his boats with 100
men and boys. The Spaniards rowed out to meet the British, who
kept up a resolute fire till they neared, when the enemy turned and
fled ; but the sternmost gun-vessel was boarded and carried, while
the other gun-boats and the schooner got safe up the creek, and,
though pursued till the 5th, could not be captured. On the 15th the
* Comus,” 22, Captain Coveny Shipley, cruising off Grand Canaria,
sent her boats, under the orders of Lieutenants Watts, Hood, Xnight,
and Campbell, of the Marines, to cut out some vessels in the harbour
of Puerta de Hag, in which they succeeded, with the single casualty
of Lieutenant Campbell wounded. On the 15th of May, Captain
Shipley again sent in his boats, under Lieutenant Watts, to bring
away & large armed felucca from under the cross-fire of three
batteries. She was boarded and carried, but her sails and rudder
had been taken ashore, and therefore the boats were delayed under
a severe fire, by which 6 men were killed and wounded. The
felucea, which was at length secured, had on board some Spanish
troops, all of whom were killed, wounded, or taken.

On the 19th, the gun-brig “ Richmond,” Lieutenant Heming,
discovered a lugger, with Spanish colours flying, in a little bay
to the northward of Peruche, and, as soon as it was dark, de-
tached two boats, under Lieutenant Bush, who pulled boldly
into the bay, and, in the face of a heavy fire, boarded and
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carried the privateer ¢ Galliard,” 4, with a crew of 36
men. On the 5th of June, the British frigate * Pomone,” 38,
Captain Barrie, discovered a convoy, under the escort of three
armed brigs, off the Pertuis-Breton. As soon as she got within
random shot, two of the brigs ran on shore, and the third was
abandoned by the crew. Lieutenant Jones was sent in the six-oared
cutter to take possession, when several vessels of the convoy were
observed to be becalmed. As soon as the Lieutenant came up with
them, the crews took to their boats, but 14 brigs, sloops, and chasse-
marées were captured.  On the 6th of August, the frigate ¢ Hydra,”
38, Captain Mundy, chased into the harbour of Begur, on the coast
of Catalohia, three armed vessels. On recounoitring the port, it
was discovered that these vessels lay in a narrow harbour, under
the close protection of a fort and a tower upon a cliff, and of rocks
and bushes well snited for the concealment of soldiery. Neverthe-
less, Captain Mundy, having a stroug reliance on the firmness and
resources of his people, resolved to attempt to cut them out.
Having, therefore, anchored, with springs on his cables, to assist
with his heavy guns, he sent in one divison of his boats, with 50
men, under Lientenant Drury, who, in defiance of cannon, lang-
ridge, and musketry, landed, and mounted the chiff to assault the
fort; but the enemy, having spiked the guns, abandoned it on the
one side, as the “ Hydra’s” men entered it on the other. Lieutenant
Drury then advanced to the town, when the French crews aban-
doned their vessels, and, at the expiration of less than three hours,
Drury was in complete possession of all the vessels, and, notwith-
standing a galling fire, commenced carrying out his prizes; but, on
seeing the difficulties he had to contend with, Captain Mundy sent
the remainder of his boats to the assistance of the Lieutenant and
his little party, when the whole were secured. The captured
polacres were “ Prince Eugeéne,” 16, “ Belle Caroline,” 12, and
brig “ Carmen de Rosario,” 4. It will scarcely be credited that
this very spirited and well-conducted enterprise cost only 7 casnal-
ties. On the 18th, the ship-sloop ¢ Confiance,” 18, Captain Lucas
Yeo, received information that a lugger privateer was in the port
of Guardis, on the coast of Portugal. The Captain despatched
Lieutenant Hovenden Walker, with his boats, to cut her out; and,
notwithstanding that she lay under the fire of two forts, the
“ Reitrada” was boarded and carried without the slightest loss,
On the 25th, the frigate ¢ Clyde,” 38, Captain Owen, cruising
between Fécamp and Yport, despatched her boats, under Lieutenant
Strong, to intercept a coasting sloop, who, when she saw herself
pursued, ran on shore, where she was defended by a battery. The
Lieutenant followed her, and, in spite of the opposition he experi-
enced from soldiery with a field-piece, as well as from the guns of
the battery, he boarded and floated the sloop, and carried her away
without injury to a single man. On the 7th of October, the
“ Porcupine,” 22, Captain Hon. Henry Duncan, having chased
a trabacculo into Zupiano, an island in the Adnatlc despatched
her boats, under the command of Lieutenant Price, who, notwith-




standing that the gun-vessel had moored herself to the shore, with
four cables, gallantly boarded and captured the ¢ Safo,” Enseigne
de Vaissean A. Ghega, together with a guard-boat, manned with
French soldiers. On the 27th of November, the same Lieutenant
Price, in the cutter of the “ Porcupine,” captured two vessels in the
port of Ragusa, and, on the 29th, went in with the boats to Zuliano,
where he took and destroyed several trabacculos. On the 25th, the
ship-sloop * Herald,” 18, Captain Hony, observed an armed trabac-
culo under the fortress of Otranto. He, therefore, sent in the boats
commanded by Lieutenant Foreman, who, in the face of a heavy
fire of great guns and musketry, boarded and brought out the
“ César,” 4, privateer, with only one man hurt. On.the 24th
of November, the armed brig “ Anne,” 10, Lieutenant James
M‘Kenzie, having in her company the Spanish lugger-privateer
“ Vansijo,” 7, which she had captured, observed 10 Spanish gun-
boats coming out from the island of Tenifa, and finding, from the
calm state of the weather, that, in the teeth of such superiority of
force, he could not escape, shortened sail, to receive his oppo-.
nents. As soon as they closed, they commenced the action, and, in
a quarter of an hour, the lugger struck her colours, but the “ Anne”
continued the struggle, and, after about three hours’ fighting, the
Spaniards swept out of gun-shot, carrying away with them their
recovered prize. The contest had been carried on for nearly an
hour and a balf within pistol-shot, and each of the gun-hoats
carried 4 guns, with crews of from 40 to 60 men, yet, wonderful to
relate, their fire did not injure a man on board the “ Anne.” On
the 6th of November, the boats of the British frigate ** Renommdée,”
36, Captain Sir Thomas Livingstone, and brig-sloop * Grass-
hopper,” 18, Captain Searle, were sent, under Licutenant Webster,
to endeavour to cut out some vessels below the Torre de Eustachio,
near Cartagena, and they succeeded in getting possession of a
Spanish brig and French tartan, of 6 guns each, but, in carrying
them off, both vessels grounded. A continual fire of grape was
immediately opened upon them, by which several of the crews of the
captured ships, with women and children, were wounded. Webster,
therefore, generously abandoned the prizes, without firing them.
On the 11th of December, the same two ships, off Cape Palos,
descried a brig and two settees at anchor, on which they opened a
fire of round and grape, when the Spanish brig « San Josef,” 10,
Lieutenant Don Antonio de Torres, struck to the “ Grasshopper,”
but the “ Medusa,” 10, and the “ Aigle,” 8, sailed away.

-

26, NavaL WaR IN THE INDIAN OcEeaN.

Rear-Admiral Sir Edward Pellew, commanding in the In-
dian Seas, with the ¢ Culloden,” 74, bearing his flag ; « Powerful,”
74, Captain Pamplin; “ Caroline,” 36, Captain Rainier; * Fox,”
32; and “ Psyche,” 36, Captain Fleetwood Pellew, with several
sloops and transports having troops on board, sailed from Malacea
in the month of May in search after two Dutch 68-gun ships, which
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had escaped from Batavia. The ¢ Psyche” and ¢ Caroline” were
despatched in pursuit to the harbour of Griessie, at the eastern
exiremity of Java, but on arriving off Point Panka, on the 30th of
August, they ascertained that the two ships sought for were in
harbour but were not worth capture. The two frigates then stood
to the westward, and on the 31st entered the roads of Samarang.
The boats were immediately sent in under the command of Lieu-
tenant Kersteman to bring out some vessels at anchor there, which
service being performed, the vessels again weighed and made sail
after some strange vessels who were endeavouring to escape. As
soon as these three vessels found themselves chased they ran them-
selves on shore and opened a well directed fire upon the “ Psyche.”
This was returned with such effect that in a few minutes the
“ Resolute,” armed merchant ship with a valuable cargo on board,
struck her colours. The “ Psyche’s” boats were then prepared to
go in and board the other vessels, when the Dutch national cor-
vette, * Seipio,” 24, Captain Carrage (who had been mortally
wounded), also struck. Shortly afterwards the “ Ceres,” 12, fired a
broadside and hauled down her colours. All these prizes were by
the exertions of the British crews got afloat and carried off. When
this spirited affair was communicated to the Admiral, on the 5th of
December, he proceeded with his squadron to Griessie, and sent a
flag of truce to demand the surrender of the two ships lying there,
which the Dutch Commodore met with a flat refusal. ~ Accordingly,
on the 6th the “ Culloden” and “ Powerful” sailed in, and were
saluted by a battery of 12 guns at Sambelangau with hot shot,
which, however, the Admiral soon silenced, and the Governor and
Council of Sourabaya becoming dismayed, disclaimed the act of
their Commodore and gave up the ships, which were set on fire,
nd the guns and military stores in the battery were destroyed.

On the 15th of April, off Cheribon, to the eastward of Batavia,
three proas, under Dutch colours, were brought to by the boats of
the sloop “ Vietor,” Captain Bell; but the people on board were so
unmanageable that the Captain fired a carronade into one of them,
which, unfortunately, reached some powder and blew up the after
part of the ship. The prisoners, on this, commenced a furious
attack, throwing spears and knives, and firing pistols; but, by
the great exertions of the ship’s crew, the proas were cut adrift
and the fire was providentially subdued, when attention was
turned to the proas, which were taken possession of, after 80
of the insurgents were laid dead, in little more than half an
hour, and the rest driven below. Nothing short of the most
«determined valonr and coolness could have saved the ship
under such circumstances. One Lieutenant and seven men were
killed in the struggle, and the Captain and 25 wounded. On
the 9th of October the “ Modeste,” 36, Hon. Captain Elliot, cap-
tured the French corvette, “ La Jéna,” 24, The « Psyche,” 36,
Captain Fleetwood Pellew, boarded and captured an armed schooner
and a merchant brig off the port of Samarang, and subsequently an
armed ship of 700 tons with a valuable cargo, a brig of 12 guns,
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and a corvette of 24 guns, all which she safely carried into Madras
roads.

The most severe blow to the commerce of Holland was, however,
the attack of the Admiral upon Java, where, with the trifling loss
of 1 killed and 5 wounded, 10 ships of war, mounting more
than 150 guns, were boarded and destroyed in the Roads. In the
latter part of the previous year, Rear- Admiral Sir Thomas Trow-
bridge was directed to proceed with his flag on board the ¢ Blen-
heim,” 74, to the command of the Cape Station. It will be
remembered that this gallant officer was the friend of Jervis and
the companion of Nelson, and a man of the same daring spirit as those
pre-eminently brave men. He was coming out of the Indian
seas when he got on shore in the Straits of Malacea, which so
iujured his ship that his Captain reported it as unsafe for naviga-
tion. Sir Thomas, who was one of those men who made it his
pride to overcome difficulties, persisted in his resolution to sail in
her to the Cape of Good Hope, and on the 12th of January quitted
Madras in company with the *Java,” 36, Captain Pigot, and the
brig “ Harrier,” 18, Captain Finlay. The latter was the oniy one
of the three which reached her destination, having parted with her
consorts in a tremendous gale off Madagascar. The gallant and
deeply-regretted Admiral, with the two captains and their ships,
were never again heard of.

27. SpaIN.

The French army, under Junot, had entered Spain, with the full
consent of the Government, for the avowed purpose of making a
conquest of Portugal ; but, on the 22nd of November, without any
authority or permission asked for or given, 24,000 French infantry
and 4000 horse, with 40 guns, under Dupont, followed by 25000
infantry and 3000 horse, with 40 guns, under Moncey, defiled
towards the Ebro, upon Madrid, while 12,000 infantry and
2000 horse, with 20 guns, took the road to Barcelona. The
march of these troops was not even notified to the King, whose
utter nothingness was duly appreciated by the French Emperor.
The following exposition of the resources, naval and military, of
the King of Spain and the Indies, as given by M. Thiers, who
assures us that it was fully known to Napoleon, will show that the
kingdom lay an easy conquest before him, without the sad chapter
of deceit now about to be opened, and the disgraceful kidnapping
of the whole Royal family which formed a portion of it, the con-
scquences of which so fully justified Talleyrand’s mot, that the
blunder was worse than the crime.

The Spanish marine, under Carlos Tercero and his minister,
Florida Blanca, though not what it had been in the niore glorious
days of Spain, consisted of 76 ships of the line and 51 frigates, at
the death of that monarch in 1785. At the period of the French
invasion there were only 25 ships of the line fit for service, with 20
frigates, of which one-half were not worth the cost of repair, while
of this force but six were victualled and ready for sea, and these
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had never quitted the harbour for three years. There were only two
ships of war on the stocks, and these had been so long in building
that it was thought they were now scarcely worth completion. The
great arsenals at Ferrol, Cadiz, and Cartagena were without stores
of any kind, and the buildings themselves were falling into decay.
The great magazine of Cadiz, which had been burned down nine
years since, had never been restored, and the cannon remained still
buried under the ruins. The great rope-walks of Cadiz and Carta-
gena were without hemp ; and the finest oaks lay felled in the forests
of Old Castile, Biscay, and Asturias, waiting for transport to the
ship-yards, where stores of all kinds were sold by the speculators,
rather than purchased for the use of the State. The sailors of the
fleet and the workmen in the dockyards were left two years in
arrear of pay. In opposition to this scandalous dearth of naval
necessities, there was a singularly numerous list of marine officers,
namely, a Grand- Admiral and nearly 100 Admirals, upwards of 200
Captains, with more than 100 persons ostensibly belonging to the
civil administration of a fleet which did not number a dozen ships
of war of any kind ready for sea.

The Spanish army, at this time, counted on paper about 60,000
infantry and 15,000 cavairy, including the 6000 Walloon guards,
11,000 Swiss, and 2000 Irish; but of these 14,000 men had been
marched to the North of Lurope, under Romana, and about 15,000
or 16,000 had accompanied Junot for the conquest of Portugal.
The strong places were all in the worst condition. Of those oppo-
site Gibraltar, that old Spanish sore, Ceuta was ill supplied with
magazines and only half garrisoned ; andin the camp of St. Roche
there were only 8000 or 9000 men. The whole of the Royal army,
except the guards, was ill clothed. ill supplied, under great arrears
of pay, and without military training or military spirit, un corps
suns dme. Yet there was a great supply of officers. A General-
issimo and five Captains-Gerent, nearly 500 General officers, and
some 2000 Colonels!

Neverthcless, the Spaniards, as a nation, have every requisite in
their character for the purposes of war. High-minded, yet sub-
missive to lawful authority : abstemious, and contented with the
simplest fare and clothing; they never murmur under fatigue or pri-
vation ; brave, and capable of endurance, they are very rarely indeed
given to desert their colours. Such were the men ; but there never
were such officers in any country that has ranked among civilised
nations. The regiments resembled hollow trees, out of which the
white ant had eaten the strength, but left the mocking bark. The
greater portion of the superior officers only held honorary rank, and
never joined their regiments; while subalterns might be seen
waiting behind the chairs of the great in their uniforms, and even
asking alms of the passers-by in the streetrs. The higher classes of
tke Peninsula, both male and female, had, at this time, so widely
degenerated, that shame of every kind had ceased amongst them,
yet the peasantry had partaken very little of the national degeneracy.
They were devoutly and proudly attached to their country, boasting
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it to be above every other country in the world, and were of one
heart and one mind in all that regarded their native honour. Spain
was still, in its lower classes, the land of romance, of chivalrous gal-
lantry, and of dance and song.  The nationality of the Spaniards,
and the geographical position of their country, to which that
nationality is partly owing, still preserved many of the characteris-
tics of the age of chivalry.

The simultaneous and unanimous decision to resist oppression
manifested by the whole nation when Napoleon unmasked his
designs upon their country—a universally-pervading sentiment that
they would not, and therctore could not, be conquered—is a trait
of strong patriotic feeling, which must ever remain an enduring
monument of the solid qualities which belong to this grand old
people.*

1808.
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1. COMMENCEMENT OF THE PENINSULAR WaR.

ALTHOUGH these “Annals” are expressly precluded from recounting
the causes of war—and it is not particularly necessary that the steps
which led to thatof the Peninsula should be stated at length—still
a brief snmmary may be required to connect the chain of events.
It is melancholy to see the laurel-crowned hero of Austerlitz, Jena,
Friedland, and the conqueror of half the globe, descending to
the meanest intrigues and subterfuges, in order to obtain possession
of the yet remaining kingdom of the Continent which had not suc-
cumbed to his sword. But the insatiate appetite of French con-
quest was never to be satisfied, without possession of the Peninsula.
Without going back to the treaty of the Pyrenees. Prince Talleyrand
had, as early as July, 1806, let fall, in conversation with an English
diplomatist, that the army for the invasion of Portugal was already
assembling at Bayonne, and it is to the influence and representations
of that wily politician that history assigns the promptings, if not
the machinations, that preceded the war we have now to narrate,
The Spanish Royal family was at this period divided and dis-
tracted to a degree unprecedented, even in that most fertile soil of
intrigue and crime. The King, not destitute of good qualities,
was indolent, and, like many who sit upon an autocratic throne,
ready to surrender himself, without scruple, to the direction of men
who, taking all trouble off his hands, would leave him to his pur-
suits and pleasures. Charles IV. had a favourite minister, Emanuel
Godoy, Prince of the Peace, who was, at the same time, the minion
of his Queen, a woman of spirit and capacity, but sensual and cor-
rupt. A blue-blooded nobility regarded this influential upstart
with undisguised aversion ; but the Spanish Court, and, indeed, itis
tol be feared, the whole Spanish nation, with the exception of the
peasantry, was at this period so sunk in the very lowest depths of
dissoluteness and corruption that the tie between the Queen and
Minister was not an object of public reprehension; for the King
himself lived openly with a mistress who had brought him several
children, and the royal blood of Spain was a heterogeneous mixture,
the result of every species of adulterous and even incestuous inter-
conrse. The high nobility, indeed, were a degenerate race, but the
“ bold peasantry, a country’s pride,” with a somewhat purer morality,
wasas fine a race as any in Europe, and quite equal, as was afterwards
proved, to maintain the independence of their country. Don Manuel
Godoy, though of afamily of noble origin, was of such low parentage
as to have been a private in the King's Body Guard, where her Ma-
jesty * blest the promise that his form portrayed,” and in five
years exalted him to great power, had him created Prince of the
Peace for negotiating the treaty of Bile in 1795, and married him
to a niece of the King. Godoy was at this time still further advan-
cing his ambition by the union of a danghter of this marriage to
the King of Etruria. But, if the nobility looked askance at such
an intruder, the son of the King, the heir-apparent of the Mon-
archy, was less likely to tolerate the presumption of an adventurer
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i who disgraced the character of his mother, assumed an equality

’ with himself, and supplied the prodigality in which he indulged by
| the open sale of public offices, and by the receipt of bribes of every
. deseription. Ferdinand, Prince of Asturias, who had recently lost
his wife, a princess of the Neapolitan house of Bourbon, was at this |
time four-and-twenty years of age. Brought up in the strictest |
principles of the Roman Catholic Church, he was entirely under
| the influence of his confessor, the Canon Escoiquiz, but the Duke f
del Infantado, the Duke de San Carlos, and other influential
nobles, espoused his party. !

To avail himself of a condition of things so well suited to his
purposes, Napoleon sent Eugéne Beauharnais to Madrid. as his
ambassador. By his suggestion, Ferdinand was induced to aspire
to a matrimonial alliance with the Imperial family, and, with that
object, was induced to solicit it in an autograph letter to the French
ruler, couched in very humble terms.

While Escoiquiz held this thread of intrigue in his hand, with-
out the knowledge of king or favourite, Godoy had sent a creature
of his own, one lzquierdo, to France, to negotiate the famous treaty
of Fontainebleau, which was to secure for the favourite a portion of
the spoils of the partition of Portugal for an independent sovercignty |
— a scheme which was likewise carried on in secret at the same
moment, without the knowledge of the Spanish Ambassador at Paris.
By the terms of this convention, a French army was to be per-
mitted to traverse the Peninsula to Lisbon, at the cost of the
Spanish Government, while two Spanish corps were to take posses-
sion of those portions of the "annihilated kingdom which were to
fall to the lot of Godoy and the King of Etruria.

So many intrigues could scarcely remain long concealed, and
Isquierdo, getting scent at Fontainebleau of the matrimonial letter |
addressed by the Prince of Asturias to Napoleon, denounced it to !
Godoy. The favourite saw at once the danger to himself of this ‘;
admission of the Heir-Apparent to an alliance with the family of
the great disposer of honour, since he knew how large a score of
grievances remained to be settled with that Prince, all which might
be brought by this new influence to mar his own ambition. He,
therefore, advised the King to take the bold step of arresting his son,
His Majesty, accordingly, on the 29th of October, committed Ferdi-
nand a close prisoner to the Escurial, on a charge of high treason,
for presuming to contract a family alliance without the consent of |
the Crown. The royal prisoner was actually deprived of all his
attendants, and surrounded by sentries; and, at the same time, a
seizare was made of all his correspondence. In the mass taken
possession of there was, of course, found information relative toall
the intrigues in progress, which afforded Godoy the golden oppor-
tunity of utterly ruining him in public opinion; and the Queen,
hating him with all the rancour of an adulterous mother, would not
have been sorry had his unpopularity led to his death. The Prince
of Asturias was conscious of this, and, justly alarmed for his life,
he hastened to reveal, in a private interview, the names of all the
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parties, not excluding even the French Ambassador, who had been
privy to the various proceedings. These revelations, however, were
80 extensive that they embarrassed the favourite, for he was not
certain how far the French Emperor had himself entered into these
projects, and all his own hopes were centred on the consummation
of his advancement to a throme, by carrying out the treaty
of Fontainebieau. Napoleon, on the other hand, was secretly re-
joiced to learn that father, son, and favourite were all embroiled
together, and, while he professed to have nothing to do with the
domestic concerns of the King of Spain, he secretly aided the cause
of the Prince, who was accordingly pardoncd and released.

2., THE FRENCH SEIZE THE SPANISH FnroNTIER FORTRESSES.

During the progress of these events, Napoleon prepared and
organized very considerable armies for the subjugation of the very
State with which he was then negotiating as a friend and protector.
The two corps-d’armée of Junot and Dupont, had been marched
across the Pyrenees, and the former had already reached Lisbon.
Dupont had crossed the frontier as the reserve of Junot,and, by the
first days of January, had attained Valladolid, where he established
his head-quarters, pushing forward an advance to Salamanca. A
third army had now been formed to follow the first two, which was
called corps d’observation des cétes de Pocéun ; this was placed under
the command of Marshal Moncey. The head of this column crossed
the Bidassoa on the 9th, and was directed to move by the coast and
spread itself over the province of Biscay, in order to be ready to
advance, when required, upon Castile. At the other extremity of
the Pyrenean chain, the troops which had been sent out of Italy
by direction of the Emperor now began to arrive, and composed,
under General Duhesme, the army of observation of the Eastern
Pyrenees. These troops were now moved forward. FEarly in
February they were headed by two regiments of infantry forming
the brigade of General Nicholas, who, under a false pretext, halted
at Figueras, while the rest of the column pressed on towards Bar-
celona. The French General asked permission to quarter his troops
in the citadel of San Fernando, which from weakness or treachery
was granted, and next morning pursued his march with one regi-
ment, while the other remained behind in assured possession of one
of the most modern and best fortified frontier fortresses, which
had been only garrisoned by some 300 men.

On the arrival of Duhesme’s division at Barcelona, it was given
out that it was to proceed to Valencia, and, on the 15th, the troops
were under marching orders, and were formed up for inspection
upon the glacis of the citadel. All the idlers of the city were
present to witness this review and hear the music, when, suddenly,
two companies, on the right, divested themselves of their packs and
haversacks, and, covertly marching to the rear of the ling, suddenly
turned in at the gate of the citadel, and seized the drawbridge
before it could be raised. General Lechi, commanding the Italian
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division, arrived at the same moment, at a gallop, with his staff,

announcing a visit to the Commandant. In a short time the French

were masters of the fort. This is a regular pentagon, of no great
© antiquity, at the north-east of the town, having on the south an in-
| accessible tower, on a rock, called Mont-Jouic. General Duhesme,
without a moment’s delay, repaired thither, and, descending at the
i quarters of the Count d’Ezpeleta, the Captain-General of the Pro-
. vince, astounded His Excellency by saying : ¢ Mes soldats occupent
[ votre citadelle; ouvrez moi 4 I'instant les portes de Mont-Jouie :
! car 'Empereur Napoléon m’a ordonné de mettre garnison dans vos
" forteresses. Si vous hésitez je déclare la guerre i I'Espagne, et
| vous serez responsable, envers votre Prince et votre nation, des
2 torrens de sang que votre résistance aura fait couler.” The old
; General, who had received express directions on no account to
\ compromise his nation with the French allies, alarmed at the use
i of Napoleon’s name, timidly or corruptly yielded, and the capital of
i Catalonia was occupied withouta blow.

It was on the very same night that the same game was played
out at the Spanish fortresses on the western frontier. Three bat-
talions under Brigadier Darmagnac entered Spain by the pass of
Roncevalles, and were received at the gates, and duly billeted in
the town of Pampeluna as friends. The important citadel of this
place was garrisoned by 700 men, under the Marquis de Valle San-
toro. 1t was full of every kind of requisite of war, and, accordingly,
the French soldiers were admitted, but only in fatigue dress, to
obtain their rations within the citadel, together with the rest of
the garrison, but the Spanish Commandant always took the pre-
caution of raising the drawbridge when the foreign soldiers were
inside. It was necessary, therefore, for the French Commander to
have recourse to a trick to obtain possession. Darmagnac took
a lodging designedly upon the open space which separates the town
from the fort, and, on the night of the 15-16th, he introduced
100 grenadiers into his house, who entered it, after nightfall, one
by one, with only their muskets and sidearms. At 7 in the morn-
ing, the soldiers were sent, as usual, to receive their rations in the
citadel, accompanied by their Colonel, Robert, a man of intelli-
gence and energy. It happened to be a very wet morning, and,
under the pretence of awaiting the arrival of their Quartermaster,
these soldiers lolled about the approaches, some on the draw-
bridge, some with the guard in the guard-room. Upon a given
signal, they rushed to the arms-rack, seized the Spanish soldiers’
muskets, and knocked down the sentries with the butt-ends; they
then lowered the drawbridge, so as to admit, at the same moment,
the grenadiers from Darmagnac’s house, who assailed the interior
of the citadel. The united force had little difficulty in securing a
bastion, armed with 15 guns, which commanded the entrance and
the ditch, so that the French General was in possession of the
ramparts \’re the Spaniards could, individually, shake off the
French soldiers, who held them fast. Darmagnac then proceeded
to announce to the Viceroy, that, as his division would be obliged to
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remain at Pampeluna for some days, it was necessary for the safety
of his men that they should hold the citadel in concert with the
garrison, but that it would not make any difference in the alliance
between the two countries, or in the intercourse and friendship of
the soldiery themselves. It had been a kind of proverb in Spain,
since Cisneros dismantled Navarre, that ¢ the possessor of Pam-
peluna is master of the province, and the possessor of the citadel is
master of Pampeluna.” If so then the French General had already
secured Navarre.

But the game, which had been hitherto so successful, had still to
be played out through the province. At San Sebastian, where Briga-
dier Thouvenot was sent to establish a depot, to which the stragglers
of all the French regiments, as they entered Spain, were ordered to
repair and report themselves, a very numerous force was assembled
and organised, and, in a very short time, they were sufficiently strong
to overcome the two Spanish regiments which formed the garrison.
The Duke de Crillon, the Governor, won over, it is feared, at once
gave in, on the sole condition that the keys were to be restored to
him, if his conduct should not be approved by the King. Thus were
occupied, by the treachery and artifice of the French, the four im-
portant frontier towns of Spain, commanding the great roads leading
from Perpignan and Bayonne into Catalonia, Navarre, and Biscay ;
namely, Figueras, Barcelona, St. Sebastian, and Pampeluna.

Napoleon, like all great conquerors, considered that success in
war justified anything, even though accomplished through deceit and
violence ; yet, with this flagrant example before them, French writers
are found to waste their indignation on the English for taking pos-
session of the Danish fleet ; nevertheless, in justice to the Emperor,
he did not trouble himself with any elaborate justification of this

' conduct, but proceeded to the further means of successfully working
out his designs. He had formed his camps in a kind of echelon, ex-
tending as far back as the banks of the Loire. Orders were issued,
in the month of March, that these should all move forward. Dar-
magnac, therefore, made way for General Merle with his division
from the Bidassoa, and the troops from Orleans and Poictiers
marched up to Bayonne. Marshal Bessiéres was sent down to take the
command of all the scattered forces which had entered the Western
Pyrenees, already numbering about 25,000 men. Nor did the ever-
thoughtful Emperor sleep a moment upon his first successes. A
degree of activity and vigour was suddenly seen to displace the
silent grandeurs of all the Caminos Reales that debouch from the
Pyrenees. Rations of biscuit, promptly baked in all these frontier
fortresses, were forwarded, and meaas of transport were organised
for their advance to the most forward posts oceupied by the French
troops; the convents, in the large towns, wereunscrupulously emptied
of their idle occupants, and converted into barracks, hospitals, and
arsenals — French commandants everywhere superseded the Spanish
officials, who, heing wholly left without instructionsuietly gave
up their alithority, and rested in a sort of trance of astonishment at
the boldness of these usurpations. It was needful, however, to make
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all these isolated successes work to one common resuit; and, ac-
cordingly, the Emperor fixed his eye on Murat, to proceed to the
Peninsula as Commander-in-Chief. The Grand-Duke of Berg had
formed a sort of friendship with the Prince of the Peace, and
it was thought that, while this would disarm the favourite, the
frank, soldier-like bearing of the man would attract and gratify
the people. Without a word of consultation or instruction, Murat
received orders, in the night of the 20th of February, to proceed to
Bayonne, and, without waiting to collect a staff, or even to provide
his horses, his habitnal deference for his mysterious brother-in-law
expedited him, the same evening, upon his errand. He *“ found con-
fusion worse than confounded”at Bayonne. Full of conscripts, men
without military discipline; artillery, bread, shoes, and all supplies,
collected without arrangement or transport; and the munitions de
bouche et de guerre, ordered for Junot’s army, clashing with what
had been supplied for Marshal Moncey’s troops. The Marshal
Grand-Duke knew the Emperor too well to pass over thiswithout
attention, and stopped at Bayonne till the 10th of March, to bring
this chaos into order, and thence proceeded to Vittoria and Burgos,
where he arrived on the 13th. Here he received the further orders
of the Emperor, who had replied to his éarnest inquiries as to what
was the Imperial policy, ¢ Le reste ne vous regarde pas, et si je ne
vous dis rien, c’est que vous ne devez rien savoir.” He was
ordered to put his army in motion, on the 19th or 20th, in two
columns, Moncey by way of Somo-Sierra, and Dupont by way of
Segovia, so that both should be at Madrid about the 22nd or 23rd.
In the meantime, Napoleon ordered forward his Guard, the sure
presage of his own intention to repair in person into the Peninsula,
and these, under Marshal Bessiéres, were already in movement
from Bayonne by the middle of April.

3. Discovery oF THE DESIGNS oF NAPOLEON.

The Minister-favourite awoke from his illusive dream of ambi-
tion like one on the morning succeeding a debauch. He saw con-
fusedly an ememy in every corner, the kingdom overrun with
French troops, living at free quarters, and the frontier fortresses
already in their possession. The treaty of Fontaineblean had
become a dead letter even before it was ratified, and the provinces
which he thpught were to have formed his sovereignty were
already occupied by Junot’s corps-d’armée, without any reference
whatever to him or his authority. There was no strength left in
his bones, and he perfectly reeled when he reflected that the armies
of Spain had been all clandestinely removed, under various pretexts,
from the kingdom. Romagna was away on the shores of the Baltie,
and the rest of the national forces were scattered, in small bodies,
north and south on the frontiers of Portugal; while Prince Murat,
with the tttle of Lientenant of the Emperor, and with a French
army, was advancing on Madrid. Izquierdo, the agent of Godoy,
finding himself, for some time, laid aside at Paris, and unable to
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penetrate the various negotiations, had returned to Spain on the 5th,
bringing with him new propositions, which tended to the complete
disruption of all his hopes, and contained a formal requisition made
by Napoleon for the removal of the Spanish fleet to "Toulon.

The Queen and Godoy were utterly astounded when they
suddenly saw the abyss that yawned before them. The example of
their kinsfolk of the house of Braganza, who, in their dilemma, had
sought refuge from the ills that threatened them in Europe, by
fleeing to their South American possessions, came naturally to the
mind of the Royal Camarilla, and the idea was entertained (though
sorely against the old King's wish, who was ready to sacrifice his
honours, enjoyments, throne, and people to remain at home,) of re-
moving the court to Mexico. The Prince of the Peace declared that
he would rather carry off the King by force than await the arrival
of the French armies at Aranjuez. To temporise, or perhaps the
better to conceal this project, Izquierdo was sent back to Paris, on
the 11th, ostensibly to discuss the new propositions of the }rench
Cabinet, but there were now plenty of eyes and ears, which scru-
tinised and reported the sayings and doings of the Camarilla. The
courtiers were scen to be busy packing up their valuables, although
it was given out that the Court was only about to move into
Andalusia. However, it had reached Paris that troops, with guns,
were ordered to assemble in force, under Don Miguel de Cevallos,
and that five frigates were preparing, in great haste, at Cadiz!

4, Tre RovaL FamiLy rrEPARE FokR FLiGHT — TumuLr
AT ARANJUEZ.

It would be difficult to paint the excitement of the Spanish people
as the circumstances which have been related came gradually to
light. Corrupt asthe Court and the aristocracy had become, to such
an extent, indeed, as that every man and woman of the upper
classes had their price, yet the humbler classes still possessed the
ancient Castilian pride, and beheld, with ill-suppressed mortifica-
tion, the furtive proceedings of an unscrupulous ally to deceive the
nation, occupy their strong places, and live at their expense. But,
when the trath transpired in the capital, that, instead of making re-
sistance worthy of Spain, there was a packing-up at Aranjuez, and
that the Court were about to abandon the kingdom in its extremity,
and to remove to the colonies beyond sea, these people simply rea-
soned, that, if there was danger from French aggression, there was
criminality somewhere in permitting these measures for enthralling
the kingdom to be hatched, and who so justly to be charged with
any crime as the hated favourite and the Queen? This feeling had
attained, indeed, to such a height, that when the Marquis de Cabal-
lero, the Minister of Police, was summoned to Aranjuez, on the 16th
of March, to receive the favourite’s last orders before the royal de-
parture, he bluntly refused to execute them; and, in an open alter-
cation with Cevallos, in presence of Godoy himself, the Foreign
Minister protested loudly against the King's departure, and re-
proached the other ministers for their subservience to Godoy. The
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Prince of Asturias and his uncle, Don Antonio, even spoke of resist-
ing the departure by force, and the Guards had expressed their rea-
diness to obey the Infant’s orders to that effect. This soon became
known, so that it was thought desirable to issue a proclamation in the
King's name to calm the excitement, and to deny his intended de-
parture. Nevertheless, the people flocked in crowds to Aranjuez
from Madrid, 8 leagues distant, and, collecting in front of the royal
residence, called upon the Xing to show himself. Now was heard
the ominous cry, ** Muerra Godoy! Viva el Rey!” A casual ex-
pression, which dropped from the heir-apparent on the morning of
the 17th, that it was not his intention to accompany the King,
increased the excitement ; for, in opposition to the royal word, the
carriages were visibly packed, and only awaited the arrival of the post-
horses. The crowds which now came in from the capital comprised
many soldiers, Walloon guards, and gardes-de-corps, who were not
on duty. It so happened that, about midnight, a veiled lady was
seen to come out of the palace of the Prince of the Peace on the
arm of an officer, and she was soon recognised as Dona Pepa
Tudo, his mistress, accompanied by her sister, Dona Josepha.
While the troops endeavoured to make way for them, the more
curious crowded upon them to scutinise them more closely, and, in
the confusion, a shot was fired, no one ever knew whence or why.
In an instant, all was tumult. The brother of the favourite, secing
the ladies pressed upon, dashed forward on horseback at the head of .
his regiment, but his soldiers refused to follow him. The soldiers
on furlough collected arms and joined the people; the palace of
Godoy was surrounded and assaulted, the apartments plundered,
and the furniture broken and thrown out of the window : never-
theless, with something of their characteristic grandeur, the Spanish
multitude, encountering the Princess of the Peace on the stairs,
respected the virtuous wife, made way for her, and escorted her
in a carriage to the royal palace. Godoy himself, however, was
assiduously sought for, but could not be anywhere found. In the
first moment of alarm he was at table, but, hastily snatching np a
roll of bread in his hand, he had fled to the garrets, where he con-
cealed himself for a considerable time.

The consternation at the King’s Court may be imagined. The
Queen, whose criminal partiality for Godoy made his safety upper-
most in her thoughts, eagerly inquired after Emanuel, and shed
involuntary tears at the uncertainty that hung over his fate. The
Prince of Asturias, at this moment, added to her mortification by
undissembled joy at his danger. The ministers who were in the
confidence of the King, were not sorry at this opportunity of effect-
ing his downfall, and counselled his immediate dismissal. The |
King, in order to gratify the public mind, issued a proclamation on
the 18th, declaring his intention of himself commanding the forces,
by land and sea; and, accordingly, withdrew the appointment of
Generalissimo and Grand- Admiral, which had long been enjoved
by the favourite. The night passed over in quiet, but, on the morning
of the 19th, Godoy was discovered in a loft, where he had crouched
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behind a quantity of mats. In this concealment he had passed 36
hours without food of any kind, and had only quitted it from excess
of thirst, when he was seen by a sentinel. He was at once seized
and beaten, and would have been stoned but that the Prince of As-
turias in person answered for his trial before the Council of Castile.
King Charles IV., always accustomed to act by the advice of his
favourite, was at his wit's end when he heard of his capture and im-
prisonment, and went to every one he could to gather counsel. The
Queen, satisfied about Godoy’s safety, and now regarding the state
of affairs as though it were the breaking out in Spain of the old
French Revolution, proposed to her husband to abdicate in favour
of the Prince of Asturias. An act of resignation was, accordingly,
drawn up, and Ferdinand V1I. was proclaimed, and welcomed by
the people with the utmost joy. The new monarch’s first act was
to confiscate the property of Godoy, ard to divide the offices he held
arnongst Escoiquis, the Duke del Infantado, and his own retainers.
He continued all his father’s ministers about him, and, by their
advice, despatched the same night the Duke del Parque to Murat,
and the Dukes de Medina-Celi, de Frias, and Fernando-Nunez to
Napoleon, to notify his accession to the throne.

The Grand-Duke of Berg arrived at El Molar on the 21st, where
he received the news of what had passed at Aranjuez by a courier,
who brought him a letter from the Queen of Etruria, the daughter

.. of the abdicated King. She implored him secretly to come without

any delay to the aid of her afflicted parents. He forthwith sent M. de
Monthyon, one of his aides-de-camp, to ascertain the state of
affairs at Aranjuez, and himself proceeded on his way to Madrid,
which he entered on the 23rd, with all the state that Murat so loved
to adopt. The Imperial Guard opened the march; and the Prince
Marshal, surrounded by a most brilliant staff, and caracolling at the
head of cavalry and infantry regiments, mixed with troops of horse-
arijllery, and with all the “ pomp and circumstance of war,” was
conducted to the lately-vacated palace of the Prince of the Peace,
in which he took up his quarters.

5. CHARLES IV, aBpicaTes, AND FERDINAND VIL 18 PRO-
cLAIMED KING.

On the day following the pompous arrival of the French army,
Ferdinand VII. entered his capital, where, however, nothing had
been prepared for his reception. But no preparatives were needed
to arouse Spaunish enthusiasm for the Prince of their heart. Count-
less crowds preceded, surrounded, and followed the young King.
The women from the windows showered kisses and flowers on his
head ; the men, throwing themselves betore his horse, spread their
cloaks on the way, and a display widely differing indeed from
military pomp, but infinitely more moving, heralded the young
King’s approach. It must be confessed that these legitimate
patriotic excesses were indeed mingled with those of a very doubtful
character. Men with daggers in their bands vowed to plunge them
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i into the hearts of the King's enemies. Ferdinand was received
at the royal palace by all the public authorities and by the whole

’ diplomatic body, with the ominons absence of M. de Beauharnais,

| who did not appear in the circle ; while Murat contented himseif

f with being a mere spectator of the reception given to the King

by his subjects. A popular effervescence is, however, always a ‘
standing menace to regular troops, and the Grand-Duke of Berg,
as Lieutenant of Napoleon, was upon his guard, and ordered out
his infantry with a numerous artillery to occupy the Cusa del
Campo, just opposite the royal palace. .

Neither Murat nor Beauharnais dared to compromise themselves |
further in ignorance of Napoleon’s opinions on the atfairs which had ]
taken place at Aranjuez, or of the ultimate objeets of all which had
occurred. The Grand-Duke of Berg remaining, therefore, wholly apart
from King Ferdinand, was soon made the depositary of the secret
aspirations of the fallen Sovereign and the Camarilla. On the 21st,a
letter was addressed to him by King Charles for transmission to
Napoleon, declaring his abdication to have been forced upon him, and
throwing himself on the Emperor’s protection. Murat afterwardsre- |
ceived the most pressing solicitations addressed to himself by the old
King and the Queen, imploring his influence on behalf of the Prince
of the Peace. From his yearnings after a throne, the Emperor’s
brother-in-law was very much disposed to regard the young King as
a personal rival, and he was, therefore, resolved to be in no haste to
acknowledge him ; but a singular opportunity brought them together.
The Queen of Etruria contrived this occasion of their meeting, for |
when, one day, Ferdinand went to call upon his sister, he found !
Murat in her room. He was announced as “ The King of Spain.” |
The attendants, out of respect, immediately withdrew from the !
apartment, but the Grand-Duke did notadvance a step to meet him, |

l
!
)

lest it might be supposed that he acknowledged his elevation to the
crown. Ferdinand paused at this unexpected reserve, and his sister,
to put an end to so awkward a scene, sat down to the piano! 'The
King mechanically approached her, and Murat, bowing to the Queen,
retired without a word.

The first care of Ferdinand had been to transmit to Napoleon a
full account of his elevation. Fearful of offending the supreme arbiter |
of his fate in the slightest degree, he readily granted to the French
military authorities everything they solicited :— all their requisitions !
for the support, clothing, or pay of the troops were carefully com-
plied with, and no umbrage was even taken when General Grouchy
was nominated Governor of Madrid. The Grand-Duke caused it |
to be privately intimated to Ferdinand that the most acceptable !
offering that could be made to the Emperor would be the sword of !
Francis L, which had ever since the battle of Pavia reposed in the ;

i
{
i

Armeria Reale, at Madrid. The Conde @’Altemira was immediately
sent to Murat with this much-valued trophy, to lay it at the feet of
the occupant of the throne of Valois. It was next intimated from
the same quarter that, as the Emperor might be expected at Bayonne,
it would be regarded as a compliment if Don Carlos, the King's
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brother, could go to meet him there; and Beauharnais, who had
now got an inkling of the plot laid against the whole Royal family
by Napoleon, advanced it a step by suggesting that Ferdinand bim-
self should go as far as Burgos on the same errand; but this pro-
posal was too startling an innovation on the traditional royal reserve
of the Spaniard to be at once adopted, and it was declined.

6. CHARLES AND FERDINAND REPAIR TO NAPOLEON AT
BAYONNE.

Napoleon received the account of the transactions at Aranjuez
on thenight of the 26th of March. Ileimmediately resolved to send
to Spain General Savary, who happened to have just returned to
Paris from his embassy at St. Petersburg. To him he opened his
mind without reserve, in order that he might convey his instructions
oraily to Murat. Savary had been his agent in many of his dark
deeds ; amongst them, in the flagitious destruction of the Duke de
Enghien, and he had lately acted a conspicuous part in the secret
negotiations with Russia, since the peace of Tiisit. He was now
sent to induce, by one means or another, the Spanish Royal family
to proceed to Bayonne.*  On his road to Madrid he encountered
at every post a courier from some of its members on the way with
representations to the Emperor, and, although he had been expressly
informed by his master that he did not iutend to recognise Ferdinand
as king, his first act on arriving at Madrid was to ask an audience
of the young sovereign, and to compliment him with inquiries if his
Majesty's sentiments towards France were the same as those of his
predecessors. The ministers were delighted to concede the desire
of the coufidential servant of Napoleon, though he brought no
credentials with him, for he had been found more open in conver-
sation with those who had accosted him than the still more unap-
proachable Grand-Duke of Berg. Before he took leave, he apprised
the rather astonished Court, that the Emperor was so deeply inte-
rested in Spanish politics, that he would leave Paris on the 2nd of
April, to repair in person to Bayonne or Burgos. e more than
insinuated, that if Ferdinand would avail himself of the opportunity
of a personal conference, to recount the true story of the events
that had happened at Aranjucz, and the assurance that he was in
person desirous of amity with France, the Emperor would readily
acknowledge him as King; and, after upwards of an hour's audi-
ence, the artful (eneral overcame the simple Ferdinand, who
quitied Madrid on the 10th, with Savary himself, and commenced
his ill-started journey, which soon put an end, for a time, to his
budding monarchy. Of course he did not find the Emperor at Burgos,
nor could he learn any tidings of his expected arrival, but he was
persuaded to continue his route to Vittoria, where Savary quitted
him on the 12th, under pretence of going to inquire the causes of
the Emperor's absence. Some of the greatest and best of the

* Thiers.
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Spanish nobility now used all their eloquence to deter Ferdinand
from proceeding farther. Napoleon had, however, no sooner heard
of his near approach, than he sat down to compose a letter, in which
he artfully represented, that, with the sole desire of not meddling
with the internal affairs of another state, he only desired to receive
Ferdinand's own personal assurance of the voluntary abdication
of Charles IV. to receive him as the legitimate King, and he threw
out again the hint that the meeting might be productive of a matri-
monial alliance between the two families. Savary was immedi-
ately sent back with this autograph letter to Vittoria, to deliver
it from the Emperor to the King. He found the Court already
much increased by a concourse of faithful servants of the monarchy,
who had come to tender their advice to their young sovereign at
this dangerous crisis.  In vain, however, was it represented to his
Majesty that it was contrary to every known etiquette for a
Spanish sovereign to go to visit another sovereign beyond his
frontier, that it was, moreover, a gross indignity toa King of Spain
and the Indies to be surrounded in the place of his residence by
French troops, which, as above stated. had been very improperly sent
to Vittoria, under General Verdire, and mounted guard in his sight.
Escoiquiz and Del Infantado induced the weak sovereign to dis-
regard the voice of the old faithful councillors of the monarchy, and
the departure of the Court was announced for the 19th. The strong
good sense of the townspeople of Vittoria, however, echoed the
advice of the nobility, and the peasantry, who had flocked into the
city, cut the traces of the royal mules, and took them back to their
stables. The Duke del Infantado addressed the crowd, and per-
suaded them to permit the mules to be again put to, and the ill-
fated King took his departure from Vittoria, and crossed the
Bidassoa on the 20th. The Castilian pride was wounded, when
they found that Napoleon made no advances towards their King,
and Urquizo, Hervas, Correa, de Alava, with the Duke de Mahon,
the representative of the illustrious family of De Crillon, all im-
plored Ferdinand to stop, and, so long as he was relieved from the
urgency of Savary’s solicitations, he promised to return.

The ministers of the King, under the presidency of his uncle, the
Infant Don Antonio, remained at the capital, as a kind of Regency
or Supreme Junta of Government, acting in the absence of the King.
Before Ferdinand left Madrid, it had been represented to him how
agreeable it would be to the Emperor if the Prince of the Peace
might be released and sent to France, and the old King and Queen
were incessant in their supplications in every influential quarter
that this might be brought about. This unfortunate prisoner had
been sent for safety to the palace of Villa Vicosa, under an escort of
200 horse, who treated him with very little respeet or kindness.
It was part of Napoleon’s policy to entice Charles IV. to repuir to
Bayovune, as well as his son, that he might have them both as
suitors before his supreme tribunal ; but the old King would listen
to no representation of the kind, until the favourite should be
veleased. Murat, therefore, took the matter into his own hands, by
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ordering a body of cavalry to proceed to Villa Vlcosa to release the
prisoner by force. The Marquis de Chistelar, who was in charge
of the Guard, refused to give him up; but the Junta, to prevent a
collision, sent down an order for his release, and he was brought to
the French camp, a miserable spectacle of the reverse of human for-
tune. The proudvoluptuary returned in the most miserable apparel,
“ unshaven and unshorn,” with the marks of his late ill treatment
fresh upon him, and the abrasions from his fetters unhealed. Murat
had the generosity to feel for him, and, having ordered all his wants
to be attended to, he sent him off to Bayonne under the care of one
of his aides-de-camp. The dethroned sovereigns were now all
eagerness to take the same road, that they might lay their griefs
betore the great arbiter of their fate. Having, therefore, care-
fully packed up the crown diamonds, they slept at the Palace of
the Escurial on the 23rd, and, journeying along the great road to
France, arrived at Bayoune on the 30th. The wretched scenes
that were here enacted will be found related in all the histories of
the period. They exhibit a melancholy picture of human degra-
dation in the highest rank, unsupported by virtue and self-respect;
but they do not enter into these *“ Annals,” as they had no influence,
one way or other, on the war.

7. INSGRRECTION AT MADRID.

Reports of the proceedings at Bayonne were transmitted by slow
but faithful messengers into Spain, and roused the anger of the
people. The French Commander-in-Chief took good care that
nothing should be published in print in the capital, but rumours
passed from mouth to mouth, and an universal agitation became the
natural consequence. Every day the Puerta del Sol, or the great
square of Madrid, into which opened the great streets, was crowded
with angry multitudes. The appearance of a few dragoons, sent
by Murat to keep down disorder, only added to the general rage and
apprehension of ill.  An order at this time arrived (ostensibly
from Charles IV.) that the Queen of Etruria and the infant Don
Francisco de Paolo, should be sent to join the Royal Family at
Bayonne, and the Queen readily consented to go, but the Junta
hesitated about sending the young Prince, a minor 13 years of age,
and assembled in deliberation on the subject on the night of the 30th
of April and ist of May. The meeting was very numerous and
stormy. A great many councillors were against consenting to the
young Prince’s journey, when the Minister of War, O’Farrell, showed
them how impotent they were now already to oppose the French,
but, as a compromise, a simulated refusal was made to Murat, who,
on receiving it, declared that he would take the matter upon his
own responsibility, and would despatch the young Prince on the
2nd. The intervening day wasSunday, and the greatest anxiety per-
vaded the thousands who had thronged to the capital, ad who were
all day eagerly on the watch for news from Bayonne, whenee no
courier had arrived for two days. 'The French garrison was ordercd
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to rest on their arms all night, but at early morning of the 2nd the
Court carriages appeared ready to start, and at 9 o’clock the Queen
of Etruria entered the first, with her son and daughter, and drove
off. Her departure occasioned no great interest. But, while the
other carriages lingered, it was reported that the young Prince had
evinced great unwillingness to leave Spain, and was shedding
tears. At this news the women loudly expressed their pity, and
the men were already wound up to some act of desperation, when
a young French officer, recognised as an Aide-de-camp of the
Grand-Duke of Berg, appeared approaching the palace. The cry
was immediately raised, * He is come to carry off our Prince,” and
he was accordingly hooted and stoned, and would have been torn
to pieces but for the interference of the Guard. Murat saw the
conflict from the windows of his palace and sent his picket to dis-
perse the multitude, when one or two musket-shots brought the
insurrection to a head. The people, with daggers, firelocks, old
swords, and cudgels, ran upon the soldiery, but were driven back
by well-directed volleys. On one side there was a hideous cry
raised from a populace excited to fury, on the other side the sound
of the trumpet and the drum. Murat was soon on horseback and
in the very midst of the melée, and sent his orders to the distant
troops on every side to enter Madrid. He soon cleared the space in
front of the palace: cannon charged with grape swept the streets
leading towards it, and while the cavalry of the Imperial Guard,
under Dumesnil, charged down the broad Callé de Alcala, the
Polish lancers created a panic among the scattered people on foot
by the reckless use of their weapon. Men and women in terror
fled into houses, from the windows of which stones, and missiles,
and even scalding water were thrown on the heads of the French
horsemen. Some Mamelukes were particularly obnoxious to the
Spanish of both sexes, who have an ancient hereditary animosity
against Mahometans. There were Spanish troops in the barracks,
with a considerable stand of arms, and the inhabitants called on the
Junta to come to their assistance and to give arms to the people,
which, at first, they refused to do; but, seeing how the French iil-
used their countrymen, they at length joined the insurgents,
headed by Don Louis Daoiz and Don Pedro Velarde, and the people
harnessing themselves to the park of artillery near the Puerta de
Fonkarral, and getting three of the guns into battery, commenced
firing grape into the midst of the French soldiers. Brigadier Lepine,
at the head of a column of infantry, promptly charged and carried
the guns, and in the rush both the Spanish leaders were killed.
This was the most important circumstance in the episode of the 2nd
of May, for the blood here shed was the first that flowed in the
Peninsular War, and it was awfully revenged upon the aggressors
in the sequel. The contest, which had commenced about 10
o'clock, was terminated about 2, by the French soldiers capturing
the arsena] containing the arms and cannon; but Murat, Grand
Sabreur, par excellence,was not content with the mere establishment
of order —he forthwith named a military commission at the
G3
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Hotel of the Post, before whom every inhabitant seized with arms

in his hands was tried, and at once taken to the Prado and shot
withonut mercy. This severity was long afterwards remembered,
with the circumstance, not readily forgiven by so superstitious a
race, that they were massacred without even the consolations of a
priest.* The people were, however, thoroughly cast down and
terrified by this vigorous retaliation, and the Grand-Duke, without
further delay, sent off all the Royal family, who were now eager to
get away, including the tearful Infant Don JFrancisco de Paolo.
The Junta was by this act deprived of its president, Don Antoxio,
and Murat demanded the post for himself, which the Supreme
Junta unwillingly yielded; but their authority was soon afterwards

. superseded by a decree of Charles IV. appointing the Grand-Duke

of Berg Lieutenant-General of the kingdom.

The indigoation which the massacre of the 2nd of May excited
throughout Spain was indescribable. The intelligence passed from
house to house, from village to village, from town to town, from
province to province, and awakened a unanimous resentment, of a
fervour almost unknown to history. Without chiefs, without any
central authority, without the leadership of an individual or of a
party, and without the aid of a free press, the flame spread as
rapidly through the lonely mountains as in the crowded cities.
Far from being intimidated at the hostile occupation of their
capital and principal fortresses by a treacherous enemy, they were
simultaneously, and altogether without premeditation, roused to the
most vigorous and energetic exertions, that they might drive these
usurpers out of their much-loved country.

8. ABDICATION OF THE BOURBOXS — JoseErH BoNaPsarTE King
OF SPAIN,

Matters, in the meantime, proceeded to their consummation at
Bayonne. Charles IV. having revoked his resignation of the crown
of Spain, Ferdinand was again reduced to the condition of Prince
of Asturias, and, in the unseemly disputes which took place between
him and his parents, before the Emperor, his mother shamelessly
announced to him, that, although he was her son, he was not the
son of the King. A very few days brought all these things to
their inevitable conclusion ; both father and son were deprived of
the crown, and the conqueror announced that he had selected one
of his own family to be their successor upon the throne of Spain.
As early as the 3rd of May, this intention was transmitted to the
Council of Castile and the Indies, that they might make the formal

* Did uo evil genius whisper in the ears of Murat, as the volleys resounded to
the palace in which he sat,
‘* Nec lex mquior ulla
Quam necis artifices arte perire sud ?
Surely these gory Spaniards rose upon his sight when, ten years later, he saw the

muskets of the Neapolitan grenadiers levelled at his heart, in the castle-yard of
Pizzo, in Calabria.

|
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demand of a Bonaparte for their sovereign, in the vacancy of the
throne by the resignation of the Bourbons. The Marquis de
Caballero became, in consequence, the mouthpicce of that body,
who declared that. in the event of the actual renunciation of Charles
and Ferdinand, they did not see a better hope for Spain than for a
Prince of Napoleon's family. Still the Emperor was in doubt which
one of his brothers to name, for Louis, unhesitatingly, declined his
offer, and Lucien, in the recent interview he had had with Napoleon
in Italy, had even refused the offer of the hand of Ferdinand for
his daughter; Joseph was appealed to, and the throne of Spain
offered instead of that of Naples, but the whole month of May wore
away before the elder brother either replied or appeared to the
summons. At length, his approach was announced, and Napoleon,
who was still at Bayonne, at once issued a decree, on the 7th of
May, proclaiming Joseph King of Spain and the Indies, and, on the
same day, went out to meet him on the road with all his state,
With the accustomed energy and activity of the Imperial mind, he
had employed these three weeks of suspense in preparing to give
due éclat to the succession, by summoning out of Spain all the
grandees, who would come on his invitation, to form a Junta, which
should resemble the Council of the Indies, and confer a sort of
legality on this delegation of the sovereign power. The Dukes of
San Carlos. de I'Infantado del Parque, de Frias, de Hijar, and de
Castel- Franco, the Counts of Fernando-Nunez, d’Orgaz, and Ceval-
oz, the Ministers of War and Finance, O’Farrell and d'Azarza, ali
attended the summons, and assembled to pay homage to King Joseph,
on the 15th of May, when they were convoked in a solemn assembly,
of which d'Urqnijo was Secretary, to determine the new constitution
on which Spain was to be henceforth governed. ‘This was after-
wards promulgated on the 7th of July, in a solemn assembly, pre-
sided over by Joseph on his throne. On the 9th, escorted by the
Emperor as far as the frontier, the new King entered Spain, and re-
paired to the capital; and, on the 20th, the arduous task of king-
cashiering and king-making having been now accomplished, Napo-
leon returned to Paris.

The conqueror saw very clearly that bis acts had been through-
out too unjustifiable to meet with the approbation of the world,
however much he might esteemn himselt' its master; but he was
scarcely prepared for the outburst of resistance which followed, nor
did he deem that the ery of the lowest classes of the people, in the
most passive and backward nation of Europe, would form the thin
end of the wedge that should overturn his omwipotence. Far,
however, from dreading injury (o his power from this source,
he set his mind, with all its wonted energy, to work to clear the
way for the military occupation of Spain. His first thoughts were
directed to rendering impotent the poorremains of the Spanish army,
and he, accordingly, wrote to Murat, that General Solano should
be ordered to march away the troops which were in Madrid to the
camp of San Roch, before Gibraltar, and the remaining divisions to
the Portuguesefrontier. He directed him to take all the Swiss Guards

G4
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of the late monarchy into French pay; but, doubting whether these
mercenaries might be d’un courant d’opinion frangaise, or d"un courant
d'opinton espaynole, he ordered the regiments to be separated, and
one to be attached to Dupont’s army, and sent to Talavera, and the
others to Cartagena and Malaga; he, at the same time, expressed
his will that Dupont should be sent to Cadiz to protect the fleet
of Admiral Rosily in that port, and that Junot should be ordered
to displace the Spanish divisions, by sending French troops to
garrison Almeida and Elvas, in order to be prepared for whatever
might happen in North Castile or Andalusia. He desired that the
Spanish garrisons in the Balearic Islands might be left there, and
even strengthened, in order to lessen the amount of national troops
on the mainland, and all, that could not be otherwise better disposed
of, were to be sent along the high roads to France, with the ex-
pressed object of joining the Marqnis de la Romana, in the north,
in an expedition against the British. He also bethought himself of
the wretched remains of the Spanish fleet at Cadiz, Ferrol, and
Cartagena, and directed that such ships of war as might be sea-
worthy should repair to the Spanish colonies, in order to save
them from scizure by the English, and to form part of the grand
scheme he meditated, of employing all the fleets of Europe to anni-
hilate the “ ships, colonies, and commerce” of his yet formidable
rival.

9. Tue SpaNisH NATION RISE AGAINST THE FRENCH.

The Spanish nation, however, was not reduced to subjection by
the base conduct of its pusillanimous Royal family and abject
nobility. The public mind of Spain had continued in a ferment
ever since the horrid massacre of the 2nd of May, and commotions
and-tumults had arisen in various places; but when it transpired, on
the 20th, that the ancient crown of Spain had been abdicated in
favour of the Bonaparte family, there was a great and general ex-
plosion among all classes of the kingdom. It happened that just
about the time this became known (the 27th of May) fell St.
Ferdinand’s Day; and the idea that Ferdinand VII. was their last
king, awakened all the sensibility of a nation so ardent, so heroic,
and so enthusiastic as that of Spain. It may be said that the un-
furling of the flag of Spanish independence dates from that anni-
versary.

The first effect of the general defection was the desertions from
the army. Every night 300 or 400 men deserted from the barracks
of Madrid. The Gardes de Corps, who were still on duty at the
Escurial, melted away in driblets, three or four at a time, so that, in
a very few days, there was not one left. The same occurred at
Barcelona, Burgos, Corunna, &e. The troops in Andalusia re-
mained, however, compact, and the army, commanded by General
Castafios, amounting to 25,000 men, became a rallying point for
many of those who got safely across the Sierra Morena. This
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dereliction of military discipline might possibly have been stayed
by the firm hand of Murat, but the Lieutenant-General of the
kingdom was, at this moment, on the bed of sickness, and so
st&'_ongly persuaded that he was dying, that he neglected all public
affairs.

It was in the Asturias, at the extreme north of the Peninsula,
that the first overt acts of rebellion took place. The Governor,
General Florez-Estrada, had escaped from Bayonne, and returned
to Oviedo, where he grrived on the 9th, and related to his Junta all
that had happened there. He brought with him a proclamation
(said to be an invention of the enemy), in which Ferdinand, their
Prince, appealed to his countrymen for assistance. As soon as this
was noised abroad, the arsenal was pillaged, and the people armed
themselves, but no blood, as yet, flowed. At Santarem, 20 leagues
distant, the Bishop put himself at the head of the movement, and,
on the 27th, made a call on the mountaineers of his diocese to rise
to arms. The next excitement occurred at Corunna, where the
feast of San Fernando was usually kept in especial state. The
Captain-General, Filangieri, a Neapolitan, but greatly respected
among the Spanish population, was called upon by them to head the
movement, and he forthwith boldly ordered back the soldiers, who
were on the Portuguese frontier, under General Taranco, while he
embodied the peasants with the regular troops, in order to organise
an efficient military body for the defence of the province. In the
adjoining province of Leon, Marshal Bessi¢res had his head-
quarters and was in force with the French Imperial Guard;
nevertheless, the people could not be restrained, but called
upon the Captain-General, Don Gregorio de la Cuesta, to put
himself at their head. This veteran soldier was not rash
enough to brave the French, who were so near him, and was,
indeed, by disposition, averse from bending to the influence
of a mob, so that he first endeavoured to temporise; but the
people raised a gibbet in the very front of his palace at Valladolid,
and the hint was too significant to be despised. Don Gregorio de
la. Cuesta woufd, however, by swinging upon it, have done more
good to the cause, than by assuming a command for which he was
unfit. The ubiversal rising caused a mutiny amidst the garri-
son of Badajoz, on the 30th, when the insurgents seized the Go-
vernor, dragged him to the gate, and destroyed him. Lieutenant-
General Solano, Marquis del Sorocco, was Captain-General of
Andalusia, and Governor of the city of Cadiz. He had been sum-
moned to Madrid to cover the flight of Charles IV. when he medi-
tated the transfer of the Court to Seville. When at Madrid, he had
been afterwards won over, to the side of Napoleon, and was sent
back post haste to Cadiz, when a suspicious correspondence had
been discovered between the disaffected there and the British
authorities, naval and military, at Gibraltar. On the 20th, an
immense multitude assembled around the palace of the Governor,
who appeared on the balcony, and tried to convince the people
of their folly in attempting to resist the power of Napoleon.
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They answered him by a demand for arms and ammaunition, which
he was, in the end, obliged to give them, They then forced the
guard, seized Solano bimself, and dragged him into the street,
where he injudiciously declared aloud, “ that he was ready to die
in the cause of the great Napoleon.” On hearing this, the people
rushed upon him, and dashed out his brains with clubs.

But they had not waited for the féte of San Fernando to rise in
the rich and populous city of Seville. A conspiracy, headed by the
Count de Tilly and Tap-y-Nunez, organised a rising for the 26th,
and, seizing the Hotel de Ville, installed a Junta, which, with
something of Castilian arrogance, they styled * Supreme Junta of
Spain and the Indies.” The municipality, who had, on the out-
break of the tumult, abandoned their town-hall to the insurgents,
endeavoured the next day to open negotiations with them, and in-
trusted their chief, the Conde del Aquila, with the mission. This
noble emissary was immediately seized, tied to the balustrades of
the staircase, and shot. In the midst of the terror and general en-
thusiasm of their assumed authority, the  Supreme Junta’ decrecd,
on the 6th of June, a declaration of war against France, and
a general levy of all men between the ages of 16 and 40 ; also that
commissioners should immediately proceed, on their authority,
to invite the Juntas of Badajoz, Cordova, Jaen, Grenada, and
Cadiz, to concur with them in their proceedings, in proclaiming
Ferdinand VII. They also boldly called on General Castafios, and
the army in the camp of San Roque, to come to their aid, and con-
ferred on him the command of their armies, while, at the same time,
they nominated Thomas de Morla, a popular demagogue, and influ-
ential with the multitude, to be the Captain-Genera! of Andalusia,
in the place of Solano. The principal towns and provinces sent in
their adhesion to the “ Supreme Junta,” but Cordova nominated to |
the command of their own mountaineers Augustin de Echavarri, an
officer who had been employed by the old Government to look after
smugglers in the valleys of the Sierra Morena, and who may be re-
garded as the first of the independent warriors who afterwards
became so celebrated in partizan enterprises, the Guerillas of the
Peninsula.

Similar scenes were exhibited in every part of the kingdom.
Cartagena was early alert, and despatched Admiral Salcedo to
endeavour to recover the fleet which had been so deceitfully sent
away to Toulon. Valencia, Castillon de la Plana, Tortosa, Tarra-
gona, and all the towns on the Mediterranean seaboard, declared for !
FYerdinand VIL. ; and last, not least, must be named the city of
Zaragoza. Here the Captain-General, Don Juan de Guillermi,
who was too timid to take a lead, was at once deposed, and in his
office was installed the celebrated Joseph Palafox de Melzi, nephew
of the Duke of that name, a handsome young man of 28 years
of age, who had the reputation of having resisted the adulterous
advances of the shameless Queen, and to have personally attached
himself to Ferdinand, in whose suite he had even followed him to
Bayonne, where he witnessed, with indignation, the treatment of his
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Prince at the hands of the Conqueror ; he had since returned to his
native city with full accounts of all that had there occurred, and
with unmitigated hatred towards the tyrant who had abducted his
sovereign. He at once accepted the responsibility of the high
office to which his fellow-townsmen had now nominated him, and
prepared boldly for resistance.

10. ApMirAL Rosiny’s FLEET AT CADIZ SURRENDERS TO THE
PaTriors.

Lieutenant-General Sir Hew Dalrymple in the government of
Gibraltar, and Rear- Admiral Sir Charles Cotton on that station, as
well as Admiral Lord Collingwood, Commanding-in-Chief the
British fleet off the coast, did not fail to improve every oppor-
tunity of assisting the national cause of Spain. They com-
municated with D¢ Morla and Castaitos, in all matters connected
with the civil and military administration, aud now offered their
i services for the capture of the French fleet in the port of Cadiz, but
the new Captain-General very judiciously preferred that this im-
portant act should be, as much as possible, the achievement of the
Spaniards themselves. As soon, however, as a knowledge of the
events which had occurred in Aundalusia reached Admiral Rosily,
he removed his fleet, consisting of ““ Le Neptune,” 80, “ L>Alge-
ziras,” 74, “ 1’ Argonaute,” 74, ¢ Le Héros,” 74, “ Le Pluton,” 74,
the frigate “La Coruélie,” and a brig-corvette, beyond the range of
the batteries of the town, and took up a defensive position in the
channel leading to the Arsenal de la Caracca, for a British fleet of
ten sail of the line cruised outside the harbour, and effectively pre-
vented all escape. On the 9th, batteries, which had been erected on
the Isla de Leon, opened on the French fleet at this anchorage, and,
at the same time, Spanish gun and mortar-boats were sent up against
it, when a mutual firing, without much result, lasted throughout the
day. On the 10th, the cannonade recommenced, when, about mid-
day, « Le Héros ™ hoisted a flag of truce, and Admiral Rosily sentin
a letter to the Governor-General, offering terms. These were not
deemed admissible, and the Spaniards prepared to renew the attack
with an increase of force. A battery of 30 long 24-pounders, and
numerous armed vessels, were provided, and, on the 14th, were just
ready to open, when the French Admiral submitted unconditionally,
and surrendered the fleet, with 4000 seamen and marines, to the
Spanish authorities. The red and yellow flag was immediately
hoisted on all the captured ships.

11. DEPUTATION FROM THE PATRIOTS RECEIVED IN LONDON.

Information was received by the British General at Gibraltar that
an advance of French troops threatened Spain from the side of
Portugal ; and Major-General Spencer, with a small detachment,
was forthwith expedited in three ships, under Adwiral Purvis, and
landed at Ayamonte, on which the French immediately called in all




|
92 ENTHUSIASTIC RECEPTION OF THE SPANISH DEPUTIES. [A.D, |

their forces to Lisbon. The sight of the British off their coast, how- I
ever, roused the Portuguese, who had been quite as ready as the Spa-
niards to rise against the French authority, and who now solicited :
the protection of the fleet to cover their proceedings, which, on his
own responsibility, the Admiral conceded. Lord Collingwood also
communicated with the Balearic Islands and with all the Colonies
of both Spain and Portugal, and he offered them the friendship
and flag of Great Britain. Rear-Admiral Thornbrough was, at the
same time, sent to preserve the Spanish fleet in Port Mahon from
the machinations of the enemy.

On the 12th of July, the Government of Cadiz applied to Lord
Collingwood for the use of a frigate, to conduct Commissioners ap-
pointed by the Supreme Junta to England, to appeal for British |
sympathy and aid, and, within two or three days after the French |
fleet had surrendered, General Morla, the Spanish Admiral, and
others, set sail from Cadiz in the “ Revenge » frigate, and arrived
at Portsmouth on the 9th of July. But on the 9th of June, six gen-
tlemen of the province of the Asturias, having at their head the
Viscomte de Materosa and®Don Diego de la Vega, had alrcady ar-
rived in London, with a petition addressed * To the magnanimous
Monarch of Great Britain.” To this letter, George Canning, the
Secretary of State, replied on the 12th, assuring all parts of the Spa-
nish Monarchy which shall be actuated by the same spirit as the
province of Asturias, “ of His Majesty’s willingness to extend his
support in granting assistance, in military supplies and otherwise, |
sufficient to protect them against any attempt which might be made ‘
by France to introduce troops into that country.”

It would be impossible to exaggerate the enthusiasm and trans-
port that reigned in Great Britain upon the first tidings of the rising
of the people of Spain against the French. The deputies were re-
ceived and splendidly entertained by the Corporation of the City of
London ; and by the principal Corporations of the kingdom, public
bodies, and individuals of distinction, all affording them their hospi-
tality and open countenance. Subscriptions were opened in all great
cities ; and the manufacturing, commercial, and other wealthy classes
of the community gave freely in support of the cause of the patriots.
Peace with Spain was publicly proclaimed ou the 5thof July. All
Spanish prisoners were liberated, clothed, and sent off to join their
countrymen. The British arsenals were emptied to supply the war- |
like necessaries required ; and on the 14th of July a league, offen- |
sive and defensive, between the nations of the Peninsula, in the !
names of Ferdinand VII. and with the Prince Regent of Poriugal, was
signed. The Parliament responded to the appeal made by the Juntas
with an unanimity almost unprecedented, and liberal supplies were °
voted for the prosecution of the war amounting to a sum beyond all |
former years : besides all this, subsidies in money to the amount of !
3,000,0001., and warlike stores upon a princely scale of liberality, de- |

]
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monstrated the sincerity and energy of the British nation in the
cause. The British Cabinet, under these circumstances, determined
to send a military expedition to the Peninsula, to afford a nucleus
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for a consistent and effectual opposition to the enemy in the field.
Colonels Brown and Trant were sent to communicate with the in-
surgent leaders, and obtain information on the existing state of
affairs ; and on the 30th of June about 8,000 troops of all arms were
assembled, under Lieut.-General Sir Arthur Wellesley, which em-
barked on the 12th of July, and Major-General Spencer was ordered
to re-embark his division, and join Sir Arthur as soon as he learned
that the place of debarkation was fixed upon. An additional division
of 5,000 men, under Brigadier Ackland, were ordered, on the 15th
of July, to get themselves in readiness to follow, and the Penin-
sular War was inaugurated.

12. FirsT COLLISION BETWEEN THE SPANIARDS AND FRENCH —
Sack oF CorDOVA.

General Dupont marched from Toledo on the 24th of May with
his division, to take the command of Andalusia, according to his
instructions, and traversing the plains of La Mauncha without any
obstacle, he entered the defiles of the §erra Morena in the full con-
viction that he should reach Cadiz on the 21stof June. An ominous
silence reigned as well in the plains as in the mountains, and deserted
villages here and there met the eye, from which the authorities and
the inhabitants had fled. On arriving at Andujar, the General heard
of the insurrection of Sevilie, and the installation there of a Supreme
Junta to act in the name of the legitimate King. The high road to
Cordova crosses the Guadalquivir by a bridge at this city, and, fol-
lowing the left bank 18 or 20 leagues, recrosses it at the Venta de
Alcolea, where there is a fine bridge of 19 arches of black marble.
The right bank is at this point loftier than its opposite, and here the
French General found the Spanish patriotic force, under De Eche-
varia, prepared to oppose his march, having thrown up, in haste, a
téte de pont, and established 12 guns in kattery to enfilade the bridge.
Dupont came upon this obstacle unexpectedly on the morning of the
7th of June, and, upon making a reconnoissance, saw before him a
mixed array of several thousands, infantry and cavalry, troops,
smugglers, and peasants. He immediately ordered the division
Barbou to advance in columns of attack ; and the brigade of General
Pannetier leading the way at once, escaladed the unfinished épaule-
ment of the téte de pont. The Spaniards were driven across the
bridge and into the village, but General Fresia at the same moment
appeared in the rear of the French at the head of a brigade of ca-
valry. Dupont, taken somewhat aback at this apparition, sent for-
ward a brigade of Swiss, nnder General Rouger, and a brigade of
dragoons, under General Pryme, when Echevaria ordered a retreat,
which, with such a heterogeneous mass, soon becamea rout; and guns,
ammunition, and supplies were all abandoned,while the footand horse-
men fled to Cordova, to bar the gates, and barricade the streets. The
French troops were not to be deterred by such obstacles froma rabble,
and followed and daringly stormed the towi, which was, however, well
defended from street to street ; so that it was not until after a horrid
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carnage that the Spaniards again fled to Ecija, a town on one of the
roads to Seville, twelve leagues distant from the bridge where the
fight commenced. Cordova was immediately given over to pillage,
and the public buildings, churches, and even the splendid cathedral
itself, were recklessly plundered of their sacred treasures.

13. FRENCH REPULSED FROM VALENCIA—THEY INVEST
ZARAGOZA.

As soon as the insurrection at Valencia had been made known at
Madrid, Marshal Monecey was directed to march with 6,000 men to
Cuenca, on the road to that city, and, quitting Madrid on the 4th, ar-
rived there on the 11th; but, instead of the preparations that had been
ordered for his troops, he found nothing collected, and affairs in a
very unpleasant position. The Spanish division ordered to join him
here had altogether disbanded, and were already in arms against
the French between Cuenca and Valencia. The Marshal had been
directed to put himself in communication with General Chabran, who,
with 4,200 men, had been offfered toTortosa, to be at his disposition,
if required. This state of things being made known to Murat, he
despatched Brigadier Excelmans with a detachment of cavalry from
Madrid, who, on the road, came to a misunderstanding with the
patriots in the village of Salinas, near Tarancon, who were at once
disarmed and sent prisoners to Valencia. 'The information derived
from that city was very sad. Some 200 French merchants, residents
there, had gone for refuge into the citadel, where the insurgents,
headed by one Balthazer Calvo,a monk of San Isidore, seized them
on the 5th of June, and put them all to death. T'he Marshal now
learned that the Spaniards were posted in the mountains, near Re-
quena, and, considering it requisite to colleet all his foree before
attemnpting to force that pass, he remained at Cuenca tiil the 18th,
arranging with Chabran to meet him before Requena on the 25th; but
that General had been led away after insurgents as far as Castellon
de-la-Plana, and, having found himself beset by the armed peasants,
he had fallen back with difficuity upon Barcelona. Ignorant of this,
Moncey arrived at Requena on the 20th, and the next day found
himself in presence of an armed multitude posted behind the Cabriel
at the bridge of Paynzo, near Minglauilla, where they had thrown
up a rough carthwork, in which they had placed 4 guns. This river
runs throngh a rocky defile, and it was most difficult to force a pas-
sage. The Marshal ordered forward Brigadier Couin, who had 2
gunsand a howitzer, up the rocks, from which he opened fire in rear
of the Spaniards, while two other detachments forded the river, and
appeared at the same time on the enemy’s flanks. Moneey now
putting himself at the head of two battalions, carried the bridge, and
the Spaniards, seeing their guns lost, fled to Las Cabrillas, where
there is a path through the hill, fit only for goats, which opens
upon La Veza de Requena. Here the insurgents were assembled in
force, under Don Joset Caro, with 12 guns. On the 24th, at midday
the French arrived in face of the position which had been assumed
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at Venta-Quemada. The Marshal, as soon as he reconnoitred the
ground, ordered Brigadier Harispe, his Chief of the Staff, to take
with him the most active men from his force, and, relieving them of
their packs, to despatch them on every side among the hills. The
sight of these men leaping from rock to rock, and taking a deadly
aim from the heights among the mass of soldiers and peasantry
below, filled them with alarm, so that they scarcely waited for the
advance of the main body, but fled in every direction. Moncey
arrived before Valencia without further opposition on the 27th, and
on the following day assaulted the gates, but without success, and
with the loss of 300 of his men. The Junta, as soon as they heard
of the rout at Las Cabrillas, called out the people to defend the city,
and supplied them with arms. A strong battery of the artillery
was established at Puerta de Quarte, by which the French were ex-
pected to arrive.  The water was let into the ditches, and the guns
from the citadel directed upon the road of approach. General Caro
took post at the sluices which held up the waters of the Guadalquivir,
to defend the water-head against the French, but was constrained
to give way, and fell back into the citys.when he assumed the com-
mand with complete success. In the night, the Marshal, seeing the
hopelessness of his task, ordered a retreat, and marched away from
Valencia to face the Captain-General Cerbellon, who was posted on
the banks of the Xucar with 7,000 or 8,000 men; and he reached that
river on the Ist of July. He was not impeded in crossing it, and,
accordingly, moved on to San Clemente, where he arrived on the
10th, and effected a junction with General Freire.

A division, under General Caulaincourt, had been sent up from
Madrid, to reinforce General Chabran, but, on arriviog at Cuenca,
they heard of his departure for the north. In disappointment, that
town was given up to two hours’ pillage. These atrocious acts, in
the end, cost an inconceivable number of French lives at the hands
of the insurgents; for the events of the 2nd of May at Madrid,
the sack at Cordova, and the sack of Cunenca united the Spanish
nation in deadly hatred against the invaders, whlie it roused the de-
sire of plunder in all ranks of the French army, from the Marshals
to the drummers, and materially injured its conduct and dis-
cipline.

As soon as the news of these events reached Napoleon at Bayonne,
he sent orders to General Lefebvre-Desnouettes to collect together
from the vicinity of Pampeluna some 4,000 men, and repair, without
a moment’s delay, to Zaragoza. He entered Tudela on the 7th of
June, where he encountered 500 Spanish soldiers, under the Mar-
quis de Lagan, elder brother of Palatox, who had destroyed the
bridge, and now attempted to prevent the passage of the Lbro. The
French had little difficulty in forcing their way as far as Mallen,
which they reached on the 13th, and found Palafox in po~ition at
the head ot 9,000 men and 8 guns, all mixed and undisciplined levies.
Lefebvre, advancing on their flank, soon forced them to turn about
and flee, when he sent after them a regiment of Polish lancers, who
gave the fugitives no quarter. On the 16th, he arrived before Zara-
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goza, and entered the city péle-méle with the fugitives, the battalion
penetrating even to Santa Engracia; but they were perfecily ap-
palled when they perceived the preparations made to receive them.
Although there was great confusion, there was a unanimous spirit
of resistance, and the regular troops could not stand against the
shower of missiles which poured upon their heads, The General,
seeing that he could effect nothing in the narrow streets of this old
town without artillery of greater calibre than the light 4-pounders
which he had brought with him, ordered his troops to tall back.
The apparent retreat of the enemy added to the universal enthusi-
asm of the citizens, and Palafox made new dispositions to take every
advantage of the circumstance. Ib order to gratify the impatience
of the defenders, he placed himself at the head of as many as he
could get into form, and quitted the walls to endeavour to make for
the open near Belchite, where he also collected some of the scattered
soldiers. He now heard that a corps of 3,000 or 4,000 Arragonese
were advancing on the road from Catalayud, and he sent to Colonel
Versaquis, who was in command, to join him, but he found that
they had already marched in another direction, to threaten the com-
munications of the French with Tudela. They were, however,
encountered on the 23rd by Lefebvre-Desnouettes, who drove themn
back on Catalayud, sorely diminished in number, and with the
loss of their 3 guns. As soon as Palafox heard this, he re-entered
Zaragoza on the st of July, well convinced that he should do better
against the enemy behind stone walls than in the open country.
Meanwhile, the ¥French were preparing vigorous measures, and a
siege train was forming at Pampeluna and Bayonne, with which
General Verdier came up to Zaragoza on the same day, and took
the direction of offensive operations. He had, however, but 8,000
men with which to undertake the siege, and therefore contented
himself, at this time, with investing the city, which, by seizing the
Monte-Torrero, and throwing a bridge over the river, he was en-
abled to complete by the 12th of July.

By the end of May, General Duhesme found himself completely
shut up in Barcelona. He, nevertheless, in compliance with reiterated
orders, sent out General Chabran with his division to lend a hand to
Marshal Moncey. The insurgents kept vigilant watch over every
movement of Duhesme’s force to cross the Llobegret, and secure
Montserrat. On the 5th, he sent General Schwarz with this ohject,
who crossed that river, and reached the village of Bruch; but on a
sudden the tocsin sounded, and armed multitudes covered the sides of
the hills with marksmen, barricaded the villages, broke up the roads,
and destroyed the bridges. The General could not stir a yard with-
out a contest, and returned back to Barcelona on the 7th, with his
men exhausted by fatigue. General Duhesme felt the essential ne-
cessity of exerting the high hand, and on the 10th put himself at the
head of his troops, and cleared the country ; thence having carried
death and destruction among the insurgents, he returned to Barce-
lona, where the population, though somewhat awed, were by no
means disposed to remain quiet.
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14, INSURRECTION IN LEON —— AFFAIR AT CABEZON.

To return to the north. Marshal Bessitres had his head-
quarters at Burgos. The insurrection in the Asturias and Galicia
had already attained consistency, and Napoleon had ordered the
military possession of Santander, to restrain its progress. General
Merle was sent there on the 2nd of June, but, on reaching Reynosa
on tke 5th, he was recalled in haste, for Valladolid was in a
ferment. Bessicres thought it of greater moment to hold this
city, the seat of the Captain-General’s government, and the
stronghold of the priesthood of Spain, than a military post in the
north, and, accordingly, had ordered General Lasalle to march
with a division, which reached Torrequemada on the 6th, at
nightfall. Here is a long bridge over the Pisuerga; and, while the
French were going along it, a fire of musketry opened suddenly from
every side; a passage was forthwith forced, and the bridge and
city captured, pillaged, and burned. The effect of this severity was,
that on the 7th, at Palencia, which Lasalle next entered, the inhabit-
ants, headed by the Bishop, implored pardon. At Valladolid, in the
meanwhile, affairs had become serious. Don Miguel de Cevallos
had retired thither with some new levies from Segovia, whénce the
French had driven out a body of insurgents; but a suspicion of
treason having been raised against the distinguished patriot, he was
seized and murdered as he entered the city. This had such an
effect on General Cuesta, the Captain-General, that, though unwill-
ing to take the lead against the French, he now found himself con-
strained to head the insurrection. He accordingly collected 5,000
or 6,000 men, with some guns, and on the reported advance of
General Lasalle to Merle, he sallied out of the city, and took up a
position at Cabezon, two leagues in front of the city. Very stupidly,
however, instead of forming up on the left bank of the Pisuerga,
with the bridge across the river before him, he placed himself on
the right bank, with the bridge behind him. The two French divi-
sions in this district had effected a junction on the 11th, at Duena,
and were now sent forward to summon Cuesta to gfe way before
them and lay down his arms, The poor Captain-General could
not venture to surrender, and yet was in the very worst condition
to fight. Accordingly, on the 12th, at early morning, Lasalle moved
forward, and, with very little difficulty, forced his way into the city
of Valladolid, Cuesta retiring with what troops he could collect on
the rcad to Benevente, where he posted himself to collect fugitives
and peasants behind the Esla.

The province of Gallicia was already the depdt of the arms, eloth-
ing, and accoutrements which had been sent out from England with
Lient.-Colonel Doyle and other British officers, who had arrived
there to organise an army. "The Captain-General, Don Antonio
Filangicri, was old and unfit to respond to the call to arms made by
unanimous consent in this provinee; he, therefore, made way for
General Blake, a man of Irish extraction, but of some military ex-
pericnce, and who had recently been promoted by the King to the
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rank of Marechal-de-Campo. A post was immediately assumed at
Lago, where a camp was speedily formed, to which all the Spaniards
who had been prisoners in England, and had been released, were
now sent to be regimented. 'I'he Spanish troops, also, which had
heen sent to the north of Portugal under Napoleon’s orders, were now
drawn to the camp at Lago. It contained one particular regiment,
known by the name of * Los Immemoriales,” because its origin
dated from the period of Ferdinand and Isabella; and there were
other “crack regiments” of the old monarchy. Blake took the
command ot this army by the end of June, and effected a junction
with Cuesta at Benevente on the 6th of July. The Spanish Generals
gave out their intention of marching at once upon Valladolid.

15. BaTTLE oF MEepINA DE R10-SEco.

Bessitres was duly informed of all that had occurred in the north,
and determined to anticipate this attack by advancing himself
against the Spanish army, and, with this object, he quitted Burgos
on the 9th of July, with the reserve of his army. He here united
to himself the divisions Mouton, Lasalle, and Merle, forming an
army of about 11,500 men, with 1,500 horse and 30 guns, and with
this force marched out of Palencia at early morning of the 13th, to
meet the enemy. The march was made in the dawn, because of the
extreme heat, but at daybreak on that day he formed up his troops
in line on the road-side, and went forward to reconnoitre the Spanish
ariny, which was found to be in position at Medina de Rio-Seco, to
the number of 30,000 infantry, with 32 guns and a small force of
cavalry. This army, thongh numerically superior to the French,
was one newly collected and very imperfectly organised, and it was
a rash resolve to bring them into collision with the veteran bat-
talions of France. Blake, indeed, urged his superior officer, Cuesta,
to decline a battle and to fall back on the frontiers of Gallicia, where
Bessi¢res would not venture to follow them under present cir-
cumstances. Cuesta, who had become a patriot against his will,
was now unwdlling to temporize, and, brave but headstrong, in-
sisted on sat;g'ing the general enthusiasm by advancing against
the enemy, so that Blake was obliged to submit. The Spanish first
line was formed on some steep hills in front of Medina, having their
right towards Val de Nebro, with their cavalry in a narrow valley
on their left towards Palacio, but the second line had not yet passed
the Rio-Seco, and were composed of the best troops. Bessicres,
accordingly, determined to crush the first line before the second
could come up, and he forthwith sent forward a regiment of cavalry
under Lasalle to drive back the niserable force of Spanish horse in
the plain, who, giving way and flying rapidly, he came direct upon
the left flank of the Spanish front line, which he attacked. Aftera
very slight resistance these gave way and retreated hastily down
the scarped road leading into Medina. Here they came upon the
second line marching into position, which Cuesta was hastening for-
ward ; these stoppedand rallied the fugitives, who returned to occupy
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the elevated ground, but found it already in possession of the divi-
sion of General Mouton. The Spanish columns immediately
deployed, and a good line was established on the hills, and the
cavalry brought back to the left flank. Cuesta now took part with
the right wing, and immediately went forward to the attack of the
brigade Meunier, who had formed up before him with eight
guns. The Spaniards attacked so vigorously that the French were
driven down the opposite side of the slope, leaving five guns behind
them, But, at the moment of this success, the division Merle pene-
trated, by the aid of a cattle-path, between the two wings of the
Spanish army, and threatencd their line of retreat. Cuesta was,
accordingly, obliged to withdraw his troops across the Rio-Seco,
but he still maintained himself in the enclosed ficlds and gardens in
front of Medina, when Lasalle, crossing the brook with the cavalry,
again threatened the line of retreat by the roads to Palazuelo and
Villafrescos. Upon this the entire army hastened to get away,
pursued and seriously injured by the Frenh cavalry, and at the
same time sacrificing half their artillery. Marshal Bessiéres then
brought forward his whole force and formed them in the plain im-
mediately, in front of Medina. The victory was of the first moment
at this juncture, for the French General had dispersed the best army
the Spaniards had remaining to the patriot cause; and, by the
advance he had maintained, the Marshal also protected the road by
which the intrusive King Joseph was at this very time making his
approach to the capital. Napoleon, on hearing of the victory of
Medina de Rio-Seco, clapped his hands with delight, exclaiming,
¢ C’est mon Villa-Vicoza, Bessitres a mis Joseph sur le trone.” *

16. CAPITULATION OF GENERAL DUPONT’'S ARMY AT BAYLEN,

Reverting to Andalusia. As soon as General Duapont had put
a stop to the pillage of Cordova, he imposed heavy contributions
upon the province for the support of his army ; but seeing his
isolated position in Andalusia with only 8,000 men, and the impos-
sibility of his keeping down the insurgent spirit with such an
insufficient force, he sent back to Madrid to request reinforce-
ments. General Savary bad, at this period, succeeded Murat in
the Lieutenant-Generalship of the kingdom, and, being perfectly
aware of the extent of disaffection throughout Spain, had, before
the application could reach him, sent earnest representations to
Dupont that he should bring in his division across the Sierra
Morena; but neither the one nor the other of these despatches
reached their destination. The insurgents held all the roads
by which the French general could communicate with the capital,
and massacred without mercy every officer who had charge of the
intermediate stations. In this way they took possession of the post
at Andujar, seized the magazines at Santa Cruz de Mudela, and put
to death the sick in hospital at Manzanares. Every species of re-
prisal was made against the French in retaliation for the cruelties

* Alluding to rhe victory of Marshal Vendome in the war of the Succession,
which placed Philip V. vy the throue of Spgin.
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they had inflicted on the country, and an unfortunate General,
René, who fell into the hands of the smugglers in the Sierra Morena,
was thrown into a bath of boiling water and killed. 400 convales-
eents, on march,were fallen upon in the open plain of La Mancha, but
were saved by the timely arrival of 500 horse, under General
Belair, and safely carried back to Toledo.

Dupont pushed forward strong cavalry reconnoissances as far as
Carmona, on the road to Seville, but could find no organised force
of the insurgents in the plain of the Guadalquivir. On the side of
the mountains, however, Echevaria made his presence manifest
continually, and by his vigilance rendered the position at Cordova
so hazardous that the French general broke up from that city on
the 16th of June, and fell back to Andujar, whence he could still
coemmand the resources of Andalusia, while he was nearer to the
defiles of the Morena. Here he remained inactive and almost in
ignorance of all that was passing in the north of Spain, until General
Vedel arrived and joined him towards the end of June. This officer
brought him news of the return of Murat to France, and the instal-
ment of Savary in his office. In consequence of this information, he
now posted his army at Baylen, situated at the foot of the Morena,
but yet so as to watch the ferry across the Guadalquivir at Mengibar,
near the mouth of the Guadalimar, which flows into the great river
down the defile of Linares. Vedel brought with him 5,400 men,
which rendered Dupont’s army, including the Spanish Swiss, 16,000
strong, and this was increased still further by the junction of the di-
vision Gobert, which added 4,700 more infantry and cavairy. Dupont
was now, therefore, in respectable force, for he had upwards of 20,000
men, but he could no longet hope for assistance from Madrid or from
any other quarter, and was thoroughly isolated amidst a host of
enemies, who were rallying against him on every side. His position at
Andujar had not been at all comfortable, for, although he had pre-
vented all approach across the bridge by means of an effective téte de
pont, yet the hills on both sides of the Guadalquivir were lofty and
commanding, and occupied by enemies. Moreover, his 20,000 men
now required supplies. He had sent out two successful expeditions to
Jaen, under Captain Barte and Brigadier Cassagne, who had put to
flight all the insurgents they encountered, and sacked and emptied
and burned that town ; they had also brought away from the distriet
a considerable supply of corn, fresh meat, wine, and medicine. This
. last was much needed, for the soldiers were suffering dreadfully from

dysentery, in consequence of the unwholesome water of the Guadal-
quivir, and they especially required vinegar to render it less noxious.
But General Dupont, although recognised by the whole French
army as a first-rate General in the field. and almost within reach of
the biton of Marshal, was now found wanting in those more precious
qualities of vigilance and forethought, and in the moral resolu-
tion, of commanding others under difficulties and in adversity ; nor
could he act with that patience, decision, and e¢nergy which are ne-
cessary to subdue fortune. He was wholly withont the wisdom to
supply resources, or the genius requisite to devise some plan of
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action ; on the contrary, he did nothing whatever, but waited
patiently for the crisis. This soon atrived. The Spanish General
Castaiios, though not looked upon as a great commander, was syste-
matically disposing his troops in the country around for an attack
on the French. He divided his force into four divisions: the
first, comprising his right, consisted of 10,000 of his best troops,
and was commanded by Reding,a Swiss ; the second 6,000 strong,
was commanded by the Marquis de Compigni, an old officer of the
‘Walloon Guard ; the third was in charge of an Irishman, Don Felix
Jones; and the fourth, consisting of 8,000 or 10,000 men, was re-
garded as the reserve under Don Manuel de le Péna. On the 9th
of July, the Spanish head-quarters were advanced to Arjoneilla, and
General Reding to Jaen. On the 14th, the heightsto the south of the
river were crowned with irregular Spanish riflemen, who obligea the
French to stand to their arms. Dupont sent an officer to destroy the
bridge of Maimelejo, on his right, and directed Vedel, from Baylen,
to send a detachment to Mengibar on his left, and to send constant
patroles irom his side to Rumblar to meet those which he would
send from Andujar. On the 15th, the Spaniards, under General
Lefranc, came down the mountains upon the French right wing,
and accordingly Dupont, desirous of concentrating his foree,
ordered in Vedel to come in from Baylen, and that Gobert should
descend from Carolina to take up the ground at Baylen quitted by
Vedel, which was done the same night, leaving General Belair with
1,500 men to hold Mengibar. Gobert sent word to the General-in-
Chief that he had obeyed his directions, but that he left the cnemy
in force at La Carolina, and that he had been obliged to abandon
Linares and bring down the cuirassiers to the support of Belair.
On the 16th, in the morning, the Spanish divisions appeared in
force on the banks of the Guadalquivir on every side. Don Juan de
laCruz had repaired the bridge of Maimelejo and crossed the river
there, while the Marguis de Compigni endeavoured, but in vain, to
cross at Villa Nueva de le Reyna; but it was at Mengibar where the
real attack was made, where Reding crossed and drove back Belair.
Gobert immediately marcheddown troops from Baylen to his support,
but the division was encountered on the road in open retreat. In the
act of rallying them, General Gobert was struck on the head by a
ball, of which he died, and Brigadier Dufour assnmed the command.
He immediately put himself at the head of the cuirassiers, which
not only effectually covered the further retreat to Baylen, but stayed
the advance of the Spaniards, whom he made to recross the Guadal.
quivir. An idiecannonade continued for some time between the two
banks, and General Fresia, in the meantime, succeeded indriving back
the Guerillas who had descended upon Andujar from the mountains.
Dupont, on hearing of the death of Gobert, ordered back Vedel in
the night to Baylen. During this affair the insnrgents, under Colonel
Valdecanos, marched up from Baeza and occupied Linares; from
which a road leads up to La Carolina by Guarroman, and Dufour,
satisfied at having cleared his front of the enemy, now fell back to
repel this demonstration in his rear. When, therefore, Vedel reached
H3
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Baylen he found there neither friends nor enemies. He immediately
sent.out patroles towards Mengibar, but met with no insargents in
that direction ; then, hastily concluding that the Spaniards were
advancing behind him through the mountain to cut him off from
the pass, he at once followed Dufour to Guarroman, and pushed
forward his reconnoissance as far into the pass as Despina Perros.
He reported his apprehensions to Dupont, who replied approvingly,
but added, ¢ Mettez le poste de Baylen en sireté.” When next,
he heard, however, from Vedel, it was to report his retreat on the
13th to La Carolina. Dupont felt the extreme danger of leaving
Baylen unoccupied between him and Vedel, and immediately taking
measures to break up from Andujar, without being perceived by
Castafios, marched away to Baylen; but he was too late. The
Spaniards were of course excellently well served with intelligence,
and no sooner was it known that Vedel had retired up the mountain
pass, and that Dupont was preparing to march, than the divisions
of Reding and De .Compigny crossed the Guadalquivir, on the same
day, and uniting their forces took quiet possession of Baylen, while
Castaiios made demonstrations of advance in front and flank of
Andujar, which the French had little difficulty in repelling, but
Dupont was at the moment in utter ignorance of the occupation of
Baylen. Thus situated, he set his army in motion on the evening
of the same day, to march as soon as the heat of the day had
passed, after having dismantled the téte de pont and destroyed the
bridge at Andujar. At half-past 3, on the evening of the 19th, the
march was suddenly interrupted at the rivulet of the Rumblar (over
which is a stone bridge) by a host of skirmishers, and by guns esta-
blished in battery on the side of Baylen. He felt that he must at all
hazards force the passage, and ordered forward the Brigade Chabert,
supported by the dragoons of General Dupr¢, with the Swiss under
General Schramm, inreserve. These weremet by the Walloon Guards,
urider Reding, and the regiment of horsecalled Los ordenes militares,
under Don Francisco de Saavedra. In the conflict, Dupré was
mortally wounded, and Schramm, at the head of the Swiss, was
struck down. The light guns of the French answered feebly the 12-
pounders which the Spaniards had placed in battery, and the supe-
riority of their force enabled them to send flanking parties to
threaten the French wings. In vain Dupont sent against them the
cavalry under General Pryor, which could not act because of the
otive-yards which abounded here, and the brigade Pannetier ; but,
although these Jast had partial success, there now appeared on the
heights between the Rumblar and Baylen two solid lines of soldiers.
Dupont refused the counsel given to him to cut his way through, and
gain La Carolina, but placed himself at the head of the marines of
the Imperial Guard, and charged the first line of theenemy. His
troops, however, fatigued by their night march and gasping under
the noonday heat, could make no impression on the Swiss troops
under Reding ; and, in the middle of the fight the Suisses-Frangoises,
under De Freuler, unwilling to contend with their countrymen any
longer, passed over in a body of 1,600 men to the Spanish lines.




¥

i

1808.] CAPITULATION OF BAYLEN. 103

The unfortunate Commander-in-Chief, in despair, listened in
the hope that General Vedel's division might be advancing to
his aid, and, to his delight, he heard the sound of cannon; but it
was mot from the side of La Carolina but from the rear,
where the leading troops of Castafios, under General de Ia
Pena, announced his approach to General Reding by discharges
of artillery. Under these circumstances there was no resource but
to cndeavour to treat with the enemy, and Dupont sent M. de Villeu-
treys to demand a suspension of arms, to which Reding assented ;
but when the same officer went with the same proposition to General
de la Pena, on the other side, he flatly refused to concede anything,
and referred the bearer to General Castanos. In the meantime, the
fire ceased on both sides, and the troops rested in their positions
during the night. The answer of Castafios arrived on the morning
of the 20th, to the effect that he was ready to treat at Baylen. Du-
pont accordingly commissioned General Marescal to meet him there,
and repaired with M. de Villoutreys to the post-house, where General
Castaiios with the Count de Toily received them. The French
officers, notwithstanding the imminent danger of their position, con-
dueted themselves, as they are generally found to do, with no lack
modesty. They at once demanded that the whole army should be per-
mitted to retire on Madrid, that the division Barbou should indeed
lay down their arms, but that those of Vedel and Dufour should be
included in the convention and retain their weapons. Castaios was
in the act of conceding these terms, when an intercepted despatch
of Savary came into his hands. This had been intrusted to the espe-
cial eare of a young officer of the name of Fénélon, who had been
captured in the mountains, and it peremptorily ordered Dupont to
withdraw his forces from La Mancha and concentrate them with the
rest of the French army at Madrid.  As, therefore, it was clear that
to concede the conditions demanded was merely to carvy out the
orders of the French authorities, Castafnos refused the French pro-
positions, and a new arrangement was agreed upon, which was,
however, delayed for a definite decision till the morning of the 21st.
In the meantime, Captain Barte and another officer arrived in camp
on the part of General Vedel, and, having obtained an andience of
Dupont, gave him the intclligence that General Vedel had heard the
firing of the day before, and had brought back two divisions under
his command to Guarroman, and that he was ready to attack the
Spanish army from his side the same night, to enable Dupont to cut
his way through. The French General, however, returned orders by
Captain Barte, that it was much better that Vedel and Dufour
should make the best of their way by a rapid march across La
Mancha and endeavour to reach Madrid without any reference to
himself, who had already come to terms with Castaios, and in the
early morning of the 2ist Vedel accordingly marched away. It
was said that General Dupontadmitted to Vedel that he had included
him in the capitulation, but at the same time advised him to repu-
diate his anthority and assert his own independence. He therefore
marched off, reaching St. Elena before his departure became known ;
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and he was preparing mines to destroy the road at Despena Penos,
in order to render it impassable to his pursuers to follow him,
when Castaiios heard of his departure, and declared the convention
violated, and altogether at an end, unless he halted; at the same time
threatening to put the whole of Barbou’s division to the sword,
if the French General did not instantly stop his march and return.
The consequence was that Vedel was overtakén, marched back to
Guarroman, and submitted.

On the 23rd, the division Barbou, with Dupont at its head, de-
filed before General Castaiios and De la Pena, and laid down their
arms, to the number of 8,242 men. Vedel did the same at Baylen
on the 24th, to the number of 9,393 rank and file; but, instead of
laying down their arms, they adopted the mock heroic, and delivered
them up in bundles to Spanish Commissioners. The insurgents
now heaped every species of abuse upon the prisoners, afld de-
manded back the sacred vessels which had been carried away
from the churches of Cordova and Jaen. Castafios addressed
a proclamation to the population to calm their fury, and, to pre-
vent bad consequences, ordered the prisoners to be marched away
in two columns to San Lucan and Rota, avoiding ail great towns.
By the terms of the capitulation, they were to be embarked on
board Spanish ships at Cadiz and conveyed to France. By the
same treaty, the Junta of Seville were declared the supreme
authority, but its members, yielding to the clamour on every side,
refused to ratify the capitnlation, and declared the whole of the
French army prisoners of war. They were scarcely able to reach
Cadiz in safety from the rage of the people, and many were de-
stroyed by the inhabitants as they journeyed thither, and none but
the officers were permitted to return to France. General Castaiios,
with perfect good faith, employed his influence to have justice done
to those who had surrendered to him, but in vain. He then appealed
to the British authorities, Lieut.-General Sir Hew Dalrymple, at
Gibraltar, and Lord Collingwood, at Cadiz; but Morla, to retain
his popularity, denounced the convention, and the Spanish people
would listen to nothing short of absolute and unreserved surrender.

The capitulation of Baylen is one of the darkest incidents in the
annals of the French army, and there is nothing but that of Pavia
to compare with it. Napoleon was at Bourdeaux when the news
reached him, and was, for the moment, completely overwhelmed by
it. * It was the first event in the career of his arms calculated to
destroy the prestige of victory which had hitherto attended them.

He said with bitterness that defeat was the occasional fate of all in |

the reverses of war, but to surrender 20,000 men with arms in their
hands appeared a disgrace which admitted of no excuse: of course
it was no mitigation of the evil in his eyes that Mack had surren-
dered to himself a greater force belonging to Austria in the cam-
paign of 1805. Generals Dupout and Vedel were put in prison
immediately on their return to France, and the Emperor ordered a
process to be instituted against them, but nothing was done further,
and they were still in prison when the Allies entered Paris in 1814.
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The former General took service subsequently under the Bourbons,
and was War Minister to Louis X VIII,

17. FIRST SIEGE OF ZARAGOZA.

General Verdier had been desired by the Emperor to endeavour
to force his way into Zaragoza, and on the 29th of June had ar-
rived before that city, bringing reinforcements to General Lefebvre-
Desnouettes and all the guns which he could collect at Pampeluna.
He now assumed the command, and gave the necessary orders to
commence the siege. The city of Zaragoza may be almost called an
open town. It is placed entirely on the right bank of the Ebro,
and is completely enclosed by an old wall of brick, 10 feet high and
3 feet thick, without any suburbs, except the small fauxbourg called
Arral)ates, situated beyond the bridge, on the left bank, which is
here commanded from the city side. Three large buildings, the
residence of the Inquisition, in front of the gate del Portillo; the
convent of Sta Engracia, at the entrance of the Camina reale from
Madrid; and that of San José, on the great road to Valencia, were
prepared by Palafox as so many great redoubts in front of the wall,
where were many clive-yards, and a ratherconsiderable stream, called
La Huerba, which protected more than one-half of: the enceinte to its
Jjunction with the Ebro. The whole town is overlooked by.an
elevated plateaun, called Monte-Torrero, at the foot of which, about
two miles distant, runs the great canal of Arragon. General Le-
febvre had, as we have related, taken possession of Monte-Torrero
on the 27th, which cut off all the communications of the city from
the side of Madrid.

Colonel Lacoste, of the Engineers, who had been expressly sent
by the Emperor to undertake the siege, carefully reconnoitred every
side of Zaragoza; but all the siege materials were not arrived at
the French Engineers’ camp, when General Verdier opened fire on
the night of the 30th of June. It is fairly established as a rule of
military art, though it is constantly violated by the impatient spirit
of military commanders, that men should never be employed against
barricades of wood or stone until all the means of science shall be
at hand to break down or damage the obstructions they offer. The

" guns were at once established on the side of the Castillo de la Alja-
feria, called the palace of the Inquisition, which they battered in
breach, while they bombarded the city on the side of Portillo. On
the morning of the 2nd, preparations were made for an assault,
but General Hubert, who commanded the false attacks on the side
of San José, on arriving at the wall, found the ladders were too
short, and met such a determined resistance as he did not expect.
Palafox had established a battery of 40 guns, which resolutely
replied to the French fire, and completely flanked the approach of
the troops, who were ordered to assail it in 6 columns, It was here
that Augustina, an enthusiastic young woman of the lower class,
first showed herself, and scizing a port-fire from the hand of a dead
gunner, she fired a 24-pounder from the Spanish battery, and jump-
ing upon it. swore that she would Bever quit it but with her life.

e
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The carnage now became terrible, but the defenders maintained
their ground. The French General was at the end of his ammuni-
tion, and was not prepared for the necessity to which he was already
reduced by the stubhornness of the defence as evinced at the first
assault, notwithstanding the shower of shell and shot which he had
poured upon the place during the first two or three nights. He saw
the expediency of husbanding his means of attack, and demanded
fresh troops; and Colonel Lacoste now determined to make new
approaches against the place on the side of the Sta Engracia.

Palafox happened to have been absent from the city at the mo-
ment of the assault, and the command had devolved on the Intendant
Calvo de Rozas and two plebeian chiefs, called Tio Martin and Tio
Jorge. These men all resolutely exerted themsclves under their
energetic chief to keep up a powerful and continued resistance, "T'he
enemy succeeded in destroying the corn mills on the river by which
the city was supplied with bread. Under this new infliction, all
the horses and mules were collected and brigaded to work mills in
the town. There was a reasonable apprehension lest their stock of
gunpowder should fail, but the monks (for the credit of the order
that had produced Friar Bacon) collected all the sulphur, cleansed
the sewers to obtain saltpetre, and fabricated charcoal out of the
hemp-stalks, which are here of such a size as to become ligneous,
and the magazines were continually supplied. The bridge was still
open, by which the insurgents from the open country still brought
in supplies, but, by the 11th or 12th, the enemy had closed this
communication, and the besieged were now reduced to their own
resources. The side of the intended attack having been discovered,
the convent of Sta Engracia was converted into a perfect citadel.
Batteries of heavy guns were placed in the apartments below, and
lighter artillery in the upper stories, while the very clock-tower was
armed with faleonets and what the Chinese call gingals. An épauie-
ment was carried from the convent of the Capuchins on the right,
towards the Puerto del Carmen; and the bed of the Huerba being
dry at this season, was filled with obstructions of every kind. A
reinforcement having reached the city from Estremadura, Palafox
resolved upon an attempt to retake the Monte-Torrero; and, on the
17th, made a desperate sally at the head of 2,000 men, but these
brave levies could not succeed against the disciplined valour of the
besiegers. On the 23rd another vigorous sortie was made from the
side of Arrabales, to bring in a force of Arragonese, expected to
arrive from that side, but all their efforts were alike vain.

The French daily increased the number of their guns, and formed
seven new batteries, some of them within 150 yards of the convent.
They began to bombard again on the morning of the 31st, but, in
the night of the 2nd of August, a furious cannonade opened on the
devoted city, which was continued all through the 3rd; 600 shell
are said to have been projected, which principally fell on the con-
vents del Carmen and_Sta Engracia. On the 4th, at mid-day, the
breaches were pronounced practicable, and the besiegers advanced
to the storm. Palafox took his place at an early hour near the
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Torre del Pino, against which two columns were in march, the
right commanded by General Hubert, the left by General Grandjean.
Nothing could resist the impulse of the French attack ; they carried
the convent, and pushed on to the Calle del Cosso, a broad street
in the very midst of the city, where they planted the tricolor on the
church of San Francisco. Scarcely, however, had the assailants
time allowed them to consolidate their success, when, in their front,
flank, and rear, every house vomited forth the fire of musketry.
The Spanish account is most expressive —« Cada habitante era yo
un leon feroz.” The assailants were obliged, therefore, to throw
up parapets hastily for their protection, and, indeed, it was already
necessary to lay siege to every house. The hospital of San Fran-
cisco and the madhouse, on the two sides of the street leading into
the Cgsso, offered such a resistance that the French troops commenced
with this object to bring out of the houses, furniture, bedding, &c.,
to construct what are termed “ blindages,” akind of temporary fire-
proof roofing for shelter. The bitterness of the individual fighting
was almost unprecedented, for on the one side were men who fought
for their household gods; on the other, soldiers despising the
antagonists who could not withstand them in skill, but brought sheer
animal courage and bodily strength to resist them. Before night,
the broad space of the Cosso divided the combatants; and the
wretched inhabitants, though unhoused and exhausted by the fa-
tigue of a seven hours’ conflict, resolutely began to prepare fresh
defences. Brigadier Torres was directed by Palafox to get into
position fresh guns for the defence of the morrow. In the evening,
General Verdier, thinking the besieged sufficiently cowed by the'
success of his troops, sent to Palafox this short summons, “ Se rende
luego Inego Zaragoza. The French Marshal sent in his terms more
formally, “La paix et 1a capitulation ;” to which the Spaniard instantly
replied as curtly, “ Guerra a cuchillo.” Verdier had been himself
wounded severely by a ball in the thigh, and Lefebvre-Desnouettes
had received a grave contusion in the side, yet the French writers
assert that their casualties in this night battle were only 300 killed
and 900 wounded. It was probably thrice that number; bat no
one knows correctly how many were Spanish and how many were
French on the heaps that filled every street and every house in the
portion of the city which was the scene of the combat.

Lefebvre-Desnouettes, who succeeded to the command in conse-
quence of Verdier's wound, proposed to Lacoste to proceed by the
move insidious mode of sap and mine, rather than incur all the
casualties of street fighting ; for the acrimony of the Spaniards was
such that it would not even justify the concession of a truce to
bury the dead, which, in the terrible heats of the season, soon be-
came a source of as much danger to the inhabitants as the sword of
the French. Palafox, in this emergency, harnessed the French pri-
soners to ropes, and made them drag away the dead out of the streets
to cast them into pits, which were hastily dug to receive them, and,
of course, the Fiench did not fire on their comrades in the course of
these sad duties.
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On the evening of the following day, the 5th of August, Verdier
received the account of the capitulation of Baylen and the order of
King Joseph to raise the siege as soon as he could do so without
risk, but to do his best to exhaust against the enemy all store of
gunpowder which he could not bring away. While, therefore, the
street firing was kept up continually, night and day, preparations
were silently made for withdrawing the French army. The im-
portant intelligence of Dupont’s surrender had also reached the
garrison on the 9th, and was made known to the city by a public
announcement. A reinforcement of 3,000 Arragonese, under Pala-
fox’s brother, had, in the meantime, come into Zaragoza on the even-
ing of the 7th, and, on the 8th, a council of war declared unanimously
that they were ready to defend the portion of the city they held as
long as they could, and, if driven from their streets, could cross over
to Arrabales, and defend themselves in that suburb to the last
extremity. This determination of the citizens was shared in by the
clergy, and even the women. Of the former, one Iago Saass has
been noted for his enterprising character, so that his townsmen
created him a Captain, and named bim Chaplain-General to the
army, for his services. Of the Ilatter, the Countess Bureta, one of
the most distinguished of the Arragonese nobility, sallied out of her
mansion with a firelock in her hand at the head of a disciplined
company of women, and led them into the midst of every danger,
not only to carry succour to the wounded, but to resist the assailants
in person. In expectation of the French departure, Palafox ad-
dressed a spirited proclamation from the ““ Cuartel General de Zara-
goza,” complimenting both ““ Arragoneses y Soldados” on their two
months’ noble resistance of the French armies, and the inhabitants
forthwith illaminated their houses ; but their liberation was notyet
effected, and the most frightful explosions spread continual terror and
alarm. In the night of the 14th many mines were spruug, but fires
were seen with delight to arise from the engineer’s park on Monte-
Torrero. The last blew up the Church of Sta Engracia, which was
laid in ruins.* While the defenders were ready, on the morning of
the 14th, to renew the resistance with undiminished rancour, word
was brought that the French were marching away on the road
to Pampeluna. In the midst of the desolation and misery, the first
thought of the besieged was to proeeed, in full procession, to the
metropolitan church, Del Pilar, where Palafox, accompanied by the
Conde de Montijo, the Correjidor, and Ayuntamiento, and crowds,
civil and military, amid the sound of music and cannon, sung a
solemn Te Deum before they returned to their ruined palaces and
broken homes.

Honour, immortal honour to the name of Zaragoza! The

* The subterranean church of Sta Engracia was, in the estimation of devotees of
the Romish Church, one of the most sacred edifices of Spain. It was full of relics,
and lighted up day and night with 30 lamps, which, althdugh the roof was but 12
feet high, never sullied it with sftoke. This was owing to the oil prepared by the
monks of the Geronemite monastery attached to this church, and puzzled all who
did not believe it to be miraculous.
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whole history of the world does not present a brighter and purer
patriotism than was exhibited, in 1808, by the inhabitants of
Zaragoza. It is a perfect wonder, at the present day, how an open
town, with Bo resources but the enthusiasm of a large population,
could have resisted, for a moment (let alone forty days), the skill
and resources of 17,000 troops of the most experienced and success-
ful army of Europe ! Perbaps no nation but the Spanish could have
produced such an example. Although not eminently a military
people, yet, with great individual bravery, they possess wonderful
powers of endurance; though not eminently moral, yet they possess
a grandeur of soul, which revolts at deceit and insult, and would
stop at nothing to save their women and children from dishonour,
and their religion from desecration. The loss of fathers, husbands,
sons, mothers, wives,and daughters, was endured with patience, but
with indignation; while the sight of their ruined churches and
homesteads lighted an inextinguishable animosity, which carried
them to a glorious result, such as mere military discipline could never
have reached with such slender preparations for defence. Many
material trophies remained to them amoung the stores left behind by
the besiegers; but, if glory was ever of value,it was whenin defence
of their liberties, and their lives, and their religion, they proved
that they could successfully resist an inveterate enemy in defence
of all they held dear. If, then, the mere animus of patriotism could
fire an undisciplined people to such enduranceof calamity for a great -
object, without the ¢ appliances and meaus to boot,” what may not
be expected in our own country from the establishment of trained
bands of rifle volunteers, who, with equal patriotism and equal reso-
lution, ave disciplined to perfect skill in the use of the weapon, and
are as completely organised as regular troops ? The sovereign of a
presumptuous and arrogant soldiery should take warning from
Zaragoza.

King Joseph had entered Madrid on the 20th of July. His
reception had been cold enough, and he could scarcely have reached
the capital of his new kingdom in personal safety but for the effect
of Bessi¢re’s victory at Rio-Seco. He had, however, but just settled
himself down in his palace, in that quiet luxury which he particu-
larly loved, when tne sinister ramours of the capitulation of Baylen
reached Madrid. These were very soon followed by the arrival of
M. de Villoutreys, escorted by a guard of Spanish cavalry, bearing
the terms of the capitulation of his army to the King. What was
now to prevent the victorious army of Castailos marching straight
to the capital ? Had it been commanded by a Napoleon, it would
have been there almost as soon asthe Aide-de-camp we have men-
tioned. The division of General Freire, in La Mancha, could offer
little resistance, and the garrison of Madrid was composed merely
of men in hospital and the weak divisions of Mounier and Morlot,
for all defence. The throne, moreover, was already a thorny seat ;
for, in the short time that the intrusivﬁing had been at Madrid,
he and Savary had been at variance; , although he might have
sent him away out of Spain, yet the General represented the high
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authority of the Emperor against the feeble power of an immature
royalty, and now, in his trouble, Joseph appealed to him for his
advice, glad to cover his own feebleness with the responsibility of
a French General. The resolve to abandon Madrid was arrived at
in council together; but it was necessary to save as much as possible
of the materiel de yuerre which had been collected in the fort of
Buera-Retico, and, accordingly, while orders were issued for the re-
tirement of all the French forces hehind the Ebro, it was the 2nd
of August before Joseph quitted Madrid, and established his head-
quarters at Miranda, on the great Camina Reale leading into
France.

18. A BriTIsH EXPEDITION, UNDER WELLESLEY, ARRIVES IN THE
PENINSULA,

The British expedition, intended to aid the patriotic exertions of
the nations of the Peninsula, was collected at Cork, to the extent of
9,000 soldiers, who set sail from that port on the 12th of July, and,
while the transports were slowly ploughing the Bay of Biscay,
Lieutenant-General Sir Arthur Wellesley sailed away on board
the “Crocodile,” anticipating his forces, in order to learn the state
of affairs in the Peninsula, and to determine on the spot which, in
his judgment and that of the naval authorities off the coast, was
best suited for the landing of the expedition; he arrived, on the 20th,
at Corunna. He immediately sought an interview with the Galician
Junta, whom he found in a state of the greatest consternation at the
defeat of Medina de Rio-Seco, which had only occurred a few days
before ; and, although in a perfect panic as to its results, they refused
the aid of British troops, professing that they needed no assistance,
except in money aund stores. There is at all times a blind self-

_confidence in the Spanish character, and the truth was that the
leaders of the patriots, at this time, were hot-headed, violent men,
who entertained an inflated opinion of the bravery and efficiency of
their troops, and some contempt for the troops of every other
nation, especially of the English army, who had not at that time
performed any deeds of arms worthy their ancient renown; so that
General Castaiios, a man of moderate character, gave vent, in a
speech addressed to the French officers at Baylen, to this most
imprudent remark : “ Let not your Emperor force us into the arms
of the English, who are hateful to us, and to this moment we have
rejected their proffered succour.”  Finding, therefore, what were the
tone and complexion of thought in Spain, Wellesley left that people
to their own devices, and took his course to Oporto. There he was
cordially received by the Bishop and the authorities, who offered a
ready compliance with his demands for supplies of cattle for draught,
and for assistance of every kind to his commissariat; but he was
warned by Colonel Browne, whom he found at Oporto, not to trust
very confidently to the natignal promises, or to value their proffered
assistance in the field, for 181 Portuguese army did not exceed 6,500
badly-equipped soldiers, and some 10,000 or 12,000 undisciplined
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peasants, concentrated in the valley of the Mondego. The Lieu- !
tenant-General then proceeded by sea to the mouth of the Tagus,
where he consulted Admiral Sir Charles Cotton, in command of the
British fleet off that port. The information he here obtained was
that the enemy’s position in the neighbourhood of Lisbon was so
strong that it was not practicable to effect a landing in that quarter,
and he, therefore, resolved to return in the “ Croeodile,” to meet the
fleet of transports, and disembark then, midway between Oporto and
lisbon, at Mondego Bay. 'F'here was no place to the northward of
Lisbon better suited for disembarkation except Peniche, where was
a strong fort, occupied by the enemy, which could not be taken with-
out heavy ordnance ; bat the fort of Figueras, at the mouth of the
Mondego, had been already taken possession of by the partisan Zagalo,
and was now occupied by a detachment of British marines. On the
Ist of August, the troops commenced landing there, and as the
Jast brigade disembarked, on the 3rd, the division of General Spencer
arrived from Cadiz most opportunely, and came to anchor the same
day. This reinforcement raised the effective strength of Wellesley's
army to 12,300 men.

The moment he set his foot on shore, Sir Arthur proceeded to
hold a conference with General Bernardin Freire, in command of
the Portuguese force at Montemor Velho, in order to discuss a plan
of future operations. The British General’s sagacity soon dis-
covered, notwithstanding the pompous accounts given him by the
Junta, that no reliance whatever was to be placed on the Portuguese
Government, for, instead of finding the supplies which had been pro-
mised, the magazines, prepared for the British army at Leyria, had
been seized by the Portuguese General, who further demanded of the
English General that he should undertake to subsist his troops, most
obstinately refusing to move from Leyria, if he wonld not do so.
Sir Arthur, therefore, proposed to Freire to send him the Portu-
guese cavalry and about 1,000 Cacadores, who, he engaged, should
fare equally with the British, and the Portuguese General was then
to be left to carry on such independent operations as he might
think proper. Accordingly, a small division of 1,400 infantry and
260 dragoons joined the British army. The General-in-Chief was
obliged, under these circumstances, to arrange his movements with
much circumspection, and, before commencing his march. saw the
necessity of collecting for himself means of transport sufficient for
the march of his soldiers into the field.

General Junot had, from the very first moment of his arrival in
Portugal, found himself in a situation of danger and embarrassment.
He had made himself personally obnoxious to the people of Lisbon
by contumely and exaction, and had exasperated the clergy in &
mauner that acted with telling force on the bigoted community
under their influence ; but the French General had not been insen-
sible to the dangers arising from the proceedings on the Spanish
side of the Peninsula, and adopted every precaution against his
army being surprised or surrounded “like that of Dupont. He
divided the French force under his command, amounting to an
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effective strength of 45,000 men, into three corps of infaniry and
one of cavalry: the first was commanded by Laborde, the second by
Loison, the third by Travot, and the cavalry by Margaron. All the
fortresses of the kingdom were at this time in his possession, and were
everywhere in perfect repair, garrisoned and provisioned. Keller-
man had the military superintendence of the Alemtejo, Maurice of
the Algarves, and Quesnel of the North, while the Marshal main-
tained his head-quarters in the capital. He received, in June, the
orders of the Emperor to send one corps into Galicia, to the support
of Marshal Bessiéres, and another to assist Dupontin Andalusia. The
Spanish contingents, however, which were sent to both corps revolted,
and joined the patriot armies. Junot, by his personal activity and
vigour, prevented Caraffa’s division in Lisbon from following their
example, for he sent the 4,500 men composing it to be confined
in hulks upon the Tagus. The news, that a British army had
effected a landing in Mondego Bay, reached Lisbon on the 2nd of
August. Junot, in anticipation of such an arrival, had warned the
commanders of the different corps under him, and the division under
General Laborde, consisting of 5,000 bayonets and 500 sabres, with
five pieces of artillery, marched to the encounter at once of the
British; but the French Marshal now ordered General Loison, with
7,500 men and six guns, to come up quickly from the Alemtejo and
strengthen Laborde’s division ; then collecting all the detachmenis
he had with him in Lisbon, he proceeded with them to take the
. field in person.

19. CoMeAT AT RoLIGA—BATTLE oF VIMIERO.

On the 8th Wellesley marched, and on the 9th his advance
entered Leyria, to prevent, if possible, the junction of Loison and
Laborde. On the 11th, he reached that city with his whole force,
and succeeded in this object; for the former finding the British
before him at Leyria fell back on Santarem, through Torres Novas,
while Laborde, not knowing where his colleague might be,advanced
to Batalha, but afterwards fell back to QObidos, and thence on the
16th to Rolica. The heat was very oppressive, and the French were
so exhausted with it that Loison was compelled to remain at San-
tarem two days to recover them. The rival troops first came to
blows on the previous day, when some men fell in a skirmish,
and Obidos was occupied after a trifling resistance ; but the position
taken up by Laborde at Rolica was a good one, though he had a
very inferior force to contest it against his antagonist, unless Loison
should come up. The French General was therefore placed in a
situation that required nosmall exercise of personal intrepidity ; but
animated by the danger, encouraged by the advantages the position
offered, and justly confident in his troeps, he resoived to abide his
adversary’s assauit. About 7 in the morning of the 17th the Dritish
general marched against him from the town of Obidos with 14,000
men and 18 guns, in three columns of attack ; the riflemen being
detached right and left to keep up the communication between them.
Hill, with his brigade, and 1,200 Portuguese, under Colonel Trant,
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moved on the right of the valley to make a long détour to turn the
encmy’s left. The left, under Ferguson, consisting of his own

brigade and that of Bowes, with 6 guns, advanced up the hills .

under the expectation of meeting Loison, whose arrival at Rio
Major had been ascertained, and at the same time to render
the heights at Rolica untenable. The centre, under Wellesley
himself, consisting of the brigades of Beresford, Nightingale, and
Fane, with two batteries of guns, moved along the high road
against the enemy’s front. 'The French general seeing this dis-
position, retired by the passes into the mountains with the utmost
regularity and the greatest celerity, and fell back under a cannonade
to the rocky heights between Columbeira and Zambugeiro.  This
retrograde movement so lengthened the march to Ferguson and
Trant’s columns taat they were too distant to be of service,
so that the centre was forced to a direct unsupported attack
against the new position, where Laborde received them with great
gallantry. The advantage of superior numbers was thus lost to the
British, for only 4,000 men could be thrust into the fight, and the
assailing columns were so crowded in the ascent by narrow path-
ways that the attack lost all its ensemble. The defence of the
formidable position was desperate. The French general was him-
self wounded at the commencement of the affair, but never quitted
the field. He was, however, unable‘to maintain his ground alone
against the great force to which he was opposed. But, nevertheless,
he made his retreat in good order and with resolution, for Fer-
guson’s column now coming on his right flank, he gradually drew
away his troops from the left, although in so doing the 9th and 29th
fell upon him, against whom he made three most gallant attacks, in
one of which Colonel Lake, of thelatter regiment, fell. The action
lasted from 9 in the morning till 5 in the afternoon, and cost
the French 3 guns and 600 men. The British loss did not exceed
500. The manweuvre of General Loison at Roli¢a was, to employ a
modern slang word, extremely dodgy. His ohject was to afford time
for a junction with Laborde, and he was also wishful to learn the
amonnt of his adversary’s force. He therefore retired slowly before
the British from Olidos to the heights behind the village of Roliga,
whence he could sce Wellesley’s army ; but, as soon as he pereceived
Ferguson marching to outflank him, he fell back to Zambugeiro,
where he could withstand any disparity of force. He also by this
little retreat obliged Ferguson, who had made the circle to ontflank
him at Roli¢a, to make another to outflank him at Zambugeiro,and
having thus obtained time, he then, protected by his cavalry, made
a timely retreat. It was not his fault that he did not reap all the
advantage of this delay. The want of cavalry and the nature of the
ground, intersected with deep ravines and covered with low brush-
wood and gum cistus, prevented this first success of the English
from being as complete as it might have been.

Junot, having made all his arrangements at Lisbon, left General
Travot in charge of the capital, which he quitted on the 16th of
August, carrying with him three battalions and a regiment of
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cavalry, with 10 guns and plenty of ammunition, together with the
military chest. He came up at Torres Vedras with Laborde, and
was soon after joined there by Loison. The former general was not
followed after to Rolica, as well for the causes named already as that
Wellesley had intelligence that a large fleet of transports was in
sight off the coast. Instead, therefore, of following the high road in
pursuitof the French, he marched close to the shore to cover the land-
ing of these reinforcements, and moving forward towards Lourinka
for this purpose, he, on the evening of the 19th, took up a position
beside the village of Vimiero. The same night the brigades of An-
struther and Ackland safely came to shore, and were marched up to.
Jjoin 8ir Arthuron the 20th, which increased his force most opportunely
to 16,000 men and 18 pieces of artillery. Thus reinforced, Weilesley
resolved on an advance upon Lisbon. He was, however, expecting
every hour to he superseded in his command, for, such was at this
period the deplorable ignorance of the British Cabinet of military
organisation, that no less than three senior generals—Moore, Bur-
rard, and Dalrymple—were nominated to the actual command, and
each or all of these might be expected to arrive every moment.
In the night of the 20th, one of them, Sir Harry Burrard, did arrive,
and Sir Arthur went on board the frigate in Maceira road to report
to his superior officer. He explained to him that Marshal Junot
was in his front with 14,000 good soldiers, 23 guns, and a powerful
cavalry, but that he had projected a march for that very night to turn
the French left and gain Mafra, without assailing the strong ground
of Torres Vedras. Sir Harry, however, forbade the projected march,
because he had reason to expect the reinforcement nnder Sir John
Moore; and any reason for delay has always a sufficient influence
upon incompetence. What sort of commander would thishave proved,
who could sleep on shipboard when the enemy was in pursuit of
his army? Wellesley showed him the utter impossibility of re-
maining quiet where both armies now stood, and explained that any
delay would give Junot the advantage of the initiative ; but Sir
Harry was not to be convinced, although he would not land and
assume the command. At the very moment of this colloquy the
French were in motion, and, after a tedious night’s march, they
appeared at 7 in the morning within four miles of the British
outposts.

The position at Vimiero was a steep mountain ridge, restipg its
right upon the sea, and trending on the left hand towards a plateau
on which the village of Vimiero was situated. A ridge of less
elevation continued on the other side of a ravine or dry bed of a
rivalet. Junot, whose impetuous character was too impatient to
make any reconnoissance, saw that the British left was lower and
less occupied than their right, and at once ordered his cavalry, under
General Margaron, to march by the road to Lourinka to tura the
position on that side, while he directed Brennier and Laborde, sup-
ported by Loison and a reserve of grenadiers under Kellerman, to
assail the lower elevation of the position, paying no attention what-
ever to the higher ground. Wellesley detected this error, and
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denuding the lofty ridge of all that occupied it, except one brigade
under General Hill, he sent away the four other brigades which had
been posted there across the plain to the left-hand ridge, while the
Portuguese, under Trant, were despatched to the extreme left to
watch the Lourinka road. These movements, made along the chord
of the arc by which the French moved, were concealed by the
form of the ground from the French Marshal’s observation, and
this accession of force had, in fact, already reached its ground
before the attack commenced. The whole of the position about
Vimiero is so broken and wooded, that the approach of the French,
led by Laborde, could not be clearly discerned before they burst
upon the British centre. The advance, under Brigadier Thomicre,
forced its way with great vehemence and power, but could not get
through the British line, where they were well received by the
brigade of Fane, who, observing that the guns could act well from
the place he occupied, ordered up Colonel Robe with the reserve
artillery to strengthen the brigade of six guns already on this plat-
form. Such a shower of shell and grape now fell upon the advance as
might have been sufficient to stop any troops; nevertheless, Thomicre
pushed up the hill, but on the summit he found the 50th regiment,
who checked his advance and drove him down again.  Anstruther’s
troops on Fane's left had equal success, so that Laborde called up
Kellerman’s reserve. These were met by the 43rd, who encountered
them in the churchyard of the village with ringing shouts, rushing
in a solid mass upon the enemy, whom Robe's artillery had already
terribly disconcerted, and driving them by the bayonet in irrecover-
able disorder. A French chef-de-bataillon here fell covered with
wounds, and Colonels Foy and Prost of their artillery were severely
wounded. A flank attack was opportunely made upon the retiring
French column by the brigade of Ackland, who drove the enemy,
under Brigadier Charlot, before them, close to the very foot of the
plateau. Towards noon Junot, seeing that he could not pierce the
centre, sent forward the brigades of Brennier and Solignac of the
division Loison, to turn a ravine which led to the English left: this
ground, full of rocks and hellows, was difficult to traverse, so that
when they emerged from it in some disorder, they were encountered
by Brigadier Ferguson with the 36th, 40th, and 71st, who came down
upon them with a counter attack, so fierce, so rapid, so well sustained,
that Solignac fell badly wounded, and his men, deprived of bis com-
mand, were forced into low ground on their right and lost six guns.
The troops who retained the ground were soon afterwards attacked by
the brigade Brennier, who beat them back and retook the guns, but
in the struggle that ensued the French general himself was made
prisoner, and his brigad: obliged to retreat again with great loss.
The French, to whom, at this period of the war, anything like de-
feat was an amazement,were retiring from these attacks when Colonel
Taylor, at the head of 400 men of the 20th dragoons and Portu-
guese cavalry, came sweeping down the plain, and actually had taken
prisoner the chef-de-bataillon, Palaméde de Forbin, when he was
encountered by Margaron’s horse, who drove the allied cavalry back
12
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with theloss of their brave leader. The British reserve had not been
at this time brought forward, and Hill’s brigade had not fired a shot,
nor had Trant’s column nor Ferguson’s any other than very trifling
casnalties. Anstruther sent down, at this period of the action, to
ask if he should bring up his brigade to the assistance of the Com-
mandgr-in-Chief. « No, sir,” Sir Arthur replied, * Iam not pressed,
and I want no assistance. I am beating the French, and am able to
beat them wherever I find them.” Wellesley now desired to follow
up the victory, for at 2 in the day Junot’s retreat was in full opera-
tion, and an unquestionable fact. He desired to push forward his
right and centre on Montachique by Torres Vedras, which road was
now left uncovered, and this would have cut off completely the
retreat of the French upon Lisbon, but Sir Harry Burrard, who
had been absent at the beginning of the battle, had now arrived
upon the ground, and assumed the command. That general had,
with a gentlemanly forbearance, declined to take the command
during the fight, but now deeming the further responsibility to be on
his own shoulders, he issued his orders to the army to halt and pile
arms, that they might remain in position for the momentarily ex-
pected arrival of Sir John Moore. Sir Arthur could not restrain
the bitterness of his disappointment at this order, and, turning to
the officers of his staff, said : * Gentlemen, nothing now remains to
be done but to go and shoot red-legged partridges.”

The battle of Vimiero may be cited as the first instance in which
the French became acquainted with the ‘peculiar character and
organisatiou of the British army in battle. The stolid firmness and
resolute thrust of the infantry, and the wonderful skill and precision
of the artillery, were not at all like the bearing of other opponents
over whom they had obtained such easy victories, and the know-
ledge here obtained had considerable influence on the whole war.
The Duke of Abrantes, whose gallantry in the field this day justified
all his antecedents, profited by this unexpected cessation of hostili-
ties to re-form his broken infantry, and he called his generals around
him to consider the best course to be adopted under the circum-
stances of this defeat in the field and the consequent impossibility
of holding Portugal. Their situation had indeed become perilous
in the extreme. Their army had been defeated in two successive
actions; 1,000 men were killed or missing, and another 1,000
wounded, and the only resource open was a retreat into Spain,
through a hostile population. The generals therefore agreed that
they were not in a condition either to give or receive a battle, and
must, therefore, have recourse to some species of negotiation for
the safety of the army. It was, therefore, resolved to despatch
General Kellerman, the son of the hero of Valmy, and an officer of
considerable merit of his own acquiring at Marengo and elsewhere,
and of some experience in diplomatic affairs, to the British head-
quarters, on the morning of the 22nd. It may be noted, in passing,
that the British loss in the two actions was 1,220, and that of the
French was stated at 2,500.
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20. CONVENTION OF CINTRA.

Lieutenant-General Sir Hew Dalrymple had, however, arrived in
the offing, with authority to assume the supreme command of the
British army, and, on the evening of the 21st, sent his Aide-de-
camp to shore in order to’ learn the state of affairs. He was
informed, about midnight, that Wellesley had fought a battle and
obtained a victory, but that Burrard had subsequently arrived, and
was in command. As there was now, therefore, no longer room for
any delicacy in the matter, Sir Hew landed next day, and assumed
the chief authority.

With very considerable surprise he received General Kellerman
with his missive from the Duke of Abrantes, and at once appointed
Sir Arthur Wellesley and the Quarter-master General Murray to
conduct the conference. The French historians pretend that the tact
of the French negotiator was such, that he discovered much, from
what they let fall in conversation, as to the unsatisfactory condition
of affairs under so many generals, and that this encouraged him to
advance his Jarger demands ; but there was, in fact, no negotiation
in which to show tact, for there was no hesitation in admitting an
armistice for 48 hours, nor as to the line of demarcation between
the armies. Though British officers may not, in general, be able
diplomatists, and are bad deceivers at any time, yet they are not
usually charged, by their animated and lively rivals, of being very
talkative or communicative. The succession of three different
Generals to the chief command was not likely to be productive of
a vigorous resolve or a high tone in discussion ; nevertheless, Kel-
lerman returned to his chief on the 23rd, at Montachique, bearing
the terms of a mere suspension of arms, to which Junot gladly put
his seal, and, having placed his army into cantonments, the Marshal
forthwith repaired himself, with an escort of grenadiers and dra-
goons, and all his sick and wounded, to Lisbon, to pack up his
baggage, the river Lizandro having been declared to be the line of
demarcation between the armies, and an interval of 48 hours being
required to denounce the armistice on either side. It was, however,
understood that the British vltimatum was, that the French should
quit Portugal, and that all the strong places should be restored to
the Portuguese authorities.

To the treaty with this object, prepared by the French, Wellesley
introduced the name of Admiral Sir Charles Cotton as a ratifying
party, becacse of the requirements introduced by Junot in respect
to the Russian fleet, at this time lying in the Tagus, under the
command of Admiral Siniavin; but Cotton at once refused to be a
party to any treaty with the French, in respect to a Russian fleet,
and accordingly declined to go to Lisbon, or to have anything to
do with the definite convention. Kellerman, thercfore, and
Murray met together to discuss the military details, without refer-
ence to the Russian fleet. But difficulties soon arose as to the
meaning of the preiiminary terms, and, in consequence, the British
General denounced the armistice on the 28th. In the meantime,
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Moore, with 11,000 men, disembarked at Maceira, and Beresford,
with the 52nd regiment, at the mouth of the Tagus. The Portuguese
army under Freire advanced to Mafra, and others of their troops
came flocking up to the capital on both sides of the Tagus. Junot,
therefore, seeing himself thus outnumbered, conceded the point in
dispute, and the Convention, as definitivély agreed upon, was, on the
30th, signed by Murray and Kellerman, and carried to Sir Hew
Dalrymple at Cintra, who ratified it on the 31st. The French
army set sail from Lisbon during the first days of September, and
were, according to agreement, landed on the coast of Brittany,
whence they were at once marched away to enter the Peninsula
again, by way of the Pyrenees. The garrisons of Elvas and Almeida,
however, did not arrive in time to accompany them. On the
former fortress being summoned by the Spanish General Galluzo,
the French Commandant, Girod de Novilais, refused to listen to his
proposal to yield up the place, and it was not till the arrival of a
British regiment, under Hope, that it was surrendered. This
division was not, therefore, put on board transports at Aldea
Gallega until the 7th of October. The garrison of Almeida had
injudiciously determined to keep the fite Napoléon on the 15th of
August, by a sally and butchery of some Portugvese militia, in
their immediate front, and to retaliate, the peasants, under the
direction of a monk who styled himself Jose de la Madre de Dios,
poisoned the fountains, by which many of the garrison were
destroyed, and so many of their cattle, that they fell into great
want of provisions. Accordingly, they were but too glad to give
up the place to the English, who were sent to demand it, and the
unfortunate garrison, amounting to 1,400 men, were conducted to
embark at Oporto; but on the road they were only saved from
being decimated and destroyed by the intervention of the British
Colonel Sir Robert Wilson with the corps, which that active and
enterprising officer had raised in the country, and which he had
styled the Lusitanian Legion. With respect to the Russian
squadron, a separate convention was drawn up between the
Admirals Sir Charles Cotton and Siniavin, and signed on the 3rd
of September, by which the Russian fleet, consisting of 9 sail of
the line and a frigate, was placed in the hands of His Britanunic
Majesty, as a deposit, until six months after a treaty of peace
between Russia and Great Britain; and in the meanwhile the
officers and crews were to be sent home to their own country, at
England’s expense.

The indignation of the British nation at the Convention of
Cintra was unbounded, and an enquiry into the conduct of the
three Generals who contracted the engagement was so loudly
demanded, that it took place under the presidency of General Sir
David Dundas, but their report, on the 22nd of December, exone-
rated all the generals from direct blame. This was too much for
endurance, and, accordingly, it was thought expedient, in order to
satisfy the public voice, that the King should make an official de-
claration conveying a rebuke on Sir Hew Dalrymple. The Con-
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vention was also loudly disapproved of by the Portuguese General
Freire, and the stirring faction of which the Bishop of Oporto was
the head, who could not be persuaded that it was a purely military .
arrangement between the British and French armies. When the
latter looted the kingdom every edifice in Portugal, civil or religious,
had been despoiled of all that was valuable and portable. Junot, who
had entered the kingdom with scarcely a change of linen, demanded
five ships to remove what he called his personal effects; and the
plunder of all was in proportion to that of the chief. It wasnot, there-
fore. without immense difliculty that the two British commissioners
appointed to carry out the Convention could resist the unblushing
pertinacity with which the French officers endeavoured to claim
public plunder as private baggage. The differences at length rose
tosuch a height, that Lisbon became in a fearful state of bitterness
against the French, and of reproach against the English for pro-
tecting them, so that at length the English Commander-in-Chief
found himself obliged to declare martial law, without recognising
the authority of the Juntas at all, but he finally re-established the
gege}}cy as appointed by the Prince Regent at his departure for the
razils.

The Convention of Cintra was, notwithstanding all the obloquy
that had been thrown upon it, a measure both politic and advan-
tageous to the British under the circumstances. It delivered Portugal
altogether from the French, and gave possession of fortresses, the
acquisition of which would have cost much time and blood. The
British army was at the moment in a very unorganised state — its
horses were out of condition, and few in number; the siege train was
still on board ship; the mouth of the Tagus was held by a Russian
fleet; and Lisbon, saved from destruction, became an excellent place
d’armes, the possession of which, by sea and langd, secured the future
operations against the enemy.

21, DE LA ROMAGNA ARRIVES IN SPAIN FROM DENMARK.

It will be remembered that part of the policy of Napoleon, in
anticipation of the designs he was meditating against the Spanish
kingdom, was to remove its military force from its defence. So far
back as the battle of Eylau, a division of Spanish soldiers, under the
command of the Marquis de la Romagna, was directed upon
Hamburg, and, traversing France with that object, reached its
destination just about the period of the seizure of Copenhagen by
the British. It was at this time placed under the superior command
of Marshal Bernadotte. When matters became matured for the
French possession of the Peninsula, Napoleon advised the Prince
of Ponte-Corvo to keep an eye upon this corps, consisting of about
20,000 men. The French authorities contrived to keep De la
Romagna in complete ignorance of all that was occurring in Spain,
but at length the British Government found a medium through which
it could communicate with the Marquis. A Swedish clergyman,
in whose honour and enterprise they could confide, contrived to
gain access to the Spanish General by jostling him advisedly in
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the street, and apologising tor the misadventure in Latin. A con-
versation thence ensued in that language, in which De la Romagna

_became informed of what had happened, and of the readiness of the

British authorities to assist him in the rescue of himself and his
troops from French trammels. The Spaniards in Zeeland no
sooner learned the atrocious aggression under which their native
land was suffering than they cordially responded to their General’s
appeal, and he opened a communication with the British Rear-
Admiral Keats, who was in the Baltic with a squadron of three
74-gun ships, and five or six other smaller vessels. Accordingly,
they took possession of the fort and town of Nyborg, in the Isle
of Fiinen, on the 9th of August, with 6,000 men. The Danish
authorities, displeased at such a proceeding, moored a man-of-war
brig, the “ Fama,” and the cutter, “ Salornan,” 12, in frount of the
harbour, and would not listen to any remonstrances addressed to
them by the British and Spanish Commanders. The boats and
small vessels of the British squadron were therefore placed under
the command of Captain Macnamara, of the “ Edgar,” who attacked
and captured both the brig and cutter the same night. It was now
of first consequence to embark the Spanish army with all haste,
and, accordingly, the Admiral, shifting his flag to the “ Hound,”
bomb-vessel, directed Macnamara to man 57 sloops or doggers
found in the ports with the seamen of the squadron, and in the
course of the following day a great part of the artillery, baggage,
and stores helonging to the Spanish troops was carried on hoard,
and removed to the port of Sleypsham, where on the 11th the
troops were all embarked without an accident. About 1,000 more
men joined the anchorage off the island of Sproe, in Jutland, and
another 1,000 from Langeland; but two regiments quartered in the
island of Zeeland were disarmed and made prisoners, after firing on
the French Geuneral Frision, and killing one of his Aide-de-camps.
Altogether about 10,000 men were carried off, and, with the gallant
Mzrquis, safely landed at Corunna on the 30th of September.

22, WAR IN SCANDINAVIA.

On the 9th of February, a Russian army 20,000 strong, under
General Buxhowden, disregarding the rigoursof a winter of unusual
severity, entered Finland, heralded by a proclamation or Imperial
ukase from the Czar, which bore “ that we unite Finland for ever
to our Empire, and command its inhabitants to take the oath of
allegiance to our throne® The King of Sweden had made no
preparations for the defence of Finland, and the few troops in that
provinee, unable to make head against so formidable a force, were
obliged to retreat. The important fortress of Helsingfors, and
ultimately the capital city of the provinece, Abo, feil into the hands
of the Russians. Sveaborg, the Gibraltar of the North, is situated
on seven rocks separated from the mainland, flanking each other,
casemated for the protection of their garrisons, and impervious to
the attack of any land force. It was at this period strongly forti-
fied with 700 pieces of cannon, and in the roads, which might
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contain the fleets of the world, lay a fleet of Swedish galleys. It
was garrisoned by 3,000 Swedish troops, commanded by Admiral

" Cronstadt, when on the 8th of March it was invested from the land
side, but the frozen waters of the Baltic prevented effectually the
sea face of the fortress from being surrounded. The orders to the
governor were “ to defend the fortress to the last extremity.” Yet,
although no landing had been attempted from the ice, and a very
weak bombardment had been opened from the shore, the place was
most shamefully surrendered on the 6th of April, under a strong
suspicion of bribery.

The Swedish fleet consisted of 11 or 12 sail of the line, under
Admiral Nauchhoff, and 6 or 7 frigates. Fortunately for Sweden,
Denmark had at this time only two line of battle ships left to
oppose her, but Russia possessed a fleet far greater than Gustavus
could send to sea. It was necessary, therefore, to look to Great

Britain for assistance; but, with true Muscovite finesse, although
the peace of Tilsit naturally suspended all friendly relations with
England, she waited until the Baltic was frozen over before she
declared war. However, as soon as the ice broke up, on the 17th
of May, a British fleet assembled off Gottenburg under Vice-
Admiral Sir James Saumarez, consisting of “Victory,” 100, Captain
George Hope, bearing the Admiral’s flag, * Centaur,” 74, Captain
Webley, bearing the flag of Rear-Admiral Sir Samuel Hood,
¢ Superb,” 74, Captain Jackson, bearing that of Admiral Goodwin
Keats, * Implacable,” 74, Captain Bryan Martin, “ Brunswick,”
Captain Graves, “ Mars,” Captain Lukin, “ Orion,” 74, Captain
Sir Archibald Dickson, “ Goliath,” Captain Paget, “ Vanguard,”
Captain Baker, “ Dictator,” 64, Captain Donald Campbell,
« Africa,” 64, Captain Barrett; with the * Africaine,” ¢ Euryalus,”
“ Salsette,” “ Tribune.” and “ Tartar” frigates, besides sloops, gun-
brigs, &c.- About 200 sail of transports, having on board 12,000
men, under Lieutenant-General Sir John Moore, were with the
fleet, rcady for disembarkation. In the meanwhile, General
Klingspor, at the head of the Swedish troops in Finland, after
having fallen back as far as Ulenborg, boldly resumed the offensive
on the 17th of May, and, aided by a gallant band of peasants, who
rallied around the Swedish General, to avert the dreaded Muscovite
yoke, had repeated success against the Russians, took from them
99 pieces of cannon, and expelled them from the whole of East
Bothnia. In the same month of May the Swedish fleet recaptured
the islands of Aland and Gottland, which had yielded to the
Raussian arms, and Admiral Bodikoff, with the Russian garrisons,
were made prisoners.

The British repaired to Stockholm to eoncert measures with the
King for the employment of this force in conjunction with His
Majesty’s army; but it was no easy matter to deal with the eccen-
tric monarch, His mind,although he had scarcely strength enough
to defend his kingdom, was bent on conquest, and he first proposed
the conquest of Zeeland. The British General represented to the
King, that not only was the island strongly fortified, but full of




—

Danish troops, and that there was a strong force of French and
Spanish in the adjoining island of Fiinen. The next proposition
made was, that the British troops should land in Finland, and take
a position there; but it was shown him that the British army was
wholly insufficient to make head against a Russian force that weuld
assuredly march in strength against an enemy so near to their
capital. The end of the conference was, that Sir John Moore
adroitly managed to escape from the rash consequence of a total
disagreement with Gustavas IV., and returned to Gottenburg,
where, under the new phases of the contest, he received orders not
to disembark his army, but to carry them to the Peninsula.
Whatever may have been the faults in the character of Gustavus
IV. of Sweden, a disregard to solemn obligations was not one of
them. He was proof against the wiles and threats of the French
Generals, when, after Jena and Auerstadt, they strove to detach him
from the cause of the Allies; nor would he separate from the King of
Prussia until Frederick-William wrote himself to him to say that
his cause was hopeless ; ald when, after the battle of Friedland, the

whole of Northern Europe came under the power of the Congqueror,’

that true Swedish truth and boldness, which showed him a
legitimate descendant of so many heroes, kept him staunch to
England, and ready to jeopardize his kingdom in fulfilment of his
solemn engagement. He might have readily made peace at Tilsit
with France and Russia, but he chose a braver but less politic part.

23, INTESTINE WAR AT CONSTANTINOPLE.

The Russians, at the same time that they were engaged in war
with Sweden, were also intent on establishing themselves in the
Turkish provinces of Wallachia and Moldavia; and troops to the
number of 80,000 men were poured into these frontier provinces.
In order to hold these in check, a great number of Turkish troops
were assembled from time to time in Roumelia and Bulgaria, but im-
portant revolutions now took place in the turbulent populations of
the Porte. The Sultan Mustapha, who had been raised to the throne
on the deposition of Selim, was sensual, indolent, and ignorant, so
that he gave up the entire conduct of affairs into the hands of the
Kaimacan and Mufti; and in the rivalry which occurred between
these functionaries the former went to the wall  Mustapha
Bairachdar was at this time collecting the disaffected to overturn
the government. This man was of a bold and enterprising character,
but of more enlightened views than were usual among his coun-
trymen, for he had assisted in the organisation of a force upon
the European model, called the Nizam-genites. At the head of
12,000 of these men, he now marched to Constantinople, bearing
with them the Sandjak-Sheriff, or standard of Mahomet. On the
21st he entered the capital, and made known his conditions to
Sultan Mustapha, but he negotiated craftily, with a view of restoring
Selim to the throne. 'The enervated Mustapha, seeking his present
ease and pleasure, gladly acceded to the demands of his powerful
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subjects, and on the 28th of May he went, as was his custom, to
pass the day with his women in one of his kiosks. Bairachdar
marched to the Seraglio and demanded the release of Selim; but
the black eunuchs in charge of this unhappy Prince asked a
moment’s delay, which being conceded, they put the deposed Sultan
to death, and threw his body among the enraged soldiery. The
Sultan Mustapha was then followed, seized, and imprisoned ; and his
younger brother Mahmoud, the last of the royal and special race, was
put on the throne, Bairachdar being at the same time installed as
Grand-Vizier. For some months the vigour of this man’s character
produced a calm, and the best of the Nizam-genites were expedited
to serve against the Russians. Bairachdar then, with unabated
energy, turned his attention to the fleet, and crews were collected
from trading vessels and other craft to strengthen and improve it.
Both Sultan and Vizier proceeded with other innovations, not-
withstanding the many examples before them of the danger of so
doing ; and accordingly the jealousy of the Janissaries became
soon awakened, and the Ulemas, the Mufti, and the leaders of
former tumults, organised an insurrection against Bairachdar.
On the 14th of November, a furious maltitude surrounded the
barracks of the new troops, fell upon the officers of the Nizam-
gedid, and massacred all the partisans of the Grand-Vizier that
came in their way. Another column of insurgents marched to the
palace of Bairachdar, who, finding his personal guards overpowered
and himself on the point of becoming a prisoner, set fire to his
powder magazine, and perished in the explosion. A strong column
had attacked the Seraglio, but the Sultan, placing himself at the
head of 4,000 faithful troops, defeated all the efforts of the insur-
gents. Mahmoud joined to a superior mind an inflexibility of
character that now displayed itself. He ordered his brother Musta-
pba to be put out of the way, that hemight obtain for himself all the
advantage against his enemies of being the last of the sacred race,
and he then sallied at the head of his troops from the Seraglio into
the city, which for 48 hours was the scene of continual combat and
unceasing horrors. At length the Sultan’s enemies, the Janissaries,
prevailed, and he was compelled to purchase peace by the sacrifice
of all the ministers who had been agents in his reforms; but the
force of old attachment to the race of Ottomar saved his life, and
he became even an object of care and veneration to the very men
who had subverted his government.

These repeated convulsions at Constantinople appeared admirably
calculated for the success of the traditionary policy of Russia to get
possession of this capital of the East, but the Czar had at this time
more pressing objects of solicitude and ambition nearer home. The
prosecution of the war in Scandinavia, which promised to gnin
Finland, so long an object of desire to the Cabinet of St. Peters-
burg, and so essential to the safety of that capital, deferred, of
necessity, all iinmediate plans for southern acquisitions, till this
province should have been annexed to the Russian Empire, and the
state of affairs in Europe had become more settled.
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24. INTERVIEW BETWEEN NAPOLEON AND THE CZAR AT
ERFURTH. ’

It had become evident to Napoleon that the Spanish insnrrection
was assuming a magnitude too serious and formidable to be crushed
by other means than the largest force that he could collect. The
surrender at Baylen and defeat of Junot in the open field at Vimi-
ero, together with the successful defence of Zaragoza, gave undis-
guised delight to those who had succumbed at Austerlitz, Jena, and
Friedland. Austria was now under the administration of Count de
Stadion, a man of intelligence, but very anti-Gallican; and the
Archduke Charles was at the head of the Council of War of that
Empire, and had shown his accustomed activity in reorganising the
Imperial army, and placing the landwehr, amounting to 300,000
men, in a state of respectable efficiency. Prussia had been treated
with much generosity since the termination of the campaign, but
Napoleon was too sensible of the firm hostility of the entire German
people to his anthority to be doubtful as to the course they would
adopt in any reverse that might befall hisarms. Russian friendship,
therefore, was at this moment his most necessary security, and he
determined on proposing a personal interview with Alexander. The
Conqueror had flattered himself that he had by his address at Tilsit
obtained a very considerable influence over the mind of the Czar,
and he resolved to turn this ascendancy to account at a moment
when he saw that he had in reality to trust the safety of his empire
to the generosity of his Russian brother.

Erfurth was the town agreed upon for this conference, and there,
on the 27th of September, the two Sovereigns met. In every matter,
great or small, the mind of Napoleon showed that attention to de-
tails, and that activity in their prosecution, which are characteristic
of minds of the first order. Accordingly, the Grand-Marshal of his
Court was instructed to look to the proper guards, ceremonies,
lodgement, subsistence, and police of all the sovereigns and ministers
who were to be called upon to assist at this grand interview, and
that never-absent resource of French amusement, the drama, was
provided for, by sending a company of the Théatre-Francais, from
Paris, to give nightly representations of the best iragedies and
comedies before the royal and noble company. The Emperor
Alexander reached Weimar late in the evening of the 26th, and at
10 o'clock next morning the two Sovereigns met on the highway
between the villages of Ottsted and Nora. They both alighted from
their horses and embraced ; and then, after an interchange of civili-
ties and gorgeous presents, both mounted their horses again and
rode side by side into Erfurth, amidst the roar of artillery and the !
acclamations of 10,000 troops. A crowd of princes and inferior
potentates swelled the train, a brilliant corfége of marshals, generals,
diplomatists, and statesmen were assembled, and, for a fortnight,
nothing, to the superficial gazer, could exceed the splendid cordiality
of the pageant, It is related that, at one of the theatrical representa-
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tions, which both Sovereigns witnessed from the same box, the

tragedy of (dipus was performed, in which occurs the line —
¢ L’amitié d’un grand-homme est un bienfait des dieux ;”

and, no sooner was it pronounced, than Alexander turned to Napo-
leon and gave him his hand, amidst the thundering plaudits of all
the courtiers present.

But it was not for such courtesies and amusements that this
assemblage had been brought together. What passed, however,
between Napoleon and Alexander was not reduced to writing, and
nothing has transpired regarding it, except that the former admitted
at St. Helena that he clearly stated his objection to his Imperial
brother’s views upon Constantinople. At length, on the 14th of
October, the two Emperors took an affectionate leave of each other,
when Napoleon returned to Paris, and Alexander to Poland. One
overt act, indeed, resulted from this conference, in an agreement to
propose peace to England ; and, accordingly, on the 21st of October,
two officers, one a Frenchman and the other a Russian, arrived at
Dover with a flag of truce. The issue of this proposal was
ammounced by King George IIL, in His Majesty’s « Declaration ”
of the 15th of December, which announced that “the overtures made
to His Majesty by the Governments of Russia and France have not
led to negotiations,” &e.

-Napoieon, on his return to the capital, at once prepared vigor-
ously for the conquest of Spain, and resolved to place himself at
the head of an army for this purpose. He called back troops from
Germany, Italy, and elsewhere, in order to assemble a force of
100,000 or 120,000 men; and, in a gasconading spirit, he gave
directions that the soldiers returned from Portugal under Junot
should form a part. He summoned troops from the Princes of the
Confederation of the Rhine, and required his obedient Corps Leégis-
latif to call out the Conscription of 1809, and even a portion of that
of 1810. The great difficulty was to provide the money required
for setting in motion these vast levies, with all the clothing, suste-
nance and material they required ; but he overcame the finances as
he overcame armies, by resolute and determined will, so that, after
discussing all difficulties with his finance minister, M. Mollien, he
exclaimed : ¢ Voila les baisseurs vaincus.”

25, NAVAL WAR — CRUISE OF ADMIRAL GANTHEAUME.

Such had been Napoleon’s exertions since the battle of Trafalgar,
that the spring of this year saw him in possession of 80 sail of the
line, including 20 ships recently ordered to be laid down at Antwerp
and other ports. In Brest, a squadron of 8 men-of-war and 4 frigates
was in the course of the summer made ready for sea. A squadron
of 6 sail-of-the-line, with some large and powerful frigates, was
also prepared for a start from the roads of the Isle ’Aix. The
naval yards of Toulon, Venice, and other Mediterranean ports, were
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in full activity, and Vice-Admiral Gantheaume commanded 10 sail
at anchor in Toulon harbour.

Rear- Admiral Sir Richard Strachan was off Rochefort with 7 men-
of-war, and, in order the more effectually to enforce the blockade,
he anchored his ships for the winter in Basque roads. Getting
short of provisions, however, the British Admiral quitted his ground
to meet some victuallers which had been ordered to carry him sup-
plies, and the state of the weather prevented his getting these till
the 18th of January. On the 17th, Contre-Amiral Allemand dis-
covered that only a frigate and a brig watched the port, and, taking
advantage of the wind, he accordingly put to sea with the « Majes-
tueux,” 100, “ Ajax,” 74, “ Jemmappes,” 74, “ Lion,” 74, “Mag-
nanime,” 74, “ Suffien,” 74, and a frigate and brig-corvette. It
was not till nearly a week afterwards, on the 23rd, that Sir Richard
heard of the departure of the enemy’s squadron, when he hastened
to get on the track of the Straits, which he rightly judged to have
been the course steered by the French squadron; but he did not
reach Gibraltar till the 10th of February. The same contrariety
of weather which had beset Sir Richard had assailed the French
Admiral, and M. Allemand was obliged to send back the “Jem-
mappes ” to Rochefort in a crippled condition ; but, nevertheless,
proceeded on his course with his remaining 5 sail, and passed through
the Straits on the 26th of January unseen from the Rock, and not
encountered in his entire progress by any British cruiser, so that he
anchored safely in the road of Toulon on the 6th of February. On
the 7th, Admiral Gantheaume, with his own squadron and L’Alle-
mand’s united, amounting to 15 sail of the line with frigates, sailed
out of harbour in convoy of 7 transports, having on board troops,
ordnance, stores, and provisions, and arrived off the island of Corfu
on the 23rd, where he landed his soldiers and stores. On the fol-
Jowing day, the French Admiral shifted his flag to the quickest
sailer, and running down to the latitude of Sicily, returned through
the lonian Islands to Corfu on the 15th of March. On the 16th, hav-
ing rehoisted his flag on board the “ Commerce de Paris,” he again
set sail with his whole fleet, and running along the coast of Africa,
Sieily, and Sardinia, re-anchored in the road of Toulon on the 10th
of April, having made a brilliant cruise, but without any result,
except the safe landing of the troops, for he had neither encountered
a foe, nor added a cockhoat to the Imperial navy. The French
fleet had been fallen in with at Corfu by the British ship, « Porcu-
pine,” 22, the Hon. Captain Duncan, and the “ Spartan,” touching
at Cagliari, learned that Gantheaume had been seen steering to the
southward. These reports were forthwith despatched to the British
Commander-in-Chief in the Mediterranean, who was at Maritimo
already in quest of the enemy. Lord Collingwood immediately stood
after them to the Bay of Naples. Not finding them there, he thought
to meet with them off the island of Sicily, and arrived at Syracuse
on the 21st.  On the next day he sailed into the Adriatic, but did
not hear that the French had quitted it till the 28th. He then put
the head of the fleet to the westward, but it was the end of April




1808.] EXTRAORDINARY POSITION OF THE HOSTILE FLEETS. 127

before he received intelligence that M. Gantheaume had returned
with all his fleet to the harbour of Toulon.

It was a very extraordinary circumstance that these hostile fleets
should, for so long a time, have been at sea and missed each other;
for, on the 16th of March, they were not above a degree apart, and
continued to approach each other until one made a turn towards
the coast of Tripoli, and the other towards Sicily. It has been
thought that, had the British Admiral steered straight for Toulon,
while the French Admiral continued his cruise, he might have
brought it to a disagreeable termination. Lord Collingwood, how-
ever, in his correspondence, admits that he did not comprehend the
object of his movements, and was distracted by contradictory intelli-
gence, which was often fabricated for the purpose of deception. There
is no doubt, however, that he was most eager in his pursuit, but
Gantheaume was as anxious to avoid an interview as the British
Admiral to get sight of him. On the 23rd of March, Collingwood
issued a general order, directing how the ships under his command
were to act on first getting sight of the French fleet, but the disap-
pointment occasioned by these fruitless efforts preyed upon his
health, and greatly contributed to shorten his days.

26. RussiaN AND SwepisH FLEETS IN THE BaLTIC.

Early in August the Russian fleet, consisting of ““ Blagordath,” 120,
“ Gabriel,” 1i8, “ Amgatten,” 74, “ Boreas,” 74, “ Eagle,” 74,
¢ Michael,” 74, “ North Star,” 74, “Sevolod,” 74, “ Sta Anna,”
74, % Argus,” 50, “ Hero,” 50, “ Rapid,” 50, together with 12 frigates,
corvettes and cutters, all under the command of Admiral Hanichoff,
sailed from Cronstadt, and on the 19th arrived in Hango Bay, a port
in Swedish Finland. Early in the spring the Czar had published a
declaration, calling on Sweden to unite with him in maintaining the
principle “that the Baltic is a close sea, with the gnarantee of the
coasts against all intruders.” King Gustavus did not, in reply, dis-
avow the obligation imposed on him by treaty to assert the neutrality
of the North, but required that the French troops should be called
upon tomove away from its shores, and that the ports of the Baltic
should be open to the commerce of the world. If Russia sanctioned
the occupation of the seaboard by the French armies, and the destruc-
tion of the freedom of trade by French influence, she had no ground
to stand upon as against Sweden. The brave but unfortunate mo-
narch, therefore, resisted the advances of Russia, remarking with
great truth, ‘“that no government is any longer left to its own
light and experience; no peopleto their own lawful industry.” The
gzar, therefore, now declared war both against Sweden and Great

ritain,

The British Admiral, Sir James Saumarez, was at this time at
anchor off the island of Langland, in the Great Belt, but Rear-
Admiral Sir Samuel Hood, with the “ Centaur,” 74, and “ Impla-
cable,” 74, was with the Swedish squadron of 7 sail of the line,
in the roads of Oro, under Admiral Nauchhoff; and on the 22nd
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4 more Swedish men-of-war joined their Admiral at that anchorage.
On the 23rd, in the afternoon, the Russian fleet, muking a very for-
midable appearance, stood close inté the roads. On the 25th, the
Swedish fleet, in company with the * Centaur ” and * Implacable,”
went out of the roads of Oroin pursuit of the Russians, who counted
23 sail, and proceeded off Hango Head. Admiral Nauchhoff, having,
despatched the “ Frederic- Adolph,” 70, with the sick to Carlscrona,
commanded a fleet consisting at this time of ¢ Gustav IV. Adolph,”
78, Captain Lagerstrale, bearing the Admiral’s flag; the “ Uladis-
laffe,” 76, Captain Grubb, the “Aran,” 74, Captain Jagerschold, the
“ Dristigheten,” 74, Captain Toruquist, the * Faderueslandet,” 74,
Captain Blessing, the “ Adolph-Frederic,” 74, Commodore Jagerfelt,
the “ Gustaf IIL,” 74, Captain Petterson, the ¢ Manligheten,” 74,
Captain Nordenankar; the * Forsigtighetan,” 66, Baron Ceder-
strom; the * Tapperheten,” 66, Captain Ficerstroud, and the fri- |
gates “ Euridice,” 46, “ Chapman,” 44, * Camilla,” 42, * Bellona,” |
42,and “ Janamas,” 34. The Swedes and British were now acting in :
close alliance together ; the Anglo-Swedish fleet, therefore, consisted }
of 12 meu-of-war and 5 frigates, mounting 1,156 guns, while the
Russian fleet mounted 1,118 guns, so that there was no-great dispa-
rity between them; nevertheless, Admiral Hannichoff thought it )
his duty to avoid an action, and made all sail away. The sailing of ‘
|
|

this mixed squadron of ships, old and new, of different kinds, and
having all sorts of crews on board, rendered the chase very scattered ;
but on the 26th, at 6 in the morning, the British 74, “ Implacable,”
Captain Byam Martin, came alongside the leewardmost ship of the
enemy’s line, the “ Sevolod.”” 74, Captain Rudnew, and opened fire
upon her. The British ship baving brought her antagonist within
pistol-shot, commenced an action with so much vigour and with
such decided effect, that, in less than half-an-hour, the * Sevolod ” |
h:.uled down her pendant, for her colours had been shot away in
action. It was at about noon when the Russian Admiral bore up
with his whole fleet to the rescue, and Sir Samuel. observing this,
threw out a signal of recall. Hannichoff immediately sent a frigate
to tow the * Sevolod,” and then hauled his wind and ran with his
fleet into Rogerswick roads, where he anchored, followed by the two
British 74’s, for the * Centaur ” had now come up, thinking Han-
nichoff had sent out a division of boats to tow his disabled 74 into
the road, when Sir Samuel Hood determined to prevent her being
carried away. By great activity and perseverance the ¢ Centaur”
ran the “ Sevolod ™ on board just as she was about to enter the port,
and discharged ber starboard side upon the Russians with destruc-
tive effect, and the *“ Sevolod ” was finally surrendered, set fire to,
and destroyed, having lost in the encounter 303 killed and wounded.
On the 30th the combined fleet was joined by Vice- Admiral Sir
James Saumarez with “ Victory,” 100, * Mars,” 74, “ Goliath,” 74,
and ¢ Africa,” 64, and Rear-Admiral Hannichoff, seeing the supe-
riority of the force, and nothing doubting their enterprise, moored
the Russian fleet by cablies to the shore, while strong batteries were
erected and manned to defend the entrance to the harbour. Sir |
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James Saumarez forthwith ordered a reconnoissance to be made, to
ascertain if it were possible to burn the Russian fleet inside, and
the “Erebus” and * Baltic” were prepared to act as fire-ships,
while others were fetched by the Swedes from Carlscrona; but it
was discovered that astrong boom had been constructed in front of
the Russian ships, so as to prevent the approach of such dangerous
assailants. Captain Caulfield, of the * Thunderer ” bomb, with
“ Piercer,” “ Charger,” and “ Turbulent,” gun-brigs, was now
ordered to bombard the place, which he did during a fortnight, but
with no other effect than to explode a magazine; Eager in his
object, Caulfield persisted in a nearer approach, with the determi-
nation of making a more vigorous attack, but Sir James ordered
him to desist and move out of gunshot; on which the gallant Cap-
tain, with that utter indifference to danger that distinguishes his
cloth, returned for answer, “ As he conceived bis position a good
one, he hoped he might be permitted to remain a little longer.”
Thus matters continued till the beginning of October, when both
fleets withdrew from before the harbour of Rogerswick on account
of the season, and the Russians made sail for their winter harbour
at Cronstadt

Although the capture of a Russian 74, and the imprisonment of
the whole Russian fleet, afforded a temporary excitement to the
Swedish nation, yet the departure of the British subsidiary force under
Sir John Moore, who now quitted the Baltic for the Peninsula, in-
duced them to regard the contest as hopeless, for the Russians were
pouring immense reinforcements into Finland, and, by the end of
October, Buxhowden had nearly overrun the whole province with
40,000 men. Bavekrinspon, the Governor, unable, therefore, any
longer to await the inevitable necessity, signed a convention with
the Russian General in November, and ceded the province to the
Cuzar. -

27. BriTisH SINGLE SHIP AND BOAT ACTIONS.

The principal conflicts of the British at sea at this juncture were
with privateers, often very bloody and desperate, but not contri-
buting much to the national glory. On the 6th of January, the
British gun-brig “ Linnet,” 12, Captain 'Tracey, captured the
“ Courier,” 18, off Cape Barfleur ; and on the 7th of February, the
British schooner * Découverte,” 8, Lieut. Colin Campbell, off St.
Domingo, chased two privateers with a prize,and driving one towind-
ward and destroying the other two, in defiance of a strong opposi-
tion from the musketry on the shore. On the 9th, Lieat. Campbell
came to sharp action with the ¢ Dorade,” off the same coast, and,
after a fight of three-quarters of an hour, compelled her to strike.
On the 8th, the frigate « Meleager,” 36, sent her barge, cutter and
jolly boat, under Lieuts, Tupman, Swinburn, and Deane, of the
Marines, to capture a felucca-rigged privateer, in the port of San
Jago de Cuba, which was accomplished. Sometime in the month

" of Janunary, the ““ Jackdaw” was captured by a Spanish row-hoai,
but recaptured by the * Minerva > frigate, Captain George Collier.

VoL, 1L K
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In April, the “Pike,” 4, Lieut. Otley, was fallen in with and captured
off Altevelle, by the *Marat,” a French privateer, but soon after-
wards she was, in like manner, recaptured by the * Moselle,” Captain
Alexander Gordon. 'The ¢ Kingfisher,” 4, had precisely a similar
fate. On the 18th of August, the * Rook,” 4, Lieut. James Law-
rence, having despatches, was attacked off Cape St. Nicholas by two
privateers, one of 12 and the other of 10 guns, and captured, after”
an action of an hour and a half, in which the Lieutenant, his next
oflicer, and 18 of the crew were killed or mortally wounded. On
the 17th of July, the “ Barbary,” 10, Lieut. D’Arcy, was recap-
tured by the “ Guerrica,” 38, Captain Skene. The “ Redwing,”
Captain Usher, came in contact with a Spanish convoy off Cape
Trafalgar, when 7 gun-vessels formed line and swept towards the
“ Redwing,” as if to board her. Nothing daunted, however, Cap-
tain Usher endeavoured to close, and opened on them a quick
and well-directed fire; when, completely panie-struck and beaten,
they pushed back into the surf, where many « of them perished. Of
the convoy, 4 were sunk by the “ Redwing’s ” shot, and 7 were cap-
tared, 1 only contrived to escape. The bng-stoop “ Wizard,” 16,
Captain Ferris, came across the French privateer “ Bequin,” 16,
two very nearly equal-sized and armed vessels. They had a smart
encounter of 3 or 4 hours, when the Frenchman sheered off, the
Englishman following, and the fight was continued for four days,
when the “ Requin” came to her moorings in Tunis Bay, which,
being a neutral port, the © Wizard” could not attack her. On
the 13th of February, the 20-gun ship “Confiance,” Captain James
Ajeo, sent her cutter and jolly-boat, under Mr. Trist, master's
mate, to row gnard at the mouth of the Tagus, against the escape
of the Russian fleet. 1ie had no sooner arrived at his station, than
he espied a French gun-vessel at anchor under Fort San Pedro, and he
instantly ran in, boarded and carried her, without the loss of a man.
On the 2nd of March, the “Sappho,” 18, Captain Langford,
discovered and chased an armed brig off Scarhorough which proved
to be the Danish privateer “ Admiral Yawl,” which, after half an |
hour’s close action, surrendered. i
On the 6th of \I'lrch the frigate ¢ San Fiorenzo,” 36, Captain
Hardinge, discovered off Cape Comorin, in C eylon the French
frigate ¢ Piedimontaise,”40, Captain Garon, a vessel of very superior
construction and equipment, preparing to attack a squadron of three
tast Indinmen, which had just appeared in sight. The “ Pied-
montaise ” immediately changed her course and stood away, fol-
lowed by the “ San Fiorenzo,” which did not get up to her adversary
for twelve hours, when the British vessel ranged alongside the
French and received her broadside, but, after an action of ten
minutes, the latter made sail ahead, and got out of reach of her
opponent’s fire. She was brought to close quarters, however, at day-
break next morning, when the fight was renewed and continued
for nearly two hours, at the end of which the “San Fiorenzo™
was so dzainaged in her sails and rigging, that the French ship ceased
fire, and madcsaxl leaving her opponent uiterly out of condition
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for a chase; and, while the British frigate hastened to repair her
damages in order to renew the pursuit, the *“ Piedmontaise ” dis-
appeared below the horizon. In the morning, however, the ¢ San
Fiorenzo” perfectly refitted, got sight of her antagonist, and bear-
ing up under all sail, in the afternoon reopened fire at the distance
of about 80 yards. A well-fought action of an hour and twenty
Jminutes now ensued, in which Captain Hardinge was killed, and
.the command devolved on Lieut. Dawson. The contest, nevertheless,
was kept up with as much skill as gallantry, when the French fri-
gate, having had all her rigging and sails cut to pieces, and her three
masts and bowsprits so badly wounded, that, in the morning, they
fell over herside, hauled down her colours, and was towed into
Colombo, in the island of Ceylon, where the remains of the heroic
English Captain were buried with the highest military honours.
Captain Hardinge had, on former occasions, distinguished himself,
and Parliament ordered a monument to his memory in St. Paul’s,
and the King, moreover, granted an honourable augmentation to
his arms for this brilliant service. He will be also known to pos-
terity as the father of Field-Marshal Lord Hardinge.

On the 13th of March, the frigate ¢ Emerald,” 36, Captain Fre-
derick Maifland, discovered a French armed schooner lying in the
harbour of Vivero, in Spain, and stood in, with a view of attempting
her capture or destruction. The forts, which defended the entrance,
opened fire on the British frigate. Accordingly, Captain Maitland
detached a party of seamen and marines, under Lieutenants Bertram,
Meech, and Husband, to land and storm one fort, while the frigate
was pushed in as near as the water would admit, to bombard the
other. The land party drove the Spaniards out of the forts and
spiked the guns, but were presently met by the crew of the French
schooner “ Apropos,” 8, with whom they exchanged a fire of mus-
ketry, when Lieut. Smith came up with another party of men, who
had to use the bayonet and pike before they could put their antago-
nists to flight. The vessel, however, having been driven on shore
at high water, no efforts on the part of the assailants could get her
afluat again; so they set her on fire, and she exploded. The loss
of the British in these actions was very severe.

In the month of March, there were three or four ships of the line
ready for sea, or fitting out in the French ports: “ Le Vétéran,” 74,
wasstill in the port of Concarneaun, near Lorient; the “ Impétueux,”
74, Captain Lawford, and “ Saturn,” 74, Captain Boys, with the
“ Aigle,” 36, Captain Wolfe, « Narcissus,” 32, Captain Malcolm,
with two or three small war-ships, lay in a little harbour near,
formed by the Glénan islands, in an excellent position to watch this
man-of-war, when on the 22nd two strange sail of the class of fri-
gates were seen to approach Lorient, and the * Impétueux,”
“ Aigle,” and * Nareissus” forthwith made sail in chase, while the
“ Saturn ” remained at anchor to keep an eye upon the “ Vétéran.”
The « Aigle ” first got up with the sternmost of the two in a very
dark night, and opened her starboard broadside upon her, which the
French frigate returned and ran for protection under the lle de
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Groix. A blue light was then shown to direct the *“ Impétueux” to the
contest. ‘The near vicinity of land and the darkness of night made
the 74 wary, but the other French frigate “ La Seine,” 40, know-
ing her ground, ran boldly, with all sail set, upon Pointe des Chats,
under the batteries, and in the contest with the two the « Aigle”
was rather severely punished, but the two men-of-war passed into
the narrow channel next day and saw one of the French frigatesx
on shore with her mizen-mast carried away, and burying her dead,’
which showed that the shot of the British frigate had done execu-
tion. The consort frigate, “ I.’Italienne,” 40, slipped away from
Groix and got into Lorient on the 29th.

On the 14th of March, the ¢ Childers,” 14, Captain Dillon, dis-
covered a sail in shore on the coast of Norway, and chased her into
the small port of Midbe, when immediately a number of boats
came out to remove the cargo. Captain Dillon accordingly sent in
his cutter under the command of his master, Mr. Wilson, and,
though opposed by fausketry, and rocks and by stones hurled down
upon them from the crags above, a Danish galiot, well laden, was
captured, Scarcely had this been effected when a large brig; evi-
dently a vessel of force, sailed out of Hitteroe, and bore down upon
the ¢ Childers” with the apparent design of a rescue. The two
brigs met on opposite tacks, and the night was dark ; but, as soon as
the British ship fired a shot, the Danish brig “ Lougen,” 20, Captain
‘Whulff, stood in shore, whither she was forthwith followed, and broad-
sides were exchanged, when the Dane was seen to be on fire forward ;
but of this the “ Childers” could not take advantage, as in the con-
fusion she might have been boarded, but the “ Lougen,” who had
retreated within the rocky Norwegian coast, continued to fire, as
did the “ Childers,” whose fire could only be directed by the flash of
the “ Lougen's” guns. In this way the engagement lasted three
hours. Many of the Danish 18-pounders struck the British vessel
between wind and water, her lower masts and bowsprits were badly
wounded, and there was five feet water in her hold when her maga-
zine was afloat, so that both antagonists declined, after a time, to
continue the contest. On the 19th of June, the same Danish brig,
“ Lougen,” 20, came in contact with the British brig-sloop, ¢ Sea-

11,” 16, Captain Robert Cathcart, off the Nase of Norway, when,
it falling calm, the British brig could only get within musket-shot
of her opponent by using her sweeps. An engagement ensued,
but after it had lasted 20 minutes, 6 Danish gun-boats came out
from behind some rocks and pulled towards the * Seagull.” The
unfortunate brig-sloop was now raked by both the « Lougen” and
the gun-boats, and in about an hour’s time all her carronades were
dismounted. Cathcart and 19 of his men were more or less wounded,
and the vessel perfectly disabled. He, however, sustained this
unequal fight for nearly another hour, when with five feet of water
in her hold, and her sails and rigging cut to pieces, the “ Seagull ”
went down. On the 22nd of March, the “ Stately,” 64, Captain
George Parker, and ¢ Nassan,” 64, Captain Robert Campbell, dis-
cerned a strange sail in the Great Belt, which was afterwards ascer-
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tained to be the Danish man-of-war, “ Prindts Christian Frederick,”
74, Captain Jessen. A running fight ensued, with great obstinacy on
both sides, for two hours, when the Dane struck her colours; but,
before the first lieutenant of the ¢ Stately ” could take possession,
50 near were they to the coast of Jutland, the prize grounded ; and,
as she could not be got off, she was set on fire and blown up, after
‘her crew were removed as prisoners. It is scarcely surprising that
“with such disparity of force the Danish man-of-war should succumb,
but the seamanship, vigilance, and perseverance with which the
British captains pursued the enemy in so dangerous a channel of
his own coast, merited great praise; and the unexpected sight had
considerable effect upon the French Marshal in command in the
island of Zecland, who was thus frustrated in his endeavours to
prevent the liberation of Romagna’s Spanish army. On the 23rd
of April, the “ Daphne,” 20, Captain Mason, “ Tartarus,” 18, Cap-
tain Russell, and *“ Forward.” 12, Lieutenant Sheils, destroyed a
Danish sloop, part of a convoy lying at Floodstrond, destined for
Norway. Captain Mason despatched the boats under Lieutenant
Elliott to get hold of the rest of the convoy, which were found to
consist of about a dozen vessels deeply laden with grain and provi-
sions, moored under a castle mounting 10 guns, and all made fast
to the shore by hawsers. A heavy fire of round and grape saluted
the boats, but the Danes at once abandoned their vessels to their
fate. Lieutenant Elliott and his party accordingly brought away
the laden vessels, though he and another were wounded in the fight
with the crews on the beach, and a Danish boat which had the
temerity to try to stop them was also captured. On the 29th, the
“ Falcon,” 16, Lieutenant John Price, discovered 9 large boats on
the beach of the island of Endelau, with some troops near them.
He therefore detached 3 boats, who burned 8 of them with-
out much opposition, and succeeded in destroying 6 other small
craft at the island of Thunoe. On the 3rd of May, the ¢ Falcon”
saw a large Danish man-of-war schooner attempting to escape from
Arlures, and forced it back into port, where lay other armed vessels.
Here he received information that they were fortifying the island of
Samsoe, on which they had newly mounted 50 guns; he therefofe
detached boats every night to interrupt their works, and on the 7th
captured two vessels containing a 13-inch mortar and 400 shells,
notwithstanding a heavy but ill-directed fire of great guns and
musketry from the shore. On the 24th of May, the “ Swan,” 10,
Lieutenant Lucas, going with despatches to Sir Samuel Hood,
observed a cutter-rigged vessel standing towards her from the island
of Bornholm. The strange vessel as well as the batteries on the
island opened fire upon the “ Swan,” who, however, got within
pistol-shot of the craft, which, after an engagement of 20 minutes,
blew up. The frigate, “ Tartar,” 32, Captain Bettesworth, had been
sent out of Leith road in the beginning of May, to endeavour to
intercept the Dutch frigate, ** Guelderland,” 36, Captain Pool, which
had been sent in March with a convoyto Batavia, but having sprang
a leak had sinee put into Bergen roads. Whea Captain Bettesworth
K 3
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reached the coast on the 12th of May, the frigate was gone; he,
however, determined, as he was there, to carry off three privateers,
which were at Bergen, and taking to his boats went up to the town,
where he was stopped by a guard-boat, which Lieutena